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To
JOSEPH DAVEY CUNNINGHAM

THE CONSCIENTIOUS AND FAITHFUL HISTORIAN

WHOSE “HISTORY OF THE SIKHS,”
FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1849,
STILL REMAINS A SOURCE OF INSPIRATION




EXTRACT FROM PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION

In the following pages an attempt has been made to trace
the history of the Sikh struggle for independence in the
eighteenth century and Sikh rule in the Punjab before the
advent of Ranjit Singh. The subject has been touched on in
outlines in Cunningham’s brilliant work, and only a few pages
have been devoted to it in Latif's History of the Punjab. A
very valuable account is to be found in Sarkar’s “Fall of the
Mughal Empire,” Vols. I and IIT. But significant as the Sikh
struggle is in the history of India, we cannot expect a detailed
and critical treatment of the subject in all its phases, in a
treatise that deals mainly with the steady decline of the central
authority. I have tried to illuminate an obscure corner of
Indian history, with what success it is for my readers to judge.
It has been my endeavour to make an exhaustive study of all
the available sources but I had no access to F

orster’s Despatches
to the Governor-General, :

SENATE. HOUSE,
Carcurra

NARENDRA KR1SHNA SINHA
The stn Septembc'r, 1936.

[~

. CONTENTS

CrHAPIER I

Preliminary

e ——

CHAPTER IT

Cmaprer IIT

] Anarchy and Confusion—The Punjab a Cockpit (1752-61)

CHAPTER IV

After Panipat (1761-67)

CHAPIER V

De facto Sikh Sovereignty

Feeble Afghan Opposition

CHAPIER VI

The Cis-Sutlej Sikhs

CrAPTER VII

i Sikh Confederate Feudalism and British Imperialism Late
' in the 18th Century

J
P

Mughal Disintegration—The Afghan Menace (1716-52)

PaGE

3

18

33

54

76

99



viil CONTENTS

PAGE ‘ o

-

Criaerin VIIT RISE OF THE SIKH POWER

Polity, Economy and Military Organisation of the Sikhs

under the Misls g e ol CHAPTER I
BIrLI0GRAPHY oL 1. 2] [ PRELIMINARY
Index oo 'J The history of India in the eighteenth century is mainly a

record of anarchy and confusion, selfishness, cowardice and
treachery, unpatriotic betrayals and horrible reigns of terror,’)the
tyranny of the strong, the agony of the weak and the futility
of isolated attempts. “The depth of this gloom is, however,
relieved by the story of the rise of Sikh political power, as a
| result of the collective endeavour of a united people.

Guru Gobind Singh first made the Sikhs a militant nation.

‘ He iﬁmlﬁmsiammmt
the pursuing pack of hounds. It would have been quite natural

| if the Guru had attributed his own success to his military and

il organising genius. A military leader is apt to demand unques-

| tioning obedience, and we would not have been surprised if the
Guru had provided for a military dictatorship in view of the
stupendous struggle which awaited his disciples in the near”
future. But he left the care of his flock as well as his army not
to a single person but to the whole community. He placed his
faith in the collective wisdom of the community and not in the
devotion of a favourite disciple.v/

To the discerning student of Indian history, the Maratha
and Sikh struggles for independence must appear remarkable,
not so much for the decisive character of the campaigns as for
the successful leadership of comparatively obscure men. When
Shivaji died and his country was overrun by the Muslim armies

, under the personal leadership of Aurangzeb himself, the infant
w Maratha power appeared to be doomed to a premature end. But
; the nation was led from victory to victory under the guidance
| of comparatively inexperienced men like Raja Ram, Prahlag
1’ I\Tirtfji. Shantaji ! rhOl'Dad(?, Kh.anderao Dabhade ang others.
; Similarly when Guru Gobind Singh passed away and Banda’s
1I }Teroic efforts ended in unmitigated disasters, Sikhism did not
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suffer extinction but fond fresh leaders and new recruits. This

crisis in the history of the nation brought to the forefront even

obscure men like Kapur Singh and Jassa Singh Kalal. They

stepped into the breach and won success for the Sikh cause.

There is thus a striking similarity between the Sikh and the

Maratha struggle for independence. A war is to be judged by

its results and not by its episodes. In the Sikh annals of this
period, we do not read of great battles or prolonged sieges,
brilliant strategy or novel tactics. A nation was up in arms
against its enemies and it is the collective efforts of the masses
rather than individual achievements that ultimately made the
revolution a success. Naturally enough, the story of these years
of revolution “‘is a story of great things and small ; but, when
all is sa.id, the great predominate, for no hlunder could efface:
the read‘mess for self-sacrifice displayed by the whole people.”’

It is thc. peculiar tragedy of Sikl history that the very
sticcess of this collective struggle had in it the germs of its
e )I.‘he “theocratic confederate feudalism” succeeded where
have been the most novel e: ”}5 ’ d.lhﬁ()‘l‘lltlml. gt mlghl
later, in the nineteenth cetitlljlii'lmfmtt o hii_ltf‘-’.&‘ i (1053;01101'11th
i o \,\— m, 0 a military 111.0?1111'?11_\’,‘ “‘

¢ are only too familiar in his-
arly success, spells ulti-

tory and which, though it dazzles by e
mate failure. /

CHAPTER II

1
MuGHAL DISINTEGRATION—THE AFGHAN MENACE
(1716-52)

The fortunes of the Sikh nation sank to the lowest ebb in
1716. Abdus Samad Khan, a Turani nobleman reputed to be
a good general, had been placed by Farrukhsiyar, the Mughal
Emperor, in command against the Sikhs,- As a Persian chronicler
records in his characteristic metaphorical language—*‘he filled
that extensive plain with blood as if it had been a dish.’’* After
the imprisonment, torture and death of Banda and his followers,
the Emperor’s orders proclaiming a general round-up of the Sikhs
were successfully carried out. Many of the followers of Guru
Gobind Singh were arrested and on ftheir refusal to become
Muhammadan were put to death. A reward was given for
every Sikh head. The Sikhs either fled to the mountains or cut
off their beard and renounced their religion.* The policy of
persecution so relentlessly followed by Abdus Samad was almost
successful. The Sikhs kept quiet. The triumph of his ruthless
policy earned Abdus Samad the title “Sword of the State.”” In
spite of the commotion in Delhi, the vigorous campaign initiated
by him continued unabated. ‘This Alva of the Sikh war of
independence died in 1737 in Multan.

Zakariya Khan, the eldest son of Abdus Samad Khan, had
already succeeded his father as the Governor of Lahore in 1726,
and not long after his father’s death, he was given the charge
of Multan.® He was an active soldier and an excellent adminis-
trator. If circumstances had been favourable, he might have -
established an independent Muslim monarchy in the Punjab as

' Muntakhabu-1-Lubab, Elliott, VIII. As a reward for this quick
seérvice Abdus Samad®Khan “got a mansab of 6,000, a bedecked palki,
clephants, horses, ornaments of gold, jewels worn in the turban,
turban hedecked with gold, upper garment, a pearl necklace and some
parganas as jagir in the Punjab.”—Hakikat Bina (Trans. I. Banerii,
I.H.Q., March, 1942). I i

* Forster, Travels, Letter XT.

“Anand Ram Mukhlis, Tazkirah, 04 : Elliot, VIIT,

a
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other governors, more favourably placed, did in Bengal, Oudh
and the Deccan. If he could not do so, it was largely because
of foreign aggression. He made a very good beginning. We
have it on very reliable evidence that there was uninterrupted
commercial intercourse between Kabul and Lahore and between
Lahore and Delhi. He had always 20,000 sowars ready.*
Zakariya Khan followed a dual policy of firmness and kind-
ness. The Sikh freebooters were relentlessly pursued and slain ;
vet at the same time, their ravages were sought to be repaired.
Towns and villages were repopulated. * If law and order were
vindicated, if people could settle down to the arts of peace, the
Sikhs would be regarded as undesirables ; but if the land re-
mained out of cultivation

: and the people stood in constant dread
of life and property,

oper a very considerable section of them would
rather prefe.r joining the robbers to being robbed by them. The
twofold policy, for a time, seeme .

d to be crowned with success
But the Sikhs would now

ndean and then create disturbance.
E unr( er una'vans and loot the royal Khazana. and s et
_}_ to the hlu.‘-'i or to the impenetrable forests. These forests,
like the Lakhi-Jangal in the Bhatinda

district, were so thick
th ‘ ; ‘

. at the horses of the Mughal pursuers could not penetrate
imto them,

e t:?:t1the-':81khs who had‘settled there would move
phe=c, Vi1 J(c.er. AJF the same time, Bhai Mani Singh and
€IS were :?tcadlly making large numbers of converts.® One
Efatlt]e 111105t Important events that took place in 1738 -;\ras the

- N/ 21 ¢ ; !
Su}rmyhré ;)rm i ;)fcoallz}?l Singh.  With the permission of the
i “c; 18 c1)1011-of a payment of Rs. 5,000 to tHe royal
1uer, he mad angements for a fajr at Amritsar. But

emor had planned tq at
assembled at the fajr. The Sikhsa(\]l;c)\:he it b

7 . / :
:hrc\\d to fall into thig ﬂs:{er, i ,11‘11111(:11 tz;
O non-payme : : ? away. lereup

payment of the stipulateq Sum, Mani Singh was

arraigned he 3
efore the \Subahdar, who ordered that his limbs

) . ’
Hakikat, (g “Tt

) » 19 1€ people in hie

tented, thc: Price of graing became h'lb ;

menff of life ang Men pasged ..\&1’}’

Hak}kgt, LH.O)., March, 1940 (I

* Panth Prakﬂsh, 446 4;9

uUmdz]l'~ut.'~’l‘awarikh I, 108
9 ks 3

48 became yvery much con”
low 1

ays 4 a4 .
“° M enjoyment and safety-

v the sepovs had enjoy”
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should be torn from his body.” This martyrdom of Mani Singh
supplied the much needed fillip to the Sikh struggle for
independence.

Gradually, the disorganized Sikhs were finding the right men
to lead them, and faced with the grave danger of utter extinc-
tion they began to plan organised resistance. In times of great
national danger, a democracy shows a sound instinct in select-
ing the right man to lead it through the crisis. Kapur Singh,
a resident of Fyzullapur, took pleasure in serving the people
cven in the humblest capacity, cooking for them, washing their
dishes, fanning them when assembled, was once in May, 1733,
hailed as the leader and welcomed with the title of Nawab.®
He was henceforth universally obeyed and he started organizing
what developed later into the celebrated Dal Khalsa or the
army of the theocracy of the Singhs.®

Zakariya Khan had other difficulties to contend with, the
most conspicuous of these being the factious jealousy and foolish
distrust of the party in power in Delhi. Himself a pillar of the
Turani party, he was looked down upon by the Hindustani party

? Panth Prakash, 530-35.

* According to Panth Prakash, in 1733, an attempt was made by
Zakariya Khan to conciliate the Sikhs. He is said to have persuaded
the Delhi GoVernment to grant them a Jagir and the title of Nawab
was to be given to the leader of the Sikhs. The offer was at first
treated with scorn. Ultimately, however, they agreed to accept the
offer of a Jagir but the title and robes of honour were tossed from
one man to another until Kapur Singh Fyzullapuria, who was fanning
the assembled host, agreed to be invested with the robes and title.
Thus he came to be known as Nawab Kapur Singh. The Jagir was
confiscated in 1735.

? Panth Prakash, 500-505. The army was divided into two groups,
the elder called Budha Dal, the younger Taruna Dal; the younger
group was subdivided into five Jathas, (1) commanded by Dip Singh
and Sudha Singh, (2) commanded by Karm Singh and Dharm Singh,
(3) commanded by Kan Singh and Binode Singh, (4) commanded b‘y
Dasuandha Singh, (5) consisted of Majhabi Sikhs under Madan Singh
and Bir Singh. The Budha Dal was placed under the following : —
Shyam Singh, Gurbaksh Singh of Royanwal, Gurbaksh Singh of Jita,
Bhag Singh, Gurdyal Singh, Kubar Singh, Bhumiya Singh and Jassa
Singh Kalal—Jassa Singh was also Nawab Kapur Singh’s Secretary.
We are reminded of the early Roman military organization in which
the soldiers, organized in groups of centuries, were further sub-
divided according to age as Seniorum and Juniorum.
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that poisoned the Emperor’s ears, 10
the monarch and many of the Court pe
of the Punjab still continued his drive

_to the mountains and from there carrie.d
the skirts of the mountains, ‘“‘as if tq
government.”™ Tn these dark .
puts it, kept together only by t
i \g\}il;ll;l?lmﬂ Bahzfdur .Zaka as thus preoccupied

Pme courtiers in Delhj WEre passing their day}'a in

intrigues, a storm burst 4 T
India. . Epmthe'ﬁgbmr}' “Nadir Shah invaded

We are n :
Askiarad Conq;;StC;)ncIem.ed here with the details of Nadir's
T n Ildl:él. But the Persian invasion is a very
A n1 in th.e history of the tise of the Sikh power
ﬁkariya Kh pac’le‘i o e strong goxernmgnt 0’;'
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favourable to the i 'on and the confusion were very

x}nvader, many people of the P

Though distrusted by
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red them with impunity.
t once from poverty to
the mountains joined the

Thus many Sikh Sardars
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their ranks would me
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Zakariya Khan had ap;
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S ity and

Wherever the
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understood that rgfe &radually holqer and holder a5 4 Sikhs
ect imrnunit'y. Tt 13; zo}ﬂd CAITy on their OIJOratiox;s x\l-'ietl e
spoil, was e d ‘ald.that Nadir’s i G h p'er-
: re 1;hthe rear by the Sif;};:ﬁcm]nbered with
e ; 5 When making
Ereat Pergiay conqueror could have

1‘1" Irvine. Later 3
Browne Indi

&% » Indig Trdcty

3 Bro\w.me, Indig Tract'

g, Haklkat, 19, ;

Malcolm. Sketch, 86.

Tughals, IT, 325.04

» 13; Khalsanama, 19

On the approach of the
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protect his baggages. It is said that, on being informed that
his baggages had been plundered by the Sikhs, he asked
Zakariya Khan, who was in attendance, about their where-
abouts. He was told that the houses of the Sikhs were their
saddles,’ meaning thereby that it was ifcr}* difficult to get at
them. Thus Nadir's invasion saw the Sikhs increase consider-
ably their reputation as dare-devil soldiers, at the same time
that they enriched themselyes. In these circumstances, it was
not to be expected that they would be overawed any more by
the dishonoured and discredited Mughal authority. The sup-
pression of the Sikhs, difficult under all circumstances, became
even more difficult now. !

The Sikhs organized themselves near a village called Dale-
wal on the Ravi. From this place they made their ravages and
plundered the country around.'® They extended their depre-
dations up ‘to the very neighbourhood of Lahore. Khan
Bahadur Zakariva Khan was confirmed in the Nizamat of Lahore
by Nadir Shah.' No soconer did the Sikhs see his power
restored, than they withdrew from Lahore and its neighbour-
hood and transferred the field of their activity to the Jalandhar
Doalb. After the retirement of Nadir Shah, Zakariya Khan
placed Adina Beg Khan in charge of the Jalandhar Doab with
orders to bring the Sikhs to subjection.

This Adina Beg Khan was destined to play a prominent
part in the Sikh struggle for independence. He was the son
of Channu, an inhabitant of Sharakpur, Tahsil Lahore. In his
carly life he was for some time at Allahabad. -He acquired a
knowledge of revenue matters and after his return to the
Punjab, he began his carcer as a contractor. He was put in
charge of Sultanpur by Zakariva Khan, at the time of the in-
vasion of Nadir Shah.ll Entrusted with the task of chastising
the Sikhs, this very shrewd man only partly carried out his
work in the Jalandhar Doab region and was not inclined to
attempt a complete subjugation of the Sikhs; which, he thought,
would underminc his influence and power. If only he had
been willing, he could have done much, but he preferred to

' Panth Prakash, 559-61.

'* Khalsanama, 19.

17 [bid.

'* Ahwal-i-Adina Beg Khan, 1.
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enter into a secret understanding it them.'"
pretended to be very serio
tinue their depredations
Importance. *°

5 ; ‘
: vaen though all these clements were fostering a state of
;;;11(1)5 d.I:d anal-chy,.t]'lc Truns~Sutlej Sikhs had vet to reckon
a strong and vigilant governor in Zakariya Khan until his

death i i 21 i

Sub;; 11:] 1746. But ltl-tll(.‘ Cis-Sutle; region under the Delhi
L, the utter weaknesg of the Government gave the Sikhs a

much freer hand to car 3 g

© raids,

North-We. I " strong power on the
stern frontier. The Afghans continued the work that
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taken up the reins of government, he epdeavoured to crush the
Sikhs, In a collision with ‘them Jaspat Rai, brother of his
minister Lakhpat Rai, was killed at Eminabad. Lakhpat Rai,
however, succeeded in defeating and imprisoning many of the
Sikhs. Many Sikhs were killed near Shahidganj. The chief
martyr was Bhai Taru Singh, one of the most respected Sikh
religious leaders?* Vahya Khan issued an order for a general
massacre of the Sikhs, a reward being offered for every Sikh
head. But very soon quarrel began between Yahya Khan and
Shahnawaz Khan (Hyatullah). Whenever Yahya Khan sent
troops against the Sikhs, Shahnawaz not only sent previous
information to the Sikhs through his emissaries but also tried
to seduce the troops of Vahya. ‘Thus Shahnawaz secretly
helped the Sikhs and at times even openly encouraged them just
to frustrate the schemes of his brother.** In the fratricidal
struggle, Shahnawaz got the better of Yahya Khan, put him
under surveillance and established himself in his place. Vahya
Khan ruled in the Punjab for one vear and two months and
was in prison for about four months.2 Yahya Khan escaped
and fled to Delhi to put his case before Muhammad Shah, the
reigning monarch, and Qamaruddin Khan, the wazir, who was
his uncle and father-in-law. ‘This fratricidal struggle gave the
Sikhs a breathing space which they so badly needed. But after
liis occupation of the Subah, Shahnawaz “turned his attention
towards uprooting the Sikhs. When a Sikh was brought before
him his belly was cut in his presence and sometimes his brain
was taken out by driving a nail into his head. If any Sikh
was brought prisoner at the time when he was engaged in eating
he asked that his bladder be extracted and brought and accord-
ing to his orders, the executioner took it out and put it on hijs
tray and he went on eating his food with pleasure,’’2¢

** Panth Prakash, 577, 582, 687. The judgment delivered by
justices Currie and Monroe in the Shahidganj Gurdwara Case, Oct.,
.19.34: ““The place commemorates Bhai Taru Singh, who with other
Sikhs was executed by the Mahomedan Governor of Lahore in 1746.
He was considered a martvr and hence the name  Shahidganj.”
According to Panth Prakash the martyrdom of Taru Singh must be

placed in 1745.
* Hakikat, 20.
** Khushwaqt Rai, T4,
* Hakikat, I.H.Q., 1942.




10 RISE OF THE SIKH POWER

In the mean time, very

important events were happening
in Persia and Afghanistan.

Nadir Shah was assassinated in
1747 and Ahmad Khan the Afghan established himself as the
independent ruler of Afghanistan. Nadir Shah had prophesied
that on his demise, sovereignty would go to Ahmad, that he
had never seen an cqual of Ahmad in Iran, Turan and
Hindustan.?” On assuming  sovereign powers, Ahmad Shah
struck coins with the inscription—‘‘ Ahmad Shah received an
order from the Unlike Powerful One to strike coing in silver
and gold from the fish to the moon.”** Ahmad Shah had
accompanied Nadir Shah to Hindustan. He had seen with his
own eyes ‘“T'he weakness of the empire, the imbecility of the
Emperor, the inattention of the ministers, the spirit of indepen-
dence which had crept among the grandees 2 Now, after
having conquered Qandahar, Kabul, Peshawar, he had a very
convenient starting point “the manpower of Afghanistan behind
him, the Khyber Afghans friendly and of
physical ohstacle.?’ The Punjab, being
Mughal province, had to bear the brunt
The repeated Abdali

exercised a very decisi
the Sikh power,

sedient and no serious
now the westernmost
of the Afghan attack.

inroads between 1748 and 1767 now

ve influence in the history of the rise of

an upstart.
his reputati !
Not oI:ﬂyat:\(')oul] h : ¢ loyalty of the Afghans.
4 the Indian o igns provide him with the
rmy but they would alg ble

i also ena
:01?:: :111(] rewards on the Afghan chiefs. ‘Tthe
s alw verbial and this he hoped

Moreover, these would

_ maintaining his a
him tg heap fa

Afghan cupidit

*" Husain Shahi, 50,
*TASBE, vol.
Shah Abdali,

54 f
, Part g (e 15 Rodgcrs,
* Siyar, 111, 35,

ThellCoins of Atmad
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]
mission at home.” ‘T'he actual resulis of Al)da?i’s Indian
invasions in Afghanistan are not so easily ﬂscertzmmb.le but,
in the Punjab at least, he was indirectly largely I‘G:;pOl.lSl!Jle for
the ultimate success of the Sikhs and his career in India is very
intimately a part of the Sikh struggle for indepeudencc:

In 1748, Ahinad Shah for the first time invaded India. He
crossed the Punjab rivers on bridges of boats zm(ll reached
Lahore. He had 12,000 veteran troops with him. While ‘Ahmad
Shah was besieging Peshawar, Shahnawaz Khan, following t].t'e
advice of his paymaster-general Adina Beg Khan, “.a very devil
under the appearance of a man,”®' was meditating treasorll,
Shahnawaz thought that the Wazir Qamaruddin Khan, his
uncle, was also the father-in-law of his dispossessed brothel.‘.
As such, naturally the Delhi government would take up his
hrothé-r's cause at the earliest opportunity. He therefore opened
a correspondence with Ahmad Shah on the following terms , e
“The crown to Ahmad the wazirship to Shahnfn-'_.raz.. H
Shahnawaz wrote to Ahmad Shah Abdali, offering to join \hun
and to make a joint conquest of Hindus‘tun. Almla(‘l Shah
agreed. He showed good feeling with a view to ensuring the
crossing of the river at Attock. Shahnawaz’s break with th‘?
Delhi government was almost complete. He erased from 111:,
own seal the words ‘‘devoted servant of Muhammad Shah.
On the border of his seals, instead of the Emperor’s m.mest(?rs,
he engraved the names of the twelve iman%s—thus decla.rmg' }1.111.1-
self a Shia.?® But Adina Beg Khan, in 01'(.Icr to mgr.atlale
himself with the Delhi wazir, very secretly 11}f01‘111ed him of
the meditated treason of his nephew. 'bha]nm\\-‘z}z “‘a?i
recalimed from his folly and he ljrokt_" with Ahﬂah. But
in the fight that ensued between 1"&11111:1(1 Shah and Shahnawaz,
the former gained a complete \?ICtOt'}-': Shahnawaz fled and
Adina Beg also precipitately took to his I}GCIS’- Ahmad Shah
the Mughal heir-apparent, and Qamaruddin I\}lull, the ?‘a‘.qré
advanced with a large army to meet Abdali. The Sirhin

20 Acconnt of the Kingdom of Kabul, Vol. II, 283
 Siy 11, 254. .
82 ?{?;r, icc’ording to Miskin he expected to he the wazir and the
:uan:le‘r in-chief but the small number of troops brought by Ahmad
com -111- : '
Shah was responsible for his defec:tmn.. i e
33 NMemoirs of Abdul Karim, 168. (Elliot, VIIL.).
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Governor, Ali Md. Khsn Rohilla, had already fled and Sirhind
had been taken by Abdali. The”two armies faced cach other
and in course of a continuous skirmish the wazir was killed.
But the wazir’s son, Muin-ul-Mulk or Mir Mannu, proved to be
a very able commander. In the battle that followed at
Manupur, the imperialists numbered between 60,000 and 70,000
Abdali had 12,000 picked troops.  An accident happened to the
Afghan army. They had found some rockets in Lahore, which
they put in the wrong way. ‘These did the greatest damage to
the Durrani army, which was thus practically self-defeated.**
Ala Singh, founder of the ruling house of Patiala, is said to
have fought in this battle in the ranks of the Mughal army.*®
While these momentous events were taking place, the Sikhs
were fast consolidating their power. Even in 1745, after the
death of Zakariya Khan, Jassa Singh descended to the plains
and with the help of the other Sardars, raided Kasur.’® As
Forster says, between the Persian ang the first Afghan invasion
they became important from the military point of viey Taking
advantage of the confusion resulting from the first Afghan
inv:fsiou, they made themselves masters of a large portion of the
Bari and Jalandhar Doabs. ‘“The soldiers who were in the
barganahs withoyg any occupation fell inte the
of the Sikhs with their equipments and some
who had received wealtl and property
manner of the Sikhg’ (Hakikat)
menace, Shahnay
Jalandhar Doaty
their power.

hands
of the zamindars
began to behave in the
. In order to meet the Afghan
vaz had recalled Adina Beg Khap from the
and the Sikhs, left to themselves, could reassert
"I‘hc Sikhs had plundered the baggage of the all-

S too much to €Xpect that they

; On its return march.
They followed the Afghan army up to the banks of the Indus,

1 1 ) 3 =
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* Tarikh Sultani, 3
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like Jassa Singh, Chharat Singh, Bharo® Singh, Karora _Smgh,
cathered a band of six to seven thousand ﬁ;:hters‘,. occupied the
rjalandhar Doab and named the band Dal {\ halsaji or the' army
of the theocracy of Singhs.”® Chharat Singh had a sk;rm]sh-
with Ahmad Shah, and some of Aht-nad’s.mhorscs and other
belongings fell into the hands of the Singhs.™ _

Muin-ul-Mulk or Mir Mannu was now appointed Subah.dar
of Lahore. He had enormous di'[:ﬁcult!cs. to contenc? \\'1th-.
The forces of disorder were rampant. His tussle ",\'1t]1 the
Sikhs began immediately. The Sikhs had 1:1rge1_\j 1ncrease.d.
their number and had even begun to fight the foujdars. Mir
Mannu sent troops against them to subdue them. Many \\-‘.ere.
imprisoned and put to death. Almost every month n?ovmg;
columns were sent against them. They refused to fight in the
open but plundered and devastated the par.g'auahsl. Wher'let»er
troops came to chastise them, they \\'Emld cither settle down as
cultivators or fly to the mountains or jungles. \V_hen the tr(?ops
of the Nazim returned, they would commence thelr' depredations
again. Those Moslems who could bring scvef’ed Sikh heads got
thejr reward. The governor himself, pr_etendmg‘ ‘to go on hunt:
ing excursions, would advance 5 or 6 Kos and d1r.ecf his troop:j
to fall upon the Sikhs and put them to dea"th. Within one year
the roads became safe and many of the Sikhs settled down as
farmers.*” i

But he was not in a position to devote his undivided atten-
tion to this task. Abdali was near the gate-wayv and was 0\'c1_'
on the alert to find an opening. Safdar Jang, the new.De%]u
wazir, was jealous of Mir Mam.m anil encouragcd. conspu‘acmf
and plots against the newly appointed bubfahd;}r. His own troops
were also quite inadequate to meet the situation. ; :

Safdar Jang incited Nasir Khan to plot- against him. He
had been appointed by Mir Mannu the f?ujda‘r of the mahals
Sialkot, Pasrur, Gujrat and Aurangabad.'* Mir Mannu forced
Nasir Khan to fly to Delhi. Safdar Jang fllso scnj[ Shahnawaz
Khan to Multan to create disturbance against Muin., Shahna-
waz went via Lakhi Jangal. He wrote letters to the Sikhs to

SEThid

30 Umdat-ut-Tawarikh, 127.
Y Hakikat, 26.

1 Miskin, 20.
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create commotion in aad around Lahore, expecting thercby to
divert the attention of Muin ) But the governor himself remained
in Lahore and sent Koura Mal Khatri to fight Shahnawaz."
Shahnawaz was defeated -and slain.  Naturally all these events
distracted the attention of Mir Mannu, and the Sikhs got a
respite. But they had as vet no strong fortified place under
their control and were scattered throughout the Subalh. Not a
single month, however, passed without ten or twentvy Sikh
heads being severed and brought to Lahore ;

In the mean time, before Mir Mannu had settled down,
Ahmad Shah invaded the Punjab once again (1750). 'This time,
however, the Viceory, after an indecisive campaign, thought it
proper ““to shake the chain of friendship and accommodation in
the Abdali’s ears and smother the fire that had not vet broken
out in a flame.”* He could not get any help from Delhi.
There “‘the 116bles and Mirzas hoped that Mir Mannu might be
destroyed and after that desirable event, they would take
measures against Abdali. They would thus extirpate the thorn
\\'111F11 the race of the Turanis had planted in their side.
Muin hlad therefore to stop Abdali’s progress by promising to
send him annually fourteen lakhs of rupees'® as the surplus

revcnuxﬁ:ﬁ of the four mahals, Sialkot, Pasrur, Gujrat and Auran-

%ahad.G Ahmad Shah, on his way back to Kabul, annexed
era Ghazi ; era Ismai shi

s ].1.3./1 Khan, Dera Tsmail Khan, Shikarpur and Multan.

After his E('zturn, he extended the Durrani empire in the west
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Ramagarhia, Naja Singh and Chharat Sigh had asserted them-
selves with their combined host, the Dal Khalsa Jiu*® (according
to Browne, the combined host at this stage' numbered only 5,000).
Muin-ul-Mulk had appointed Adina Beg Khan as the chastiser
of the Sikhs but Adina Beg Khan began, as before, to intrigue
with the Sikhs and did not take effective measures to suppress
them. The Sikhs built the mud fort of Ram Rouni, afterwards
famous as Ramgarh.

After the second Abdali invasion, Mir Mannu began a drive
that seemed to be as successful as a similar attempt made earlier
by Zakariya Khan. In order to suppress the Sikhs effectively,
Mir Mannu ordered the casting of 1,000 Jizails. He personally

-supervised the Jizail practice of his soldiers and rewarded those

who were accurate marksmen. ‘The Sikhs were thus effectively
subdued. Fach Sikh head brought a reward of Rs. 10.

If any soldier lost his horse whilst campaigning against the
Sikhs, another was supplied to him’ by the state.®® As the
Sikhs normally took shelter in the mountain or the jungles, the
hill rajas were commanded to drive them out of their shelter
and send them to Lahore. Many Sikhs were killed at Shahidganj.
As Froster notes, ‘“The Sikh nation might have been destroyed
but for the intervention of Mir Mannu’s minister, Koura Mal,
himself a member of the Khalsa sect.”” His mediation brought
about an accommodation, ‘‘the Sikhs were left to strengthen
themselves, enlarge territory ; whilst Koura Mal lived,
his influence over the Sikhs restrained their depredations.’’®:

Thus for many reasons Mir Mannu could not, between 1750
and 1752, take full advantage of his superiority. With an
abundance of good artillery, against which the Sikhs were
helpless, he might have overcome the Sikhs but the persuasions
of Koura Mal and the selfish policy of Adina Beg Khan ulti-
mately prevailed. Kven if we assume that it was possible for
the Mughal authority to crush the Sikhs between 1750 and 1752,
it was possible no longer after 1752, when Abdali began his
Indian expeditions’ with greater earnestness. The Sikh struggle

** Panth Prakash, 613.

50 Miskin, 35.

' Forster, Travels, Letter XI, 273; Browne, India Tracts, 17.
Koura Mal was really a Sahajdhari Sikh, i.c., he was an uninitiated
follower of the Gurus.——Panth Prakash, 610-11,
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for independence now entered upon a new phase. Ahmad Shah
Abdali invaded India for the third time in December, 1751. In
this expedition, he defeated Mir Mannu, conquered Kashmir
and obtained cession of the country as far east as Sirhind from
the Mughal Emperor Ahmad Shah.  After four months’ repeated
engagements Mir Manny was persuaded, contrary to the advice
of Koura Mdl, to come out of the entrenchments and fight.
Koura Mal, the very soul of the army, was slain f\ftct" his
defeat, Mir Mannuy submitted and he was appointed by Ahmad
S]_iah Abdali his governor in Lahorg— The Afghan invader sent
his agent Qalandar Khan to Delhj. Javid Khan, the eunuch,
took advantage of the absence of Wazir Safdar ]a,nﬁ' agreed to
all the demands of the ambassador and ceded T,ahore ?nd 7Mult'111
Ahmad Shah left Mir Mannu as his governor ip I(,ahore HL
was to send him the surplus revenue df the Punjab andﬂr—f.zcei\-'c
the final orders of Abdali in important matters
Suddozai Afghang was planted in Multan. l
he also conquered Kashmir and left Sukh Jiw
as his governor there, Here,
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and Jayappa Sindhia against Abdali (1752). According to this
agreement, the Marathas were 4o defend the Emperor against
foreign enemies and domestic rehels. ~I'he Emperor was to pay
them thirty lakhs for driving Abdali out and twenty lakhs for
suppressing internal rebels. The Emperor agreed to-grant to
the Peshwa the chouth of the Punjab, Sind, Sialkot, Pasrur,
Gujrat, Aurangabad, Hissar -and- other regions.® - But:-already
Qalandar Khan, Adbali’s ambassador, had secured cession of thg'
Punjab, Sirhind and Multan from the Gréat Mughal. Safdar:
Jang found himself foiled and néthing. came out -of his project:?
But the plau is interesting “as it foreshadows the later attempt:
of Ghaziuddin -and Adina Beg-Khan-to defeat and- drive- out:
t_he‘_rDur_:ran‘is_ from the Punjab- with-the hielp of the Marathasg. -l
<. Thus we pass on to the second -phase in the history. of thé
Sikh struggle- for- independence. Henceforth- the Sikhs weté
cettcerned not-so much- with-the’ Delhi-Emperér and hiscagents
as-with the Abdali menarch and his representatives: - “Fhe stase:
of things was, -however; -further complicated by the ambitious:
désigns’of the adventurer Adina-Beg Khan and the weak-kneeir
and: unscrupulous policy of Imad-ul-Mulk who, as wazir, began
toeontrol the destiniés of the empire from 1754,
: ~ The support of Koura Mal, the selfish policy of Adina Beg,
the rivalry- between: -Safdar - Jang ~and’ Mir- Manfiti, Javid  Khan
and: Safdar Jang, the weakness of Ahmad Shah, " the :Mughal!
Emperor, the ability of his namesake; the Abdali -Chief—all }rad
something to do with-the sutvival-of the -Sikhs.  T'he invasion:
of Nadir Shah in 1739-and the first three-invasions of Alimad:
Shah Abdali-(1748-52) gave the Sikhs opportumnities to organize’
thémselves.  The histoty of the next-few years was td shovir howir:
the Sikhs passed through a sertes of revérses tocomplete vicfary.:

T
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ANARCHY AND CONFUSION 19
heads, they were given rewards.® Bute up to that time no
distinct place was in their occupation. They lived in a scattered
manner. About 2,000 horsemen remained dispersed throughout
the Subah and in whatever place one or two hundred Sikhs
assembled, troubles began and they again fled (Hakikat).,

Mir Mannu died in November, 1753, leaving the Punjab
in a state of lawlessness. His failure was, .as .in the case of
Zakariya Khan, due to foreign invasions, coupled with repeated
Sikh risings. Moreover, indirectly Mir Mannu was responsible
for the growth of the power of the Sikhs. He kept a big army
which entailed a heavy expenditure. He had to squeeze - the
people to defray his expenses. This state .of oppression was best
suited- to enable the Sikh community to secure converts:- 'No
individual who had grievances against the government could

“hope for redress unaided. But the only organization in the

Punjab that could give protection and secure redress -was that
of the Sikhs, and it was one of their customs, true to the
principle of fraternity, to support one another. Naturally those
who had grievances, those who had suffered, those who were
beggared, turned to the Sikhs, were admitted into their com-
munity and thus derived strength from union. In this way the
Qumber of Sikh converts steadily increased. :

After Mir Mannu’s death his infant son Muhammad Amin
Khan was recognised by Abdali as his Subahdar in the Punjab,
with Mir Mumin Khan, an experienced officer, as the deputy
governor.* All power, of course, lay in the hands of Mir
Mannu’s wife, Mughlani Begam. Her profligacy and capricious-
ness alienated many faithful adherents of her late husband, and
rebellions became very frequent. Bhikari Khan, a trusted
lieutenant of Mir Mannu, was the first fo rebel, The Begam,
however, succeeded in killing him in April, 1755. Another
rebel was Qasim Khan, who had risen high in the favour of the
Begam. He had been worsted in a chance fight with the Sikhs
in which three hundred Badakshani soldiers of hig were killed.
The historian Miskin who took part in this battle also saw many
other dead bodies lying on both sides ‘of “the road. Thus
trounced -by the Sikhs, Qasim Khan formed a very high opinion

* Miskin, 44.
* Miskin, 45,
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All these upheavals, happening in the interval between the
death of Muin-ul-Mulk and the fourth invasion of Ahmad Shah
Abdali, not only encouraged but also very considerably streng-
thened the Sikhs. ‘“T'he Sikhs took all those advantages which
the local distractions of a falling empire offered them, of
extending and establishing their power. Their bands, under
their most active leaders, plundered in every direction.”” ‘Timur
Shah notes: ‘‘Because of all these commotions nobody directed
his attention towards the Sikhs and they plundered and looted
everywhere. Even the more law-abiding among them withheld
the payment of rent.’’® ‘

This: time Abdali took his Indian business more seriously
than before and wanted to march straight upon Delhi. As the
Sikhs were not powerful enough to meet Ahmad Shah in the
open, they hung about his wings, plundered all people who
straggled from his camp and cut off his provisions. Ahmad
Shah resented all this, but all he could do now was to threaten
them with punishment in his return-journey.® On the approach
of Abdali, Adina Beg had left Jalandhar Doab and fled to the
mountains in the north (to the desert tract of Hansi according
to Siyar, which is not likely). In Delhi, Ahmad Shah looted
on an enormous scale. All men, rich and poor, aristocrats and
commoners, big merchants and small cultivators, were indiscri-
minately plundered. Mughlani Begam knew the secrets of
many of the noble houses and she was particularly. helpful in
ouiding the Afghans to the hiding places of the treasures of
the Amirs.’® The plundered treasures were loaded on. 28,000

" beasts of burden, with 80,000 horse and foot following him,

every man in the company loaded with spoils.'’ Ahmad
Shah’s army could not but suffer at the hands of the
Sikh marauders, and all that he could do, was to order those
whom he left behind “to take vengeance on the Sikhs for all
the excesses which they had committed.’’**

"
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- Before leaving Defhi, Ahmad Shah had married a daughter
of Muhammad Shah, and a daughter of Alamgir II had been
given in marriage to “Iimur Shah. The Emperor had been
forced formally to cede the Punjab, Kashmir and Sind as also
the Sirhind district. For the government of these ceded tracts,
Timur Shah, his son, ‘was left as his viceroy in Lahore, with
Jahan Khan, the able Afghan general, as his wazir. Ahmad
Shgh' “had promised Mughlani Begam the Jalandhar Doab,
J'amma; and Kashmir for her services. " But before leaving, he
had revoked the gift.!® Thus the Begam found to her great
mortification that the dishonourahble part that she had played
only brought shame and Tuin on so many noble families inti-
mately related to herself and that the high hopes she had been
‘encouraged to entertain, proved chimerical. She found that the

Vpa*rt 'of'a traitor is nc_:t merely dishonourable but also unprofi-
table. But the worst was yvet to come,

; on an appointed day and then
make a concerted attack on the Sikhs. Jahan Khan with 2,000
_Sowars ‘marched to Amritsar, Haji Ataj Khan, not turning up
in 't;me,‘_Ta.han Khan wag very hard pressed by the Sikhs.

-Ultimately, however, Haji Atai reached with reinforcements.
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i1its - his -Service and by a policy of g?:neral friendliness.”
Timur ‘Shah agreed” to” Adina Beg’s retaining -his foujdari on
bayment of 36 lakhs a year. He would not come to the Darbar
-but-would be represented there by ‘his representative Dila Ram. 4
Adina Beg-became a defaulter and’ Dila Ram was thrown: into
:prison. Mughlani - Begain stood - security. Dila Ram = wag
‘zeleased and the  Begam told him to-bring money from Adina
Beg. But the unscrupulous -and ungrateful man: did not make
the payment, with the result that the-Begam was insulted, beaten
by Jahan Khan himself with sticks and her ornaments were
‘aken-awgdy.’’8 .. 70 4 230 et Yo i3
In-the mean time, Jahan Khan further infuriated the-Sikh
‘community” by maltreating one of ‘its most respected members,
the Sikh chaudhuri of Kot Budha Ramdas. The Sikhs: rose
Up “on all sides. At his' wits’ end, Jahan Khan summoned
-Adina Beg to Lahore. But the cautious foujdar declined . to
“obey. the summons- and clearly perceiving the consequences of
sthis: disobedience; withdrew - to- the moumtains. in the nortH.
‘Adida naturdlly enteréd into -an alliance with the. Sikhs—
“‘founded on a scheme of combined hostilities with the Afghamns;*
‘When - Sarafraz Khan -was seit against Adina Beg, he was
defeated-and driven out of the Jalandhar Doab.'* Th whatever
sdirection t’roop‘s were sent, they returned .defeated. " The Sikhs
‘used to approach I,ahore in swarims and-they also plundered the
'suburbs. “T'he Afghans could not always come out to fight them.
“Thus everywhere there was anarchy, confusion and lawlessness.
“Fhe - prestige of Afghan arins disappeared: In the Maratha
Tecords, we find that the Sikhs congregated around Lahore, ‘in
-the Doab and evenin the Sirhind region. ~ They defeated Sadat
‘Khan ‘Afridi -in -the Doab. ‘They also defeated Khwaja Abid
Khan who had been sent from Lahore and plundered him:2°

i Accordilig to Sikh }raditioh -\\=fié11 theré_ was a breach bet:\_v_et_a.p
Adina and the Diuirani government of Timur Shah, the “wily ex-foujdar
“openly ‘made an- alliance with the Khaléa and would laughingly catl
-himself o “Bhoda: Sikh,” ot a Sikh-without hair. Whether true: or not,
:-this stE)ry is really characteristic of the man.—Panth Prakash, 653 __

' Miskin, 78, 79 and 80. In the Ahwal-i-Adina Beg Khan, we.read

that Bhowani Das, an ﬁgezjt (l).f“Al‘iilla Beg, was also tortured in the days
‘of Zal-ie.at'iy;: Khan foi his master’s- defalcation, 5. ‘ i
" Siyar, III, 376 (mention is made to Murad Khan). =
- 8. P. D, II, 83, dated 17th November, ‘1757,
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ol .
The number of Sikh horsemen also reached about ten thousand
and -the footmen were innumerable,” according to the writer

of the Hakikal, ~. . i
i Adina: Beg Khan, -however, introudced a further compli-
tation by calling in the Marathas. It is not very difficult t0
guess his motives. He must have been clear-sighted enough
to see.that the Sikhs would not be of mich use to him in=a
'DrotraCJC.Ed war against the Durranis, however successful their
marauding b?nds might be during the absence of Abdali. o
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to the campaign of 1761. ‘‘The supposed superiority of the
Marathas in guerilla warfare ‘was a myth. The Afghans, with
_their tireless Turki steeds outrode 100 miles in 14 hours to
surprise Malhar Rao Holkar. Atai Khan performed an equally
remarkable feat when he caught Gobind Pant Bundela. In the
skirmishing outside Panipat, the Afghans almost invariably had

. the better of it. On the other hand, when it came to shock

action, the Maratha cavalry, with its superb elan never failed
‘to rout their opponents.’’** The Sikhs with their endurance and
‘rapidity of movement, the excellent size and swiftness of their
horses, resembled the ill-clad but powerful troops of Shivaji.
They were pre-eminently well-fitted for a guerilla method of
warfarc, being in this respect very much superior to the
Marathas. If, as a supplement to the Maratha plan of shock
action, there had been the Sikh scheme of skirmishing after
the Parthian fashion behind the enemy, affairs might have taken
‘an entirely different turn. It has been said about the Sikh that
even in contending hand to hand, he was terrible. ‘A Sikh
soldier had really to be killed twice.”** But a plan combining
“the Sikh and Maratha methods of warfare was not evolved. It
is, however, interesting to note that in 1760, before the
Marathas encamped at Panipat, after Kunjpura had been
‘captured, the Bhao, the Maratha Commander, proceeded one
stage towards Sirhind to win over the Sikhs and the Jats, and
start a combined action against the Afghans. But the Bhao had
%o retrace his steps suddenly when he received the news of
“Abdali’s crossing at Bagpat.®® The attempt to bring about a
“concerted action thus came too late.

2 But neither among the Marathas nor among the Sikhs was
_there any one farsighted -enough to realize that combination was
‘the vital need of the hour. The unbecoming pride and presump-
tion of the Marathas, their failure to grasp the realities of the

situation, the proverbial Maratha greed for plunder, the

22, G. Rawlinson, Account of the Last Battle of Panipat,
Introdnction.
. " The author of the Imad-us-Sadat wrote that the Durranis were
the finest soldiers; the next best were the Sikhs. They could put a
man to death from a distance of 900 kadams and on horseback they
could go 200 kos. - - F
2 Peshwa Daftar, XXI, No. 197; Letter, dated 27th November, 1760,
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presence of the wily Adina Beg, whose interest it was to keep
these two peoples divided, the prevalent Sikh view that regarded
the Marathas as intruders—all comibined to -make a fusion
between these two peoples- beyond - even the domain of
possibility. e AT e 2 o5

A large army of the Marathas, encamped in Delhi under
the command of Raghunath Rao, came now to his assistancé.
“When he saw Sikh power advancing every day, he invited the
Deccani Sardars and assured thein that they could conquer the
whole region up to the Indus.”’* Adina Beg stipulated for the
payment of a daily sum of one lakh of rupees for a march and
fifty thousand for a halt.*® The Marathas joined Adina Beg in
Sirhind. Abdus Samad, the Durrani governor of-Sirhind, was

.worsted. He himself fought bravely but his soldiers fled and

}_1e was captured.”” Adina Beg had stil] many Sikh mercenaries
i his employ. It is said that Sirhind was plundered by them
before'the I\:Ia'rathas. The Deccanis regarded plunder as their
:;‘i“?:i It)f;i‘filege and they resolved to punish the Sikhs -f.(?l'
e stalling them. Byt Adina Beg perhaps felt that __ill

4 case even a futyre reconciliation would be heyond the
there was no ‘knowing whether -he
good terms with his ney friends. He
fOf’ehand, ~Who under cover of 2
Timur Shah and Jahan Khan con-
treat before the advancing Maratha
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sidered it prudent to re
army. ° The Marathas o

aien s ihe flight. The Marathas could
use of 1ts high water 1evel, They could
the Durfanis up -‘CO.AttOCIi_éO - 2

Miskin, 79 e SEET Hoi ) - e 5
3 e 4
7 Husain Shah;.,

The story of gj
Not appear 1,
he approgeyy

tgeJ:s_:]s)a Singh, doeg kh ok:cupation of Lahore and coiuri'l}g
Huﬂ;rlbs. but on ¢ 0 be true, Th‘ey, v ever. occup}‘?_:
"S.a CO]E’ E:]l:etcl1. 95; PantIIOfP:hi Marat}]as they retreated. .
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The Marathas did not consider it prudent to take upon
themselves the task of direct administration. They left Adina
Beg Khan as the governor there, and fixed a yearly tribute of
75 lakhs of rupees.”® Adina Beg himself went to the Jalandhar
Doab, leaving his son-in-law Khwaja Mirza Khan as his deputy
in Lahore. ‘T'he Marathas evacuated the Punjab largely because
the pay of the army had begun to fall into arrears. A debt of
88 lakhs was dite to the army. In the Punjab the Marathas
could not make war pay for war, as was invariably their habit.
They were also recalled to the Deccan to make a grand attack
on the Nizam, whose existence in the heart of the Maratha
country was a great danger. During the monsoon of 1759, the
plans for humbling the Nizam were completed, and by the end
'of 1759, all the famous Maratha warriors gathered and the
campaign of Udgir began.?* They left Jankoji near Delhi to
look after affairs in the north. Adina Beg placed Siddik Beg
Khan in charge of Sirhind. He himself died soon after
(September, 1758).%*

Adina Beg was fortunate even in his death. If he had
lived longer, the fifth Abdali invasion would have been partly
directed against him. This wonderful man undoubtedly played
a prominent part in the history of the Sikh struggle for indepen-
dence. He 4eld his own amidst the clashing interests of the
decadent Mughals, the triumphant Durranis, the indomitable
Sikhs and the arrogant Marathas. Though always actuated by
motives of personal advancement, he had an understanding
with the Sikhs that was long-standing and he knew that this
made his friendship essential to any outside power that wanted
to govern the Punjab. It was precisely because of this that at
times he befriended the Sikhs, who were so useful to him in the

% Siyar, III, 377.

18, P. D., Vol. I, Introduction.

* Ahmad Shah of Batala says that during Adina Beg’s viceroyalty
an attempt was made by his lientenant Mir Aziz to teach the Sikhs
4 lesson by storming the fort of Ram Rowni or Ramgarh. After a
Protracted siege, the Sikhs who had’ harassed the besiegers by their
sallies escaped by battering down one of the walls. They were pursued
and many were slain. Those who survived were out of admiration
styled by their fellow Sikhs as Ramgarhias. I have not been able to
utilize Ahmad Shah’s Tarikh-i-Panjab a MS. in the Dyal Singh Library,
Lahore,
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furtherance of his own schemes. Thereby he indirectly helped
the Sikhs during a very dark périod of their history. His death
now pr_oyidéd them with an opportunity of which they were not
slow to take advantage. Even when Adina’s power was at its
height, the Sikhs were steadily reasserting themselves. Chharat
Singh in the Bari Doab and Jassa Singh in the Jalandhar Doab,
‘were making their power felt.** After the death of Adina Beg
Khan, Sikh territorial ambition seemed to find full scope. They
were now irrepressible. Khwaja Mirza Khan could not now
cope with them, Dattaji Sindhia sent Sabaji to Lahore. ’The
Sikhs in the meantime defeated Sambhu Das,*" Dewan of the
deceased Adina Beg and practically. made themselves masters of
‘the Jalandhar Doab. The Sikhs are even said to have defeated
and driven back an Afghan army led by the redoubtable Jahan
Khan himself.?”

- Affairs took a new turn when Ahmad Shah Abdali, who
had been intent upon leading another invasion of India,
concluded a treaty with Nasir Khan, chief of the Baluchis. He
was now free to turn his attention to India. Najib-ud-Daula,
Abdali’s agent in Delhi, was besieged by Dattaji Sindhia at
Sakartal and sent frantic appeals to Ahmad Shah. He would
have come in any case to avenge the expulsion of Timur Shah
?\;d Jt?han Khan by the Marellltha& After Adinn Beg’s death
Pez;x:rzri?a{d!mené? of Sabaji Patel penetrated as far as the
On his apbrfazgﬁt(h fEET e T ] Quarterly, July, 1943.)'
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Afghan sway was once again re-established,in the Punjab along
the -1nain route .and -Abdali advanced -upen--Delhi. - Wazir
Imad-ul-Mulk murdered the Emperor Alamgir II and. the siege
of Sakartal was raised on the néws of the approach-of Abdalis
This was in December, 1759. This ecampaign was a protracted:
affair. ‘T'he third battle of Panipat; which registered the crown-
ing victory of Ahmad Shah over the Marathas; was fought on
the 14th January, 1761. L8 : -

~ " Ahmad Shah was in such a hurry to measure his sword with
the Marathas that he could make no perman‘ent“'arr'an‘gemgnt_:
for the Punjab. While he was campaigning in the Doab or in
the Delhi region, the utmost disorder prevailed in the Pugjab'i
He had appointed"Zain Khan at Sirhind. Sarbuland Khan had
been given the Subah of Lahore and sent with 12,000 soldiets
there. But Sarbuland Khan Temained in ‘the Jalandliar Doab
and ‘sent the Subahdari sanad to Dadan Khan in Lahore, who
after”a time found himself so ‘v_er}? hard pressed by the Sikh‘s
that lie offered to resign to Sarbuland Khan. Amir Muham-
mad Khan was appointed the next go_vé’i"r’iof of Lahore.  Jassa
Singh Ahluwalia, Hakikat Singh Kanheya, Hari Singh Bhangi,
J:dssa Singh Ramgarhia approached” Lahore and occupied the
suburbs. For about fifteen day$ they plundered the surrounding
regions and moved about defiantly. = Amir Khan, somehow,
managed to remain within the’ walls.. At that time Ahjnad
Shah’s treasury was in the fort of Lahore. . All the big men of
the town met to deliberate. They said that if the Sikhs
occupied the town, the treasury would fall into their hands.
Therefore, it was better to buy them off. The Sikhs retired
after receiving a big sum of money -(Rs. 30,000). Sarbuland
Khan was .\’ery much displeased on Hearing this news. He
wrote to Vakub Khan and Ajmal Khan Durrani, asking them
to impﬂson Amir Muhal_nmad Khan, which they did. They
then took over the charge of Lahore.”

Kasi Pandit is responsible for the statement that after the
third battle of Pallfpat, the Shah wanted to seize the empire of
Hindustan, but that he was prevented as the Durranis insisted
not only on their arrears of pay but also on his immediate return
to Kabul. The Shah was helpless; he acquiesced and went

37 Umdat-ut-Tawarikh; 150-53.




30 RISE OF THE SIKH POWER

his way back. Nuruddin tells us that there was actually a
rumour of Abdali’s march to tlie Deccan. N ajib-ud-Daula gave
the advice that if he went to Malwa a vast amount of tribute
would be collected. The Marathas even heard rumours of his
advance to the Deccan. The remonstrance of his soldiéry un-

expectedly shortened the period of his stay in India, though he

too had never really intended to remain permanently here. He
now stuck to his old plan and contented himself with the por-
tion already ceded to him—the Punjab up to Sirhind, Kashmir
and Sind. When after his victory over the Marathas Ahmad
Shah was to start for Kabul, he appointed Sarbuland Khan in
the Jalandhar Doab, Bikhan Khan in Maler Kotla, Zain Khan
in Sirhind. When he approached Lahore, the prominent citi-
zens came forward' and narrated the doings of the Sikhs.
Ahmad Shah gave them an assurance that He would return after
$ix months. As his soldiers had sojourned here for a long time,
they were now eager .to return to their country. Sarbuland
Khan was ordered to give an account of all the money he had
collected. He said that most of the money had been spent in
fighting the Sikhs and in buying them off. Ahmad Shah was
chhrdispleased to hear this and ordered him off to Multan.
‘The Subahdari of Lahore was conferred on Khwaja Abid Khan.*®
When Ahmad Shah began his return march, the Sikhs began

to }.mrass him.  Browne wrote: ‘After the third battle of
14 anipat as soon as the Durrani army had passed the Sutlej, the
Sikhs began .to plunder the stragglers, but Ahmad Shah
:::;}Ii gz ;:;’Ctlhggt ;:Oiiiﬂrmyl‘was loaded with plunder. Every
this manner he continu(?d ah?s]ght “;-? g onnd s i ang 1;1_
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every. way,. _From dusk. till two watches of the night they
would - fight like an. advance-guard and. then they would go
away and in_the ‘morning, when ‘the Durrani march began, they
would J.iégin;,thei: activity anew but remain hidden, At night,
they -used . to- take rest at a distance of 10 kos from the troops
of AAhmad Shah.  Ahmad Shah was eager for a pitched battle to
drive them out, but he got no opportunity.*’ - Ahmad Shah was
Iﬁﬂ;ki_ng;-éway;__'-wi_th him a- large number of captives, most of
them- females.- - They -were rescued- by Jassa Singh Ahluwalia,
when--Abdali - was onr- the ‘banks ‘of the Jhelum. Jassa-Singh:
provided them. with- money -and-sent them home.** - = ° =00 -

With Adina Beg dead and the Marathas overwhelmed; the
state of things became simplified. From 1752 to 1761, it had
been really a four-cornered struggle in which the Durranis, the
Marathas, the Sikhs and Adina Beg Khan had all participated.
Now the Sikhs alone were left to fight the issue out with the
Durranis, the other two contestants having dropped out. To
the careful student of the career of the great Durrani invader,
it is clear that he definitely intended to rule over the Punjab
and Sirhind, Kashmir and Sind. Delhi, Agra, Mathura and
other places were reserved for plunder, but the former tracts,
conquered by the sword and formally ceded by the Delhi
Emperors, were intended to be kept for direct government. Per-
haps he did not take the Sikhs seriously in spite of the annoy-
ance which they caused him. Most probably he persisted in
thinking that it would not be at all difficult for him to defeat
them. If he could crush the formidable Maratha power with
one swift blow, he could certainly overwhelm this contemptible
band of freebooters. But he was now to find that a fight with
the Sikhs was not a matter of strategy or tactics, not a matter
of effective military combination or calculation. A defeat in-
flicted on them would be like ““a sword slash through a pond.”’

“© Hakikat, 32. ,

“ Panth Prakash, 680. The Punjab tradition of rescuing prisoners
of war from the clutches of foreign invaders is also associated with the
Hame of Lakhpat Rai in connection with the invasion of Nadir Shah
(Saadat-i-Jawed of Harnam Singh) and of Amar Singh of Patiala in
cconnection with the last invasion of Ahmad Shah Abdali (Khushwagqt
Rai). Lakhpat Rai is said to have paid Nadir three lakhs and Amar

Singh is said to have paid Ahmad Shah one lakh for the release of the
captives.
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CHAPTER IV
AFTER PantpaT (1761-67)

“’I'he Abdali governor of Lahore, was in no better position
than the commander of an outlying post.”” The Sikhs were
successfully plundering the country around and building strong-
holds and fortresses. The most important of these new-built
forts was the mud fort at Gujranwala. ‘The Sikh sardars were
engaged in securing lands for themselves. Jai Singh Kanheya
took Batala, Jassa Sigh Ramgarhia secured Kalanur. Gujar
Singh and Chharat Singh plundered the country around Yamina-
bad. Khwaja Abid Khan, the Durrani governor, marched out
to expel the Sikhs from Gujranwala, which was the headquarters
of Chharat Singh, and besieged the Sikhs. But the Sikhs who
were outside the fort combined with thost who were within it
and not only did they completely defeat him but also looted
all his ammunition.® In response to the appeal of Chharat
Singh came Jassa Singh Ahluwalia, Hari Singh Bhangi, Jai
Singh Kanheya and other chiefs with their detachments. There
were also 500 Sikhs in the army of Abid Khan. They also
joined their comrades. Abid Khan sought safety in flight. As
the author of the Siyar-ul-Mutakkherin remarks in another con-
nection, the Sikhs were getting numerous, they were aware of
the weakness of the existing government and they knew that
Ahmad Shah was at a great distance.”* Khwaja Abid, having
thus suffered a defeat, retreated within the walls of Lahore.
The Sikhs assembled held a meeting of the Sarbut Khalsa.
They decided to invest Jandiala, 12 miles east of Amritsar.
Jandiala was the stronghold of the Niranjani sect. They were
the most persistent enemies of the Sikhs and the most steadfast
friends of the Durranis, although the original leader of the sect
was a very devoted Sikh in the days of Guru Amardas. In
their struggle for independence the Sikhs suffered much molesta-
tion because of these people, whose one aim was to ingratiate,

! Umdat-ut-Tawarikh, I, p. 154.
- 2 Sivar, 1V, 3.

3
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themselves into the favour of the Durranis. They would even
point out the Sikh boys and ‘women, hiding in cornfields, so
that the Durranis might drag them out. To enumerate only a
few most important cases, it was on the information of a
Nitanjani that a very prominent Sikh, Sukka Singh, was
arrested in 1753 ; it was a Niranjani, Harmukh Das, who
supplied information leading to the arrest of Taru Singh in
1746 ; it was a Niranjani who had supplied information leading
to the persecution of the family of a prominent Sikh, Mehtab
Singh, in 1740.° It was therefore natural that the Sikhs should
launch a united attack on this enemy, so near their home.
Akaldas, the Jandiala Thanadar, wrote a pressing letter to
Ahmad Shah Abdali as his lieutenants in the Punjab were un-
able to give him any protection. This news that his officers
were defeated and dispersed and his supporters were about to
be overwhelmed by that obscure band of marauders, was suffi-
cient to stir Abdali to action. He made one of his famous
lightning marches.* But the Sikhs had already got information
of his approach. They got up on their horses and quickly
withdrew to the other side of the Sutlej,” where, joined by the
Cis-Sutlej Sikhs, they began to plunder the regions around
Sirhind and Maler Kotla and massed troops to the number of
40,000.° Ahmad Shah’s spies brought him the news that the
Sikhs were near the village Kup. Zain Khan, Subahdar of
Sirhind, Bhikan Khan of Maler Kotla, Murtaza Khan and
Qasim Khan were pressed very hard by the Sikhs, They had
not a sufficient number of soldiers and guns to enable them to
defeat the Sikhs in the open field. Ahmad Shah ordered Zain
Khan to come out and fight - the Sikhs, assuring him at the

* Panth Prakash, 551, 577, 633, 604,

4 . -
The history of thig march, as narrated by the author of the Tarikh-

:ﬁg:ibi(:.hli.:t;:r t_o-o- dral.natic to warrant itg acceptance in its entirety
ey Ii;l_tt ]:s said that after 4 dream in which he was e,\'horl.'efl
300, of Tis bog l.laa,d Ahmad Shan jumped up, got on horseback with
word to Shof Yg“ﬂf’ vand started straight for India, leaving only 2

Shal Wali Khay ¢ follow him, 71¢ was mot until almost

unatt 3 .
'qpprofliedﬂhel hiid il’enched Jandiala and the Sikhs had fled away on his
@ ach, that Sha i N i, ok ; y

rapid, ! Wali Khan could join hip, The march was SO

5Umdat—ut-’I‘awat'ikh, 156, 157
°K1mlsanama, 32. > I :

—
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same time that he also would join in‘ the, attack. Zain Khan
according to his instructions attacked next morning and was
rciilforcéd by the main Afghan army. The fight took place
near the village Kup near Maler Kotla. ‘The Sikhs could not
beat a successful retreat and suffered a crushing defeat.l The
battle had begun in the morning. It seems that the celerity of
the Shah’s movements took the Sikhs by surprise. In his pre-
vious encounters with the Sikhs Ahmad Shah had attempte'd

to form lines for a pitched battle but had never succeeded. This
time the Sikhs were encumbered with their bahir or baggage

and sought to protect it. They could not therefore run away

Precipitately. A running fight was kept up. As the baggage

train of the Sikhs moved towards Barnala, a body of Afghan

troops attacked it and massacred a large number of non-coxln-

batants. ‘The main body of the Sikhs had to advance t(? its

defence led by Jassa Singh Ahluwalia and Chharat Singh

Sukerchukia. As the shades of evening fell, the Afghans, who

were too tired because of their long march, could not continue

the running fight in order to maintain the pursuit and the

Sikhs escaped towards Barnmala. We would not be Very wrong

if we say that the death of the non-combatants including

women and children in the bahir must have swelled the figure

of the massacred very considerably. This battle is famous in

Sikh history as the Ghallughara or the great massacre” (5th

February, 1762).

"My account of the battle is based on Imamuddin Husaini, Abdul
Karim Ulwi, Bakht Mal, Miskin and Rajwade. The number of killed

- and  wounded—Miskin, 25,000; Husain Shahi, 30,000; Forster, 25,000.

40,000 Sikhs fought with 30,000 of Ahmad’s army. Murray was told by
a Moslem soldier of Maler Kotla who fought in the battle that .onl_\-
12,000 were killed and wounded (Prinsep, 20). This seems 1.'e_r_v 111':e1_v
and rumour has much magnified the number A Maratha version gwo:s
5/7 thousand as the number killed. Sikh version of the encounter is
very detailed but Ratan Singh’s estimate of the total sikh loss at 30,000
s L:e'rtainly unacceptable. The author of the Hakikat gwe:.; us an Af;}rhan
version of the encounter : “Ahmad Shah destroved Amritsar . . . from
there Ahmad Shah went in search of the Sikhs and passed one hundred
Kos in course of one day and one night. In spite of this the Sikhs
Lot the information and fled. Some were killed, the camps  were
plundered and about 1,000 horses came into the hands of the Durranis.”’
There is, however, some confusion“here. Amritsar was not destroyed
Lefore Ghallughara but after it. . :
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Ahmad Shah swent to Sirhind. There he was met by
Najib-ud-Daula and others who complimented him upon his vic-
tory. Abdali did not advance any further. As a Jesuit priest
at, Lucknow notes: ‘“The Sikhs, a people barbarous and war-
like, by their progress in the province of Iahore and the coun-
try adjacent, interrupted the Shah from thinking of any other
project which before he might have determined on.””® In con-
nection with this expedition of Ahmad Shah and his triumphant
victory over the Sikhs, we should note carefully his treatment
of Ala Singh of Patiala. Ahmad Shah’s successful expedifions
and his failure to crush the Sikhs convey a very unfavourable
impression about him as a statesman. Even on the morrow of
the Ghallughara, the Sikhs were as dauntless as ever. Ahmad
Shah was no nearer to crushing them now, than he had been
before. Cunningham describes him as “‘an ideal Afghan genius,
fitted for conquest but incapable of empire.”
Ahmad Shah was only a bold adventurer, very mu
ling the boy-king Charles XII, the wonder of E
planned nothing right, whose life was,
the end, a wild and senseless outing. But in reality, Ahmad
Shah was as much a statesman as he was a soldier, and this
fact must be noted to the credit of the Sikhs that they were
sujcc-essful against one who was not a mere adventurer, but 2
brilliant soldier and a clear-sighted statesman, with a firm grasP
of the realities of the situation.
i iiatfemg] ;f tll) a.tjala_had become the most powerful chielf;
" ma\'aniwh:; utle] region. He had established a strOIl_ghf)lg
T 5K famcily (;fclng%{u(ired_Sa:la\xrar and succeeded in echpSéi.c’_
S 1kot, hitherto the most powerful in the 1%
t S Morcitiay any other Sikh chief, he knew hoV
o take advantage of ¢ oti Ty jons O
Ahmad Shah Abqay; s et L T v e e
Prince Timur whe ]. ; d cven the audacity to plu 1-
der of Delp; (Marll B tranﬁporﬁng a portion of the Plulllc
second time near ill'll il Jizr Was also robbed fo;r 1Elf
Set out on pis retlllrz ejlquti)ga.g ‘When T hgﬁ; ‘
Dlundering the great con e d‘o .nOt hear of Ala_ e

; queror.  But it ig clear that at this sta8

CH

SN ; :
Vol. Xxvry, I’\Io\-jolll'isxﬁt’edNo. '8, dated o6th ppyit, .1757; 8. P D7
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of his career, he was certainly pro-Maratha and a.ntl-Af_ghglll;
Ala Singh also sent agents to the Deccan to establls;hl\’fmal;ha)‘3
relations with the Maratha government. When the Marathas

‘advanced to Sirhind in March, 1758, Ala Singh sent a vakil to

the Maratha camp but curiously enough would not preseInt l:ttim:
self. A contingent of 2,000 Patiala troops helped the Mara 1a;
in their Sirhind operations. After the Maratha captt:ree ;)n
Kunjpura in 1760, the Bhao actually advanced‘a't one Tz:;galso
the direction of Ala Singh’s country and prov.1s1(1)ns d\\Maratha
sent by Ala Singh once or twice to 't’he alm.ost 15(; ate. ey
camp at Panipat even when Abdali’s undisputed sway SR
open made this a risky ventur«.a. Hf': must have( ]]0;;16 A
Sikh army that suffered the ternblc‘z d1sastelr, the ;m ui‘u a
At Sirhind, Ahmad Shah turne;ﬂ‘léis'attm;l;nwzitz &etzuait ;ng
i refractory Patiala chieftain.

;1:1’: gfn;iieixl the stronghold. ”H? hastened over 80 zols aﬂng
arrived there in the course of two nights and one day. ah e.t
away, after evacuating the fort.”’' He, however, thoug.t i
prudent to submit. Ala Singh was taken to Lahore, a trlPuE?
of four lakhs was promised and three lakl.ls were actually p-ald.

Not only was Ala Singh released, but ‘1t is said ‘thit2 Abdali also
gave him a dress of honour and the title of Raja.

1 Najibnama, 57A, date wrong; Rajwade, VI, 382, 465.‘ T

1 The Maratha version of the affair is not acceptable in all ?ts
details. Abdali is said to have brought Ala Jat to I:ahore and tﬂsent him
to Oandahar. But this statement is not suppo‘rtﬁu by any otl.;:,r can:
tem;orarv authority. The author of the Hal.ukat thus descndesSl 1;
subjugatfon of Ala Singh, “‘Some of the zar.nmdars told Ahma ]13;
that on that side there was a nota.bie zamindar of the parganaf1 10
Sirhind named Ala Jat. In recent times Ihe strert}gthen.ed son:ne o f‘; he
Mugha! forts and declared himse'lf as Singh. The Slk.hs \,.]ery 0.-3]
came to his shelter and at the tlmel ?f battle he supplied glﬁm “:; h
food and other necessaries. After waiting one day Ahmad Sda }Imd 1;
second day attacked the fort of Ala Jat which was named D in a
Dhurah but Ala Jat was not in that fort.‘ The fmjt was very s rong:f
but it fell at the fisst attack. Ala Jat paid a considerable amm;nt )
money and came to see Ahmad Sha.h.” Rajwade (VI, 485). t(le Is ]us
that Takshmi Narayan, Dewan offZam A-Tfhasn., alfsured Abdali that he
q 50 lakhs from Ala Singh.
“DUE?Piiitali :—i?:jsnils O:aid to have been established in iTGS{ with ‘the
name of A{1111ad Shah as the Padshah.—Lepel Griffin, Punjab Rajas,
313, 314 footnote.
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This very sensible moderation should be distinguished
from the policy which he had pursued before. He wanted now
skilfully to mingle war with diplomacy. As Cunningham notes,
“The conqueror may not have been insensible to the policy of
widéning the difference between a Malwa and a Manjha
Singh.”** He thus followed the same policy that Alexander
pursued in his relations with Poros and Ambhi and he thus
anticipated the same policy that the British followed later to
prevent Ranjit Singh from absorbing the Cis-Sutlej Sikhs. To
use an analogy from the history of Europe, he pursued almost
the same line of action as did Alexander Farnesse, Duke of
Parma, when he wanted to separate the southern provinces
from the northern in the Dutch war of independence. But
here we must use a word of caution. Ala Singh should not
be lightly branded as a traitor to the Sikh cause. We have
1o reason to think that his submission was anything more
than bowing before a storm. He had certainly no intention of
paying the promised tribute regularly as a dutiful subject of
the Durrani ruler. His submission provided him with a con-
venient way out of his present difficulties and possibly placed
him in a position of advantage over some of his rivals, His
own death in 1765, and that of his very able grandson in the
prime of his life, prevented the performance of any deed of a

nobler note that might have been regarded as an expiation for
the original sin of submission.

\ Before returning to Afghanistan, Ahmad Shah placed
Saadat Khan in the Jalandhar Doab. Bhikan Khan remained
in Maler Kotla and Zain Khan in Sirhind. A Hindu, Kabuli

Mal, was appointeq in Lahore, As the Sikhs had desecrated
many mosques, the

Moslems in a g irit of revenge razed
Amritasar tq the gro i e

was il und and with its rujps the sacred tank
a5 flled up and pyramide of Sikh heads, a usual accom-
Paniment of Afghan expeditions

dition, Ahmaq Shah “also reconquered
» Who had not remitted
With the assistance of

Yy of the §
» Travels, Vo, I, 278, fihs, 102,

13 .
] Cunumgham, Histor
* Forster
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L h Kash-
the Raja of Jammu, the expeditionary army c.ould' zeaanpomted
mir. Jiwan was taken prisoner "and Nuruddin wa e
t'he1:e 15 Tyen before Ahmad Shah’s dep_arture, \\flln eKhan %
yet i‘.l.'.l Lahore, the Sikhs created difficulties for ‘ZamRS T
Sirhind. Zain Khan had to buy thenc:_ 5 byttpiiy;ilgto lo'ot tilei!'

g n atter
But he treacherously made a T
rear, whereupon they turned back,' Dlund;r:}dt ]:Sbattle g
Lak;hmi Narayan and compelled him to hgh

e 0 o LR d.lﬂ

garh, 5 kos from Sirhin Shah
Hﬂrl’;;ﬁ: immediately after the departure of AlEl'mdattemp‘c
Abdali, in December 1762, it was apparent that t 1sut‘cer s
to conéiliatc one section and repress danOthejr&f“,E:n?sl.l‘can “Jassa

turned to g b

When Ahmad Shah re . ; \Sineh
e Ahluwalia, along with Jassa Singh Ramgarhia, Jai Sit

i invaded Kasur, killed
ara Singh Gheba and others, 1ir e

cash down.

Singh
lanheya, T' &
E:OO A}fghans, plundered thehtoxl\;r: étfnc}r i-znétingh il
i t{\l\?orlzﬁoi}’l;]:ﬁz fe‘l‘l'l‘:?e tlogt of Kasur forni)sz;:} the ﬁnm?l(::]?
I‘;l?s;]se of the Sardari of many Sikh chiefs. i azheim?;de;
drove out Saadat Khan, governor .of ]al'andhar 0 t, R
Maler Kotla, defeated and killed its c}ne)z,a and nex 13 de;ed
LZuin Khan, defeated and killedl 111%11. Theif 1t)ht{13n i
and destroyed Sirhind, accursgd m“SQ\h 1e}§bb;§n S e
where the soms of Guru Gobm.d .Smgh ha iced 2
] The sack of Sirhind should b_e D a_
e 3'1051‘31“654 exactly three years after the third battle of
Panipat EI? his, 511‘0\\'5 that from the Afghan 5tandp011.1t that ;’e-
all{Pf_i e t followed a year after by another n1)ect9:cu ar
59U11d1ﬂg “1? 01f3: Sikﬁs in the region between the S!.lt].(::?] aﬂ:d
0 tplrLoved to be absolutely ineffective. Su-lufnc;‘ ﬁa
uing be regarded as the measure and s'ymbol’ of Sikh
;Elcl;sjh:;lfnst the Durranis. Accorc.hng -to. Nr;ﬁj\izh::;sj,}
“‘ritcr‘ Ufh the Jangnama, the whole city was 1 VR e
0 - ven a bird was to be seen there excer
gk C\‘Cll‘) he lofty shrines I felt the breeze of para-
o ) the royal palaces of the city

January,

the Jumna

. when I vi N
dise coming from every tomb . .

5 Sivar, 1V, 4, 5; Rajwade, Vol. VI, 384.
16 Rajwade, Vol. VI, 384. i

v Islamic Culture, July, 1929.

8 Khalsanama, 33-
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and its gardens, orehards and water tanks were all lying in
ruins.”’ : :

Sikh depredations around ILahore and in the western Pun-
jab brought Jahan Khan with a small army across the Attock.
We learn from the Delhi Chronicle that he fought with the
Sikhs and fled away. ‘Timur Shah speaks of this engagement
in greater detail. ‘The fight took place near Lahore. Jahan
Khan on horseback chased the Sikhs for about 15 kos and then
came back. But the Sikhs returned to the fight. They were
reinforced by 10,000 Sikh sowars under Chharat Singh, Lehna
Singh, Gujar Singh, Jhanda Singh, Tara Singh Gheba, Jassa
Singh Thoka, Hari Singh and others. The Durranis unable to
cope with the Sikhs, retreated at night towards the town. The
Sikhs made 200 Durranis captive. Jahan Khan retreated
towards Kabul. It was after this engagement that the Sikhs
turned upon Zain Khan.'* “The Sikhs did not actually occupy
Lahore at this stage though they compelled Kabulj Mal, its
governor, to pay them a large sum of money and to cut off
the noses and ears of the cow-killing butchers of Lahore, They
now dominated the scene and naturally
upon the Muhammadans by pulling dow

pelling “Afghans in chains to wash their
blood of hogs, 20

revenged themselves
n mosques and com-
foundations with the
The sacred tank was re-excavated. It is,
however, pleasant to hear on the testimony of Forster that the
Sikhs “‘set a bound to the impulse of revenge and though the
Afghan massacre and persecution must have been deeply im-

printed on their minds, they did not
Prisoner in cold blood.”’

the Sikhs even advanced
.faaid to have plundereq the
Immense booty,

decided Nasir K1
of a pilgrimage tq
seventh expeditio,

» 1t is said, destroy one
Qazi Nur Muhammad tells us that
to Multan and Derajat. They are
city of Multan and carried away an
It was this near approach of the Sikhs that
1an, the Baluchj chief, to give up the idea
Meccg and to join Ahmad Shah Abdali in his
1 against the Sikhs.

Ala Singh of Patiala

: as regarded ¢ ik fqth dis-
trust anq Suspicion, anq j 5 by the Sikhs wi

t was not certainly unnatural that

* Delhi Chronicle 11t l
I, 270, » Uth Dec,, 1763; Hakikat, 33; Umdat-ut-Tawarikh,
20 Forster, Travels, Vol. L p. 279
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they should think of him as a'betrayer ef the Sikh cat:)s;: 1211;1:1
a friend of the Durranis. They were ready to turn up Hes
for this treachery and were only dissuaded by .Jtatssz:he Cogn :
Ahluwalia. But Ala Singh had n.los-t p@bably to ]omrove o
federate army in its attack on Sirhind in ordeg to pis s
he was not really serving the él.ltle_reslts. tofwt:;e ast;irgr:r;d .by e
4 sack and destruction of Sirhind 1 ‘
‘tSIillczhs ?(; Bhai Buddha Singh. Ala Sulgh or ;;:Z(i)rc}l;:;;lgdhff
another version Amar Singh purchased it fro_m : 1 i
e o Muhamlmad ?x?g ?dofsg?z'llii;](; t]oh Aia Singh,
‘Ofml"Ztaciisso,nim;f::}qOzzse;;i,CZd tliat he might repeople the
remi S

devastated place. .
Ahmad Shah Abdali invaded the Punjab for tzznfszenil
time in March, 1764.”' But on account of lat lnz oo
Qandahar he was in such a hurry to depzirt tha b_1 i
devote his time and attention to the task of su jl:lig deaf:rh ¥
Sikhs. The defeat of Jahan Khan, the de'feat a}n R
Zain Khan, and Sikh ascendancy even in La 11(;r.~=:E a{1rcum_
neighbourhood must have exasperated the Shah but ci

stances compelled him to retreat within perhaps a fortnight of -

his arrival in Lahore. Risings in Afg11a111if.tgn1, . ;stlt;llivigig?;‘%
i 1 ity in his camp compelled hi r
izi‘sectiif.iigfela;d ’SI?I?ISC q{uick withdrawal was perlllapstt;ezllalo:j:;:)rlﬁ
for the report sent by Raja Durlab Ram to _Ca 'ca? i
23 1764 that there was a rumour that Abc.Ialh W aire ;:t eed e
thé Sikhs.?* According to Khushwaflt Rai 1eS re
Ramnagar on account of Qandahar chsturbjance i g
The Jangnama gives us che most 1;21‘:1:;1; ac;;(;un;ose 5
i | invasion. e came
l{i;gi::;bgurlr;g; u’Em total strength of the' Afghan grmyd “};laiz
30 OOO—A,hmad Shah’s own troops uumbe_rmg 11?,0-(;(,. a;12 .
In’dian troops led by Nasir Khan Baluchi u;lmf e%';rbto d;dde
In the Lahore fort, Ahmad Shah held a counci ob\\ e
how to fight with an enemy who couldlrjlot 'e shid.ing A
Shah was under the impression that the Sik };s \;ez:iedEd P
the Lakhi jungle, 150 miles from Lahore. He de

g P. D, XXIX, 55 58, 73.
2 EURYG, T2 1T
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the

i I]I;e:;tlt ggjt dEStrO_y ¢ them thex:e._ But to his intense surprise
his advanCE-guallfziorn?[Izg th'at a Sikh detachment was attacking
i i . was led by Chharat Singh Sukerchukia.
o d_y advanced to meet the Sikhs but with night-
Amritsar. - 1 htllsappea-red from sight. They retreated to
peared as qui(ﬁd Ya edulpped the Shah with his horsemen ap-
SRS i Y as possible at Amritsar only to find that the
challenged this. qromy Ly 5 1¢ 2150:  But a bang of 30 Sikhs
ik rel?n'ny of 30,000 sacrificing themselves at the
Silhs led by Sardilond They b‘n‘elonged to a band of devoted
s s r urbal'tsh bm.gh who came from a village
il R Sln Amritsar district. T‘he names of three
this devoted) S ingh, Basant Singh and Nihal Singh, of
L Decembelivi 76;312(.3 survived.** This event took place

DOab‘?]?[S;LgT;;Ch?d 'fYOIll Lahore to Sirhind wvia Jalandhar
Stpbles) o s l_Clrc.ultous route becau.se he could get plentiful
inhabited as also gglo-n and because it was an area largely
that as it was the 1 Olcilmated by the Sikhs. Abdali proclaimed
i T an -of the hostiles, his Islamic followers were

. ¥ to plunder it. The Qazi tells us that ““the stomachs

of all, bi
big and small, slaves and slave-girls, were filled with

these fo :
sesame.’}lr ;‘ilsjz'g Sr;?eS}i: ) T ne Sugz{'r-candy and
having already fled S:C % ev?ry town and village, the people
ever, the Sikhs sudq 01 e o jungles. One day, how-
guard led by J;Ih;{n K(;i] ¥ appeared and fell upon the advance-
Previous experience an'_ Bu_t ‘Eha't Afghan general knew from
muskets anq smoulde:' b meet Sikh attacks. ‘I‘he Sikhs had
rushed in the field of 111%'_ wicks refxdy in their hands and they
to the left, Ahmad Salc 101 sometimes to the right, sometimes
d%SHDDEared_ Nasir K} 1ah sent f_eiﬂforcements and the Sikhs
o Warfare ; pe t:c::l Baluchi was inexperienced in suclr
such a chage o bound ¢ 2 bursue them, not knowing that
0 be ineffective but_exposed him un-

HECGS. al‘ily tO the i g
S I‘IS]\ Of i X .
Of I ebI ua!} 3 1 ; 65, tIlG belll OVGI‘W]IQ IIlled . 1& 1 : ]

K ’ h :
arnal (Garh; Kotanat ) 24 alllnre,;(:hed. tIlG neighbourhood of
; : 1e Cis-Sutlej country Abdali
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angnamg, T
2 utroduct;j o
‘BI‘Owne, s uction,
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procecded along the skirts of the hills .and Browne was of
opinion that he pursued this route because he wanted to avoid
any interruption from the Sikhs. He was coming to the aid
of Najib-ud-Daula, who was besieged in the Imperial capital
by Jowahir Singh, son of Suraj Mal, aided by his Maratha and
Sikh allies. Najib had sent a frantic appeal to Abdali. He is
said to have written, “My life has reached my lips. If you
come, I may live. What would your coming mean to me when
I am dead” (Khushwaqgt Rai, 97, my copy). Abdali wrote to
inform him that he was coming. But the news of his approach
was sufficient to induce the enemies of Najib to raise the siege.
At Kunjpura, Ahmad Shah held a council of war. Nasir
Khan Baluchi suggested to the Shah that he should move to
Delhi. He added, ‘‘Bring together all the forces of Najib,
Shuja and the chiefs of Delhi and of the Jats and the Marathas
and then fall upon the heads of these dogs (meaning the Sikhs)
because the hare of a country can only be caught by a dog of
that country.’”’?® But the Durrani sardars expressed their
anxiety to return to Afghanistan and Ahmad Shah decided

accordingly.

On his return journey Ahmad Shah reached the devastated
and deserted city of Sirhind. Ala Singh came to pay his res-
pects to Ahrlad Shah Abdali. He also made some presents.
He has been described by the Qazi as ‘‘a chief, nay a comman-
der of an army, who was a zamindar in the land and a ruler
(hakim), a governor (zabit) and a commissioner (amin) . . .
nobody else is so resourceful in the countries of the Punjab,
Lahore and Sirhind as he is.”” Abdali expressed his desire
to conciliate the zamindars. He was willing even to forgive
the past sins of the Sikh chiefs if they submitted to him. He
made a grant of Sirhind to Ala Singh, gave him a dress of
honour, and bestowed upon him a dress, a banner.

From Sirhind, Abdali marched to Lahore. As he crossed
the Sutlej and entered the Jalandhar Doab, he heard that the
Sikhs were assembled at Amritsar, ready for a fight. But the
Durrani advance-guard very soon came into contact with the
Sikhs. Abdali is said to have remarked: “What! during this
reign of my own, my own palanquin is trembling at the hands

25 3
Jangnama, Introduction.
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of the Sikhs. When Ay own army is sluggish in the holy war,
it is quite proper that the Sikhs come rushing upon them.”

This time the Sikhs fought in regular battle formation. It
Was not mere skirmishing. ‘I‘he Shah was in his usual battle-
array—himself in the middle, Shah Wali Khan, Sardar Jahan
Khan, Shah Pasand Khan and others on his right, his Indian
ally Nasir Khan Baluchi on his left. On the Sikh side, Jassa
Singh Kalal stood like a mountain in the middle with Jassa
Singh Thoka. On the right wing were Chharat Singh Suker-
chukia, Jhanda Singh Bhangi and Jai Singh Kanheya. On the
left were the Bhangi chiefs, Gulab Singh, Gujar Singh as also
Hari Singh and Ram Das. The Sikhs wanted to dislocate
Abdali’s battle-array by trick-flights and almost succeeded on
the Afghan right wing. As the Afghans on the right wing
pursued the Sikhs, that side becam
turned back and pressed the Afghans on that wing. Nasir
Khan was asked to go to the relief of the Afghan right. The
Sikhs had to fall back but the Khan fell into the trap, began
to pursue and narrowly escaped being cut down.

On the second day, as Abdali advanced about three miles,
the Sikhs again came. The Qazi describes them as “‘stone-
hearted and strong-armed infidels.”’ On this day the Sikh
right formed the left wing and their left became their right,
their advance-guard became their rear-guard and their rear-
guard became their advance-guard, ‘The Afghans attacked,
the Sikhs fel] back. Ahdali’s order of the day may be thus

summarised—“Keep yourself riveted like the mountain Qaf’’'—
one to go ahead, none to fall back,

On the thirq day “they came, fired their muskets from a

om the battlefielq without any shame or

same frequency.” For s

running fight continued
Beas, Ahmaq S

even days from morning to evening this
- The Afghan army then crossed the
hah personalty superintending the crossing from

Abdali wag not hampered

Went his way back ts Kabul ip
he made a

grant of Quetty to
he management of

by the Sikhs any further and he
a leisurely manner. At Rohtas,
Nasir Khan and asked him to
Derajat, Multan and Jhang but

€ exposed, some Sikh troops -
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the Khan knew very well that thish\}fou}iflnfem;;‘gllilnilgnt };veltl‘:)t &t;;e
ikhs he as also other Baluchi chiefs T
:‘.?‘Ill\(lzmrei:gatl zf Abdali most probably t.ook place abc?ut At;l)]relll;
1765. The Sikhs were now in Amritsar celebrating ,
isakhi festival. 3 o ]
Balsz'lll‘\llll;yfemust have also colme to La]llotrli fi:iblg;rel\sltzld 1215112
here. ‘They made trenches around : . !
:iglt)hteisrf)f Kabﬁli Mal and occupied Lahore. Tile 1\2‘;}; :;z:
parcelled into three lots. The soutl?ern part 11'1111 ;) = g ive;
was given to Sobha Singh, the haveli of Ka.bu i '.173 el
to Gujar Singh, the 1'nteriors.|:11\f1 the fs;;e;aﬁnzn :;1: ey
Singh.*® ‘The triumphant Sikhs co e b
: i d, almost pure silver w
:Sé;:ll;tltgﬁ ﬁ‘f;l;cegcl(::ns’l‘(()aghg,ooF;ateh.“ Th'_us \\'3257 publicly pro-
claimed the establishment of Sikh sov?relgnty. B o
It should be noted, however, that it was most pt('i(?a tiOny 5
this expedition that Ala Singh, on the recommeIfl i W
Shah Wali Khan, was confirmed as the Chakladar ? irhi .ht
Thus here the policy of conciliatior{, for the first tm_le thoug :
of in 1762, was continued. For this reason, the main body of
the Sikhs looked with distru;at up‘o]n th; Ill::l]; \;];;1:1 ;};z ];?;;?1?;
“hief invariably made friends with. Shor ; gl
tltﬁgl.ms‘i?{ln ba}rrlds actually invaded Patiala terr-ltorir and cﬁll\Tfar];l]Jn
ud-Daulah who was the Indian ngntl (?f ibdah, advance
z to Mustafabad to help him.*
Kun'II‘Ll?::eSt;ihs were free for about t}\'o years.‘ Ilj. 176::1, eAg;E;cl
Shah invaded India for the last tlfllc. Th;s tutnc bult s a
did not fly in a body to the mountan_ls zlmd1 01:(35.5,ﬂr e
large part of the army adopted very effective 10\-er.1n;,h‘ e i
i1 tics. About 10 kes from Rohtas Ballam Sing _a :
b‘mg 2 ; 7 000 or 8,000 horse attempted to check Durrani
el “:l'tI]‘ll : failed. ,In the Jech Doab another attempt was
e 1 leySikhs. This was equally unsuccessful. .The
:22:;2 :allien by the Durrani invader to thwart the Sikhs

e, Shef .1, 163. :
_"'BUmdﬂt_“t-Tawgsr;:Lhéq‘rtO]I 71. The Peshwa Daftar, Vol. 20, letter
N 2'?:’;T AIIIS‘ B'éh;t the Sikh Sardars®were at Amritsar in connection
0. 73, tells us

I 64.
with the Dijvali. This was in October, 17
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46 RISE OF THE SIKH POWER

also proved futile, He levied a contribution of one lakh and
a half rupees from the zamindars of Aurangabad, Pasrur, Gujrat
and Sialkot, “owing to several Sikhs being concealed in the
neighbouring villages.”’ They “‘engaged not to give protection
to the Sikhs and should a Sikh fall into their hands to send
him to the Shah to undergo condign punishment.””®® Qp his
approach the conjoint rulers of Lahore fled either to Kasur
or to the south towards Multan. Under the guidance of Jassa
Singh Ahluwalia, the Sikhs, with an army of forty thousand,
divided into three detachments, hovered round the Shah but
made no attempt to come to a close cngagement. However
much he tried to tempt them into an engagement, he did not
sticceed, They always kept at a distance of 10/15 kos from
him.®* He even wrote to Jassa Singh Kalal and other Sikh
sardars to the effect that ‘‘if they were desirous of entering his
service, they should come and join him.” We can illustrate
the effectiveness of Sikh tactics from one instance, On the
[7th January, 1767, Jahan Khan with 15,000 horse went out to
plunder and reached the neighbourhood of Amritsar, Here the
Sikhs engaged him and after three or four hours’ fight, killed

‘many of the Durranis and even wounded Jahan Khan who re-

treated. On receiving the news, Ahmad Shah came to his
rescue, fell upon the Sikhs and sent them flying towards
Lahore. In the meantime, some of the Sikhs attacked his bag-
gage and Nasir Khan Baluch, who was in charge of it, had
great difficulty in driving them away.” The policy of con-
ciliation, which had originated with Shah Wali Khan, the
Wazir, was never lost sight of. Gujar Singh and Latta Singh
\\'er.e introduced to the Shah by the wazir., They were given
Jz}glrs and taken into service, Jassa Singh Kalal, the great
Sikh leader, retired wounded to a village, whose zamindar
¢ would be plundered on his
ated towards the jungles. ‘The Sikhs
der Nasir Khan, besides plundering

HEAD. @ 106, 113
" Ibid, 3.
* Ibid.. 65. v

AFTER PANIPAT 47

towards Delhi, they plundered his bagggge near E[,ahorc? ar?d
bressed so hard his brother-in-law, who was with his family IE
the fort that he had to appeal to Ahmad Shah to come bac-
to his rescue and the Durrani chief had actually to march. baIcL,
whereupon they retreated. The Sikhs could carry out th‘{S D 11:
of operations with such success because the. zammcllars were ﬁl
general so friendly to them that it was their practice :10- gotl ;
the night to the village and get refrc_esl_nnents tziere an : 1nﬂ_ ;t
day to come out and harass the Durrax.n troops: . The urr.t;e.n
advance of Ahmad Shah Abdali in this expedition was \mI Eu
five days’ march of Delhi. Najib-u-_:i-DauIa came toS}s;e; ;Ost
at Ismailabad. In the Cis-Sutlej region also Ahmai a i
no opportunity of arresting the .SlkhS who hsa'i] ta fter;en :33
in places supposed to be_inacces;nble. M.any i "]S; v e i
captives in the hills of Mani M.ajra. A gifftpﬁanua, oil gSikhS
raid had to be made in the territory of _Na_ub because: he :

had taken advantage of his absence .m the'Duraru caml?' ,o
plunder his territory. Jahan Khan, with Zabita Khan, Najib’s
son, took part in this fighting raid.®* Tt was propog;ed to make
Zabita Khan the fouzdar of Sirhind but the advice of .Shah
Wali Khan prevailed and Amar Singh, grz.mdson of _Al_a Sl.ngh,
was entrusted with the district, with the title ‘of Raja-i-Rajgan.
Thus the policy of divide et impera continued under the
advice of the astute wazir. It is said, of couvrse‘, that ,ﬂie
widow of Ala Singh had heavily bribed the wamal; 1r71 orcliler 2
induce him to take up the cause of her grandson. Lhu(s; “.raq

Rai says that Kabuli Mal also made the same recommendation.

Abdali now turned back. Some - of his own soli}ers
mutinied, because they had not got t‘helr .pay for .a_ longT;me
and could not get sufficient plunder in this expedmoE: 5 1(;3:;
left for Afghanistan in defiance of the o.rder_-of th:iS %;?th
commander, before whom they had at one time trembled. e
a consciousness of his ultimate failurt—?, he also con]lnefncl:;) 01)15
Tetreat back to Afghanistan. "It is said that a band o ]

! ; i
Sikhs assembled at Amritsar to give the Shah a fight. Bu

i iti em
Abdali was not. perhaps in a position to meet th

BCB. C; ITS107C, (161A.
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(C. P. C,, II, 345). 'This was his last expedition. It was now
clear to every body that the Sikhs were so strong in numbers that
it was impossible for the Shah to reduce them in the existing
circumstances. As soon as he turned back, the Sikhs appeared
in all their force. Lahore was re-occupied as also the entire
open country. Before the end of the year 1768 the Sikhs
under Chharat Singh even besieged Rohtas and took: that
famous fortress.”® Ahmad Shah ‘“‘abandoned the Manjha
districts and the central Punjab including Lahore to the
Sikhs ; but the Sindhsagar and Jech Doabs in the western
Punjab remained a debatable land which finally came into
their possession in the days of his unworthy successors’ 157

It is apparent that Ahmad Shah Abdali, with all his
military‘ genius and the tradition of victory that attached to
his name, failed to ““drive to the mansions of perdition this
infidel race, the fomenters of all mischief,”*® as Shah Alam II
had expected he would. We naturally ask ourselves, what

are the causes of the failure of the great Durrani conqueror and
the success of the Sikhs,

In the first place, the Sikh method of warfare was
admirably well suited to the circumstances. ‘They kept the
golden mean between precipitate action and total inaction.
Against such a general as Ahmad Shah Abdali, they could not
hope to succeed in a pitched battle, Very adroitly therefore
they would withdraw on his approach, cut off his supplies.
plunder his convoys, hang on his marches and put to death the
stragglers. The writer of the Jangnama wrote: “If their
armies take to flight, do not take it as an actual flight. It is
a' war tactic of theirs, Beware, beware of them for a second
GLIT) GRS they turn back to face their pursuers and set
fire even to water.”

Their plan was to ruin
one occasion were the
the Durrani

him without fighting. On 01.11}’
Y surprised into a pitched battle with
conqueror and in thig they« w letely
7 . > vy were comp

worsted.  Otherwise, the Sikh plan of warfate was regularly

2 Elphinstone, 297,

" Sarkar, Fall of the M
0 : Mughal Empi
&= Francklin, Shah Alam.g Emmre, R0
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followed from 1748 to 1767 and with ,conspicuous . success.
Ahmad Shah could not reach them in their mountain retreats.
Moreover the zamindars and the ordinary peasants befriended
the Sikhs in many ways, for they knew that the Durrani was
a mere bird of passage and after his return the Sikhs would
give the greatest trouble for any disservice d'one t.o them. It
must always be kept in mind that this cunning Sikh strategy
could only succeed because of popular sympathy and support,
partly inspired by admiration and partly by fear. _

Tt is the important posts that must be held. One ought
not to go everywhere’’—so wrote Napoleon to .Savary,
instructing him how best to conduct the war agamst; the
Spanish insurgents. These are very weighty words app.hcable
also to the Sikh uprising against Durrani dominion in the
Punjab. Ahmad Shah Abdali could not spare a sufficient
number of soldiers in the Punjab to prevent the Sikhs from
recovering their possession and power. Naturally, therefore,
he stationed his lieutenants in important strategic positions like
Gujrat, Rohtas, Lahore, Sirhind and Multan. But the number
of soldiers placed under them was hopelessly inadequate to
hold even the ground on which they stood. Moreover, none
of his lieutenants in the Punjab, seemed to possess the two
primary virtues of tact and resourcefulness that go so much
to make a successful administrator. His son, Timur Shah,
was for one year his governor in the Punjab. But like Joseph
Bonaparte in Spain, he was lamentably unfit for the part he
was to play against a national opposition so baffling, so elusive
and so wearing. Jahan Khan was no doubt a brilliant cavalry
leader, but he was equally the most tactless of administrators.
The rapidity with which he antagonised Adina Beg and the
Sikhs, proves the truth of this statement. Another lieutenant
of the Afghan king, Zain Khan, later stationed in Sirhind,
was dishonest and parsimonious and he alienated even the
soldiery under him, by not paying them. As Ahmad Shah
could not spare a sufficient number of troops to watch over
his interests in the Punjab, he should have attempted to create
a party in his favour that would be sufficiently strong by itself.
But with characteristic shortsightedness, he relied at first only
on the terror of his name and the might of his arms. Every
time he came, he left terrible monuments of his vengeance.

4
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But it is a well-known fact that oppression strengthens the
oppressed. Sikh courage remrained unimpaired while Sikh
resentment increased. He had possibly neither the time nor
jche resources to enable him to begin, much less to persevere
in a successful drive against the Sikhs in their mountain’
retrea‘its, as Mir Mannu had at one time attempted. The policy
of divide et impera, conciliating one section and repressin'g
another, taking advantage of the differences and discords, was
begun by him a decade too late. The attempts to drive’ in a
\\-'.edge between the Manjha and Malwa Sikhs, was made by
htm.ouly when the first policy had failed and the Afehan
empire in India was in its last gasp. %

An individual, however gifted, however great, is always
at a disadvantage in fighting with a nation in arms. fired b).r
a-consciousness of its own destiny. Rodgers thinks: that the
success of the Sikhs can be accounted for by four causes—
religiousness, quaintness, spirit of self-denial and an open
house. It must further be admitted that “‘of the two great
soldierly virtues, constancy in disaster and hopefulness in
defeat, no people striving for independence, ever possessed a
%arger share.” Moreover, Abdali’s method of warfare defeated
its own purpose. It enabled the Sikhs to organise war by
means of war. On many occasions, when Timnr Shah, the
son‘and successor of Ahmad Shah, was pressed by his courtiers
to invade the Punjab, he would remark, “What benefit did
father derive from his Indian expeditions? ‘T‘hese expeditions
w.ere, on the other hand, responsible for the prosperity of the
Sikhs.””**  The Sikhs knew quite well how to avert the conse-
(}i‘l;:eencscfi Ic>fda defeat and how to turn victories to good account.
Sin:z_hlalld f}la;; aglirtllyﬁ.ho flg:lallealth%?;z;i, i Orga“_ised A
; : ) a great instrument for
the.assertlon of the supremacy of the Khalsa. It showed a
terrible vitality, and grew into a mighty tide. It arrived
through a series of reverses at a compﬁe vic:tory. ;

neceAhma(} Shah is said to have remarked that it would be
ssary for the complete reduction of Sikh power to wait

:::11 the:1r religious fervour had evaporated. As yet the Sikh
munity as a body-politic was without an element of decay.

) Umdat-ut-Tawarikh, 1, 166,

é
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As a warrior nation, they presented an almost united front, the
lapse on the part of the house of Patiala, of course, excepted.
As Ranade remarks in connection with the Maratha -war of
independence, ‘‘mere freebooters and plunderers never could

" have obtained success in such a war against such a foe. It

was a higher moral force which brought out all the virtues of
the best men of the nation.”” This statement is true of the
Sikh nation as well. Even the writer of the Jangnama, who
was no friend of the Sikhs wrote, ‘‘Leaving aside their mode
of fighting, hear you another point in which they excel all
other fighting people :—

In no case would they slay a coward or put any obstacle
in the way of the fugitive.

They do not plunder the wealth and ornaments of a
woman, be she a well-to-do lady or a maid servant.”’

Security of the western Afghan frontier was absolutely
necessary, if ‘Ahmad Shah was to succeed against the Sikhs.
But his western frontier was insecure and there were frequent
rebellions in Afghanistan that often diverted his attention from
the east. His empire extended ‘‘from the west of Khorasan
to Sirhind and from the Oxus to the sea.” Herat, Nishapur,
the remoter parts of Khorasan, Meshed and other regions,
constantly demanded his attention. In 1752, there was.a
rebellion of the nephew of Ahmad Shah as also of the Khaljis.
In 1756, there were disturbances in the direction of Persia and
Turkestan. In 1758, there was a rebellion in Baluchistan. In
1763, there was an insurrection in Qandahar, another in Herat.
In 1768, there was a great rebellion in Khorasan, occasioned
by Nasirullah Mirza. Most of the Persian chiefs took part
in it and a great battle had to be fought at Meshed. These
ever-recurring  disturbances prevented Ahmad Shah from
ng undivided attention to the Sikh people.

For the successful termination of the Sikh war of inde-
give the credit to the entire nation, mnot
to any individual. That would be against the spirit of the
whole enterprise. But an exception must be made in favour
of Jassa Singh Ahluwalia. To a large extent, he was the
many of those apparently isolated undertakings that
brought the war of liberation to a successful termi-

givi

pendence, we should

soul of 1
ultimately
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nation. Sikh victories over Jahan Khan and the Afghans of
Kasur were won under his leadership. The Sarbut Khalsa
would invariably nominate him as the commander in all its
combined undertakings. But his ascendancy was precisely that
which superior minds acquire in times of difficulty. No badge
distinguished him from the common soldiers. ‘The Sikh horse-
man recognised his general in the most handsome tall ficure
and by the fact that he surpassed every one of his men in
temperance as well as in toil, in valour as also in conduct. He
was more than anything else a religious man and the greatest
Sikh chieftains like Amar Singh of Patiala would consider it
an honour to be initiated by him. His firmness was allied to
his piety and it never made him falter in his determination to
resist. Retreat was ever open to him : but he never succumbed
to the temptation to which Ala Singh was a victim. In 1767,
Ahmad Shah made a special effort to win him over and it is
a certainty that at any stage of the struggle the Durrani chief
would have been only too glad not only to pardon him but
also to grant him lands and titles as he had done in the case
of the Patiala chieftain. But he never faltered. What further
raised him above others, was the utter absence of jealousy in
his mind. He was a whole-souled patriot and yet for the sake
of unity he would at times tolerate the lapses cf others. Ala
Singh was very jealous of him, but after Ala Singh’s submis-
sion to the Durrani chief, it was Jassa Singh Ahluwalia’s
persuasions that ultimately prevented the Sikhs from falling
upon the Patiala chieftain and they agreed to spare him on
his joining the Sikh army in its attack on Sirhind.*® His
career a romantic alternation of victories and escapes, his
courage and patriotism a theme of admiration and emulation,

“* A zealous Delhi agent forced Gajpat Singh of Jind to conform
outwardly to Muhammadanism, as a punishment for mon-payment of
rent. Jassa Singh took his meals with him, gave him Sufidon and
Karnal, asserting most emphatically that forced conversion should not
be regardt?d by the panth as conversion at all (Khushwaqt Rai). On
one occasion in 1766, he visited Patiala in the company of Bhagail
Singh Rarorasinghia. The latter, conscious of the wez]k state of
I’a'tiala defence asked the Ahluwalia chief to co-operate with him to
seize Patiala by force. The sugggstion was contemptuously hrushed

asxd? and Amar Singh of Patiala was given timely information
(Patiala records—Sardar Banerjee), .
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his moral qualities and most conspicuously= his piety a §upport
and consolation even in the darkest hour, he was like the
legendary British knight, who could say in the language of

the poet—

“My good blade carves the casques of men
My tough lance thrusteth sure;

My strength is as the strength of ten
Because my heart is pure.”




CHAPTER V
De facto Sixm SOVEREIGNTY—FEEBLE AFGHAN OPPOSITION

The‘sovereignty of the Sikhs was practically established in
thfe Punjab. They also asserted de jure authority, althougl
t:!'IIS clashed with the Afghan claim. In those days, 1o a o
t1on’ of authority could be held as valid unless it was accsc?:x:-
R%l;ei 'tzy an issue of coins. As Whitehead writes—
4 gr(;':; ;ggszlya nl;l ;;Ceﬂestzife of .civilization here obtaining

1 ispersio i
was _singularly well adapted top mal«:Ie1 lgfan?fe:te\ro rt?:ealcodewce
hension of all classes, the immediate change in the sun;'grrxf :
royal power. In places where men did not print, these stfm ec;
moneys obtruding into every bazar, constituted,the most effec-

ter manIfEStoe D
S 5
aIld IOCI&II!HEIO]]S h‘l]man 1 = t

A I;I;;e ;Sfltlfahsﬂsire said t.o have s?ruck coins for the first time
& » after the expulsion .of Timur Shah and Jahan Khan.
ese coins bore the following inscription :—‘“Coined by the
?race of. Khalsaji in the country of Ahmad, ébnquered by
a::idiféni? GKalal.”2 But no such coin has survived and
- z}t}nesh ]?as, a very late writer, these coins were
R ty qa‘ms and mullahs and sent to Ahmad Shah
s ct 1f }.mn to fal% upon the Sikhs for this open
il auh orl‘q.r. The idea that Jassa Singh Ahluwalia
0 the coins of Khalsa the inscription ““Mullk-i-

Ahmad grift Jassa K - .
unfiiely. 2 a Kalal,” is highly absurd and absolutely

"Whitehead, Cat
Tntroduction,

:Brewne, India Tracts, II

Dr SE, R Gupta writeg
gress, 1938, 431; Studies ip
313) : “Hven Dr. Sinha witho

alogue of Coins in .the Lahore Musenm, Vol. III,

y P 19; 'Malcolm, Sketch, 95,
(Proceedings of the Indian History Con-
Later Mughal History of the Punjab,
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The Sikh Commonwealth really strugk coins for the first
time in 1765, with the inscription—

“Degh O Tegh O Fateh O Nasrat-i-bedirang.
Yaft az Nanak Guru Gobind Singh.”

and he bases his conclusion on a statement of the contemporary author
of Khazana-i-Amira, who says, ‘“They raised a person named Jassa
Singh from among themselves to the status of a King and like the
demon they made him sit on the throne of Jamshid and blackened the
face of the coin with his name.” Besides the author of Khazana-i-
Amira some other semi-contemporary as also later writers refer to this
coining. Browne is most definite on this point. He wrote, “I have
several of these in my possession.” It must be admitted that it is
difficult to deny the fact of coinage and I have nowhere done it.
But even if these coins were struck, would it be proper to assert
that they were authorized official issues of the Sikh commonwealth ?
No such coin has survived and this is strange in view of Browne’s
statement that they were “‘current for about 15 years (?) and then the
grand diet of the Sikh chiefs called in all these rupees and struck
them in the names of Gooroo Nanak and Gooroo Gobind Singh.” This
cherished heirloom. Lepel Griffin wrote, “The Raja

coin is mnot a
know any one who

of Kapurthala has none in his possession, nor do I
As Dr. Gupta argues, coining in April, 1758, is absolute'y
unlikely in view of the silence of the Peshwa Daftar and Miskin.
But Dr. Gupta’s date Nov. 1761 is not also supported by the evidence
of the Peshwa' Daftar. A Marathi letter of Nov. 1761, merely says,
«The Sikhs are causing tumult in the Lahore region.” That does
not mean that they seized Lahore in Nov. 1761.

Tven Dr. Gupta admits that such a coinage, so improper for the
Silkhs and so much opposed to the general trend of their history
could only have been dome in the excitement of the hour. I should
add that in the absence of numismatic evidence if we are to rely
upon literary evidence about a coin, the inherent improbabilities should
not be ignored and sought to be explained away. There is an almost
identical case with regard to Himu. A contemporary, Ahmad Yadgar
savs that before the second battle of Panipat Himu threw off his
aIfegiance to his master Adil Shah and struck coins in his name.
But no coin of Himu has survived and no other contemporary writer
refers to it. In the light of modern research the statement of
Ahmad VYadgar stamls disproved. Gullible Chroniclers, one copying
from the other, the author of the Siyar copying from the Khazana-i-
Amira for his Punjab portion, the author of Tarikh-i-Muzaffari copying
from both, should not be arranged in succession in a footnote to con-
vert a doubtful proposition into an emphatic one. Jassa Singh’s self-
sacrificing personality has so mitich impressed itself upon my mind
that I am very much disinclined to associate him with a measure, so

has one.”
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" Kettle "(symbol of feeding the poor),
power), victory and unhesitating
Singh obtained from Nanak.

sword (symbol of
patronage, Gurn Gobind

Gobind Shahi coins of this type have been found from
1822 Samvat to 1834 Samvat with an interruption in 1823-24
Samvat, caused by Ahmad Shah’s last descent on India. In
1835 Samvat, i.e., 1778 A.D., we find Nanak Shahi coins with
a “different inscription which can be translated thus—*‘the
man - of victory obtained by ‘the exertion of Guru Gobind
Singh and the grace of king Nanak, struck this coin in each
of the two worlds.” In a coin of the year 1841 Samvat or

1784 A.D., occurs the word “ahad” which, if we follow the
Mughal precedent, means the beginning of a new government.
What new

ascendancy can it refer to?
ascendancy of Maha Singh only to brush
self. There is no me

Rodgers suggests the
aside his theory him-
ans to shed any new light on this point.”
Sikh sway was thus firmly established in the Punjab as
the uninterrupted issue of their coins indicates. Between 1767
and 1773 the Sikhs practically extended their
Sz_aharanpur in the east to Attock in the w
the south ‘to Kangra and Jammu in the
the successor of Ahmad Shah,

power from
est, from Multan in
~north.  Timur Shah,
was a peaceful man.® He

selfish, so undemocratic

on the basis -of such - e
Ganesh Das pace Dr., Gu

vidence as available:
pta was perhaps right when he said that these
coins were spurious, Even Ranjit Singh in the plenitude of his powers
never left the impress of his name ‘on the coins. ‘I'he theocratic ze";l
and the democratic Spirit were far too deep-rooted to allow any indivi-

dual to do such o highly objectionable thing. Sikh
such a living force in those day.

democracy was
that no Sikh, however highly

s of Sikh struggle against the Durranis

Placed, would dare flout the Khalsa 11‘
such' a way. Lastly, Jassa Singh  Ahluwalia, that jdeal democratic

leader, Conspicuous for his Spirit of self-sacrifice, was too faithful a
follower of the tomimonwealth

and too whole-souled g patriot 10

attempt to distinguish n; in a way so revolting to a Sikh.
‘J. ALS. B., 1881, Part ], 71 : “On the Caing of the Sikhs.”—
C. J. Rodgers. i
“British Records—p
July, 1789 (No, 2); B
(Nos. 3 and 4), and
Timur’s pacific nature
continued all through

oreign, Secret and P
oreign Secret Consult:
many other letters [«
» thongh alariis of
the period.

olitical Proceedings, 26th
ation, 20th January, 1789
onfirm the impression Of
mpending Durrani inroads
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to subdue the

: ttempting
il r's policy of a : S Te onfe-
abandon’eIﬁ In;ilfli;hefonned themselves into misls or c
Sikhs. 1€

] y ed :—
deracies. ‘T'welve misls were form

] r of this misl was .Chl}a]a
_The Bhangi B,?Sl];;’fii f:?;:‘lsl;dsmerges. T °b5°“i.‘j§' ;I:ltco
Singh of P§JIJ\\al'f- histo}v under Hari Singh. H; \Uh The
the full view o Sin h.‘: After him came qu?da. ilnbbe-tween
ceeded by jhanfl ¥Y. lg has been variously estm?.a te' h estab-
strength of this s e. Even before 1767, Hﬂtl Sl.l.ltgrict-and
L0/000%en {20 L0 11‘4;1‘51_5- at Gilwali in Amritsar (.h; indi was
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practically no artilleryr and they could not have been adequately
equipped with siege trains. Jhanda Singh succeeded in his
third attempt because he was this time fortunate enough to
get the support of a disaffected party in Multan. Tt was con-
quered and annexed.” They also conquered Kasur. In 1770,
the Bhangi sardars, Jhanda Singh and Ganda Singh killed one
of the Kasur chiefs and captured the fortified hamlets. ““T‘he
territory was divided among the various chiefs. Kot Khwaja
Husain fell to the lot of Golab Singh Bhangi who after appoint-
ing his officials left the town for Amritsar,'® The rule of the
Bhangis extended in 1773 from Lahore and Amritsar up to
Multan in the south, Gujrat in the north-west and Jammu in
the north. ILahore was occupied by three Bhangi chieftains,
Lehna Singh, Gujar Singh and Shova Singh as early as 1765.!
Sardar Gujar Singh had also marched that very year against
Mukarrab Khan, whose power extended from the Chenab to
the Indus. Mukarrab Khan was defeated and gave up his
possessions in the Doab between the Jhelum and the Chenab.
He made his headquarters at Gujrat. His power even extended
up to the Salt Range. He conquered Rohtas with the help
of Chharat Singh Sukerchakia, with whom “he divided the
upper Punjab.””'®* Under Hari Singh, Jhanda Singh and
Ganda Singh, the Bhangi misl was so powerful that the uni-
fication of the whole of the trans-Sutlej Punjab under its sway,
appeared to be quite in the fitness of things but decline set
in very rapidly and the confederacy was one of the earliest to
be dissolved : it was absorbed by one of its fortunate rivals—
the Sukerchakia misl, Throughout the Misl period, the Bhangis

in league with the Ramgarhias were opposed to the Kanheyas
in league with the Sukerchakias.

The Ahluwalia Misl.—Tts real founder was Jassa Singh
Kalal, the leader of the Khalsa in its struggle for independence
against the Durranis, He established his own sway in the
Jalandhar Doab and made Kapurthala his headquarters. 'The
strength of this wmisl was estimated at 3,000 itorse.

‘Hakikat, 36.

“Islamic Culture, July, 1929 (Sairistan, 14).
"Umdat-ut-Tawarikh, p. 163. ‘

“Punjab Gazetteer, Gujrat Distrigt.
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The Fyzullapuria Misl—Was fOL‘ll-‘lde by Kapur "Siuihé
who led the Sikhs in the struggle for independence aga1tr.15 5 (:d
decadent Mughal empire. This misl’s strength'was es 1m.r :

i d quite early in his career seize
at” about 2,500 horse. (He ha : 55
the vilIaae’of Fyzullapur which lent its name to the misl.)

(=]

The Ramgarhia Misl.—The real founder of th;s I{J;fjag:z
o - T
Jassa Singh Thoka. He had during the war o(K hl o
' 21 ith 100 horsemen us
lina Beg for four years witlh ¥ f :
;Qr_‘SEd %(el once :ejoined his compatriots but again to;)L Sei‘::e
ai). ” ot 11
under the Moslems. Thus he did not by al1ly T F ;%;atio;
3 : iod of the war o
ring the earlier perio 5
nc_)l_)lletlparltmil:anig But late in the course of the strtﬁgflehzl;f
‘Vldzt 1;: dly able man served the commonw.ealth .wf 0 ;—)r i
:;11 : lalfd \):ras responsible, along with othe.r Sikh .chm st, e
defe}a::c of Jahan Khan and Zain Khan._ His coptmgi;la'ib =
et Qi Ao ihat helped Jowahir Singh against JA- Lo
1K 3
restored Ram Rouni and conquered Bi;alac’laials? a:Eir'\rersity his
& 11 (<]
fes well illustrates ho“. n i 4B
tradmon’ s stinet would sometimes be overpfj\\ered by e
e S During the viceroyalty of Mir Mannu,
as once besieged by the Muhammadans.

e ina Beg and was in the ranks
Jassa Singl1 'I‘-hOkaBl:tldtth 12:1(11— cAr?;:[;f his hardpressed c01nrf;1d:.t32
Of. th.e beSIEieri' aroused all his nobler instincts and_ he \\{'zin
within the '_orﬂr for forgiveness and expressing a desire to J .
a letter., asLlnoH attached the letter to an arrow and Qroppe
the bes:1eged. e T e pardoned and. permitted to
i't -withm th? fm(-‘{t'” This is a tradition that well illustrates the
join the bes1ef—?£<'3_1\;1 struggle for independence. A§ soon as tlie
pate of o lras cone, the self-seeking instinct of ths:,a
common dan%er't;;lf DHE was the type of the sel‘f—seekmgi
Singh a:c,scrte 1 of- this period (1767-99). He had bogndar_\
fierce Sikh bar‘?ﬂh Jassa Singh Ahluwalia. He fought with the
oy 'even' iy feated 1111;1, made him a prisoner but released
Alhluwalla ChIEf,lc'leue resents. But that universally res.,pected
h%m i léuﬁotpfo.rget this humiliation. He was 1n pos-
Slk}} leadelg iﬂila and Kalanaur. Later, in the course .of a strug-
;?SSlg-Iilt}?fJa? iginrrh Kanheya, Jassa Singh Ahluwalia and the

e / 1=3

o

commonwealth.
fort of Ram Roum W

13panth Prakash, 515.
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Chief of Katoch he was defeated and expelled from his posses-
sions and had to pursue the career of a daring freebooter in the
Cis-Sutlej region. He carried on his plundering raids even into
the heart of the Doab between the Ganges and the Jumna. In
conjunction with Maha Singh, the Sukerchalia chieftain, he
succeeded in recovering a part of his possessions from the
Kanheyas. This misl’s strength was estimated at 3,000 horse.
The Kanheya Misl.—Its chief was Jai Singh.
prominence during the Sikh strugg
He occupied Pathankot, Hajipur,
other places,

He came into
le with Ahmad Shah Abdali.
Dharmkot, Adinanagar and
realized nazrana from Jammu and Jasrota and for
some time even occupied Kangra (Khushwaqt Rai, ff. 148-51,
my copy). In alliance with Chharat Singh of the Suke
Misl, he fought with Jhanda Singh on the banks of the
tar river near Jammu. Chharat Singh died as a result of the
bursting of a matchlock and it is said Jai Singh had Jhanda
Singh assassinated. Jai Singh next ousted Jassa Singh Ram-
garhia.and annexed his possessions. He also acquired a great
acendency over the hill rajas. But when the expelled Ram-
garhia chieftain and Chharat Singl’s son, Maha Singh, joined
in an alliance with Sansar Chand of Katoch, Jai Singh was
defeated and his son, Gurbaksh Singh, was slain, Most of the
possessions of Jassa Singh Ramgarhia had to be restored. ‘This
1;:1'5! entered upon its period of decline,

The Sukerchakia Misl—Was founded by Chharat Singh.
It immediately came into prominence under him. According
to the writer of Hakikat, Chharat Singh “occupied that side

of Lahore which was called Char Mahai (Sialkot, Pasrur, Gujrat
and Aurangabad) and

; . whose boundary extended to the side
of the river at Attock.” Its power steadily increased under his
son, Maha Singh

: » Who might haye anticipated Ranjit Singh
if he had not died Prematurely, 4 ‘Jl P

The Nakkaj Misl—Wag established in the cq
west of Tahore bordering on Multan.
its chief was Ran Singh under w (
of its power. '

The Dalewalia M
Dalewal on the Ravi,
was Tara Singh Gheba,
bered about 7,500,

rchakia
Basan-

untry south-
About the year 1773,
hom the misk reached the zenith

isl.——Derived its
Its most promi
The troops

hame from the village
nent chief at one time
under his control num-
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. is misl, had its territories in
. 4 Sinehia Misl.—This misl; had its
The Karora Singhia M i ras
the Cis-Sutlej region as also in the ]ala?dhal" DOa}J- il IStin‘ch]:
1 adec{ first by Karora Singh and after him by Balgl md ant:"t:
10 < Ay e = D:
HLe was a chief of much consequence. e took full advant
of the weakness of the Delhi EONG onenny the Cis-Sutlej re-
The Shahid and Nihang MISI—Layoll)n ’;‘;1 Nishanwalas
\ +th was estimated at 2,000. £ g
ion. Its strength was es . r head-
il:i the standard-bearers of the Dal Khalsa aTld had Sth:;fy i
‘ o th at one time wa
- 1bala. ‘Their streng / vev ap-
q'lcllartelils atlggﬂo according to Murray, which, howevers D
siderable—12,
. : 1btful. x ed
I’Cﬂf-?rlto ]1333 zjzzta,s of Patiala, Nabha, Jind and If)}’thaﬁ :;)rmof
he LhulR? s ocd in its different branches.
is isl in its diffe
important Cis-Sutlej mis s t he had
t.he mos’_c ;mp hief Amar Singh, it has been .sﬂld gla. O hahin
=S PatI‘a 7 : seven thousand sowar under him auf fi”Jt’ o
‘“‘six or Seve ; <
k) ‘731\;05 or 6 strong forts and a 1e‘\:enuc o1 . ?ailindar
mfly T ,?,,i He has been described as a Padsl}lla léf Sirhind.””
Rl the jungly country and in the pArgags 2 e
ey ]ei\]fcs the following list of Sikh S_ardars \\'
1 Bro}\’zfei residence and the number of their forces:
places o :

> 2 . ot.
= eSlde ce Iq ames Of \3:11 dars. se o]
aces Of R 11 Hor I:

i 1,500 500
Raja Gudgput Singh i
Karnwal (Kargal) i Bang Singh, Bamba
Taunasar (Thanes Sl ol e
bad) Curram Singh Ner-
Shawbad (Sllﬂh & mu]lﬂ]l. g 250
.. Gurdit Singh 2 <00
Ambala Jassa Singh (Thokal I,;gg 375
irhind : Singh
ﬁ‘;::l Serai (Khanna, Sonde Sing
26 miles south-east ]
i 5 00
of Ludhiana). | i Singh Dulal 1,500 5
Pail Serai (Pail, 18 miles il
ai ) / \ ‘ ! o
south-east of Ludhiand) Hari Singh, Bung R AT
Buria Singh. s v,
ikandra Dewan Singh Lung 750 230
Secundra (Sikandra Ry W,
i Anﬂi;}'a).liles east of Dulcha Singh (Tulsa?) 750 250
Damala (25 1
Thanesar). i Gordit Singh 150 50
Beloin (Bahain,

north-east of Ambala). -

U akikat, 37-
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Places of Residence. Names of Sardars. Horse. Toot.

Gurry (Garhi Kotaha, 20 Hucumut Singh 150 50
miles north-east of Ambala).

Moni Majera (Mani Majra, 25 Buget Singh 375 125
miles north of :\mbala’.

Pehova (16 miles west of Dessu Singh 1,125 375
Thanesar).

Kurra (Kharar? 25 miles Dunna Singh 1,500 500
north of Ambala).

Futteabad (Fatehabad) Raja Sahib Singh 4,500 1,500

Natta (Nabha) Hamir Singh 600 200

18,225 6,057
Total 24,300 in round numbers
from the Jumna to the Sutlej.

Nurmehal (17 miles south of Bughel Singh 750 250
Jalandhar), =

Necoder (16 miles south of Tara Singh Gaiba 2,250 750
Jalandhar).

Tute Serai(?) most probably Jassa Singh
a possession of Jassa Singh
Ahluwalia),

Catta(?) .. Tara Singh Caker 375 125
Chur Samgar (Garh Shamkar, Cuseal Singh is0 50
45 miles east of Jalandhar).

3,000 1,000

Jeledur(?) (may be Jalan- Ma Singh . 750 250

dhar),

Capurthala (Kapurthala) Jessa Singh 3,000 1,000
S ki) YU

10,275 3.425
Total 13,700 Bist Jalandhar.

Places of Residence.

Names of Sardars. Horse. Fool.
TLahore

Guger Singh, Soba 22,150 8,050

Singh, Lina Singh.
Total 30,200 Bari Doab-
Shah Dern .. Maha Singh 15,000 5,000
TOtalczo,QOD Rechna Doab.
Gujerat Shah Dowla Guger Singh 7.500 2,500
Total 10,000 Doab Jenhab and Sindsagar.

¥“Dr. Hari Ram Gu

pta has verye
of these places. i

kindly helped me to locate most

DE FACTO SIKH SOVEREIGNTY 63

Apparently Browne’s information abopt the chiefs in the

on ll 11 l 1 J L 1 t I
Iec th“ cen the unna alld tle Sut e] O n he ala“( a

D i likely to be very inaccurate. : '
thoeazol;"alnzt)urt aid the Ganges-]mr.lna Doab was a;hm;)stlef\rzrr_:,;
year plundered by the Cis-Sutlej chiefs or the Budha Da S
the Jalandhar Doab. At least, as he_ was Il:Ot at. a ver};l Zudh
distance from the Sikhs in these regmn:c,, his estimate, 1b g t
can be accepted as fairly accurate, but abou

based on learsa _ it
5 Rechna and Jech Doabs, his account 15

the Sikhs in the Bari,

‘ ble.
much too vague to be accepta : .
The Fre?mhman Bussy wrote a letter from Pondicherry in

1784 to Marshal de Castries, Royal Minister, in \'Vh;:h lzz gu;;i
the names of two Sikh chiefs of great power and influence.

wrote : — : . . |

«The Sikhs are masters of the country which 1;35; li;:::;f;
Delhi and the empire of Persia. ’.I‘he.y ha\je fo,rme e
republic of which the constitution 1s little %\n:l:\n;ld ]aha; it
ever, recognise two leading chiefs—Jassa Singh a

. 2 3 Jeen

Singh. The former pOSSESSEs the proyin;is \\«111;111] Een}ﬁt‘;jﬁ”
* : , war \\rith 1mur a =
Multan and Delhi and made to be one hundred

ago. The number of his troops appear?1 SR
thousand. Jahar Shah Singh commands a S
between Panipat and Lahore. He has bc?,En 06 e
the generals of the Emperor. They ascri dethe %0 S
men to Him.?’*® It is clear that Bussy.heart e
Singh Kalal, but Jassa Singh’s hold dld. n? Ti‘mur e
tan to Delhi and he never fougf.lt agains R e
Ahmad Shah Abdali. Then agaim, W¢ ﬁl:l . :: Clis_lsuﬂej r
identify Jahar Shah Singh, apparently a lea lr'l?ht e
who had fought agains;c thedil‘llg)ser];); ciei (;nllf)t i inow
ikhs in two !
gfsr:ct(:lfalﬂifnf lcijfllfleilrllarcatigll, their respective fighting strength
and the actual names of their 1eaders.. 2 i
The details of the petty wars carn.ed on Ey thr(:; !Inzslt ; ;;m
one another need ndt detain us. .It will n;)tt et‘:; Cheg 0 o
these as ‘‘village warfare.”” ‘The }nterest tFm z;l Sl
is purely local. Two of these misls, the Fyzullap
wpodern Rewiew, 1925; Letter oNo. 423 of the Pondicherry Cata-
logue, dated 3rd March, 1784
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Ahluwalia, played a very important part in the Sikh war of
liberation. But after the Sikhs had achieved their indepen-
dence, the wmisls that came into prominence were the Bhangi,
the Kanheya and the Sukerchakia. The wars that the Sikh
chiefs carried on with one another seem to resemble the strug-
gle of the Heptarchic kingdoms after the Anglo-Saxon con-
quest. The Bhangis resemble the Northumbrians, the Kanheyas
resemble the Mercians and the Sukerchakias resemble the
people of Wessex, and the unification of England by the house
of Wessex has its parallel in the work of the Sukerchakia misl,

to which we owe the unification of the whole of the Trans-
Sutlej Punjab.

Here it may not be out of place to discuss the causes of
the failure of the Bhangis to unify the Punjab, after they had
begun their career in a blaze of glory. In the first place,
when they began their ambitious career, Ahmad Shah was still
to be reckoned with. When he disappeared from the stage of
the Punjab politics, for some time they carried everything
before them and extended their power from Jammu to Multan.
But Multan was in 1780 wrested from their hands by ‘Timur
Shah, the son and successor of Ahmad Shah. Forster asserts
that the surrender of Multan to Timur Shah was pusillanimous,

especially when we remember that T'imur himself was neither

very able nor very aggressive. But it was ‘‘a natural conse-

quence of the eternal divisions, the fears entertained by the
body at large of the increase of individual power.’’*” ‘The un-
fortunate and premature death of Hari Singh, Jhanda Singh
and Ganda Singh, coming in quick succession, left the task of
controlling the turbulent Bhangi Sardars in the hands of weak-
lings, infants and widows. The Sardars got. out of control.
Just about this time, arose other big leaders of other confedera-
cies—Jai Singh Kanheya, Chharat Singh Sukerchakia, and after
him his son, Maha Singh. “The Bhangis began to lose all along
the line. Chharat Singh and Maha Singh raised the power
and prestige of their imisl. Maha Singh died in 1790 and his
boy son, who succeeded him, was destined to establish the
famous Sikh military monarchy.

Now that the Punjab was entirely under Sikh sway, the

" Forster, Travels, T, 282,

the Sikhs, But he really wanted to put

E <
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suiccessors of Ahmad Shah would have 5110\\fn 1n9re prudence%
if they had accepted, without reserve, the established state 1o
things. But history does not record that. a decadenjc mong;c; Ly
shows such wisdom. It cannot be denied _that ’.I‘%murb t-hié
to some extent, realized the weakness claf .1115 1)051t1c3111 1(11 o
stccessor Zaman Shah, with characteristic f.short-stig llte Ette;.
made repeated attempts to reconqu(‘ar the Pun].ab 1art1 : 011:ubdue
failure was quite natural. Ahmad Sh.ah ‘Abdah fai gest ubass
the Sikhs: yet that failure had a dignity, a 1119.(]1 3fr P
Zaman Shah’s attempts lacked. Wl.le.n we Teac -()1u;tari1y
Shal’s failure, it appears almost comical. It 111_VoSS ael
occurs to the historian that Zaman Shah had no busine g
beyond Attock into the Punjab.

In the reign of Timur Shah, tl
has anything to do with Sikh lustory,F e e il
Qazi Faizullah. He raised troops under ‘h.e prete ig 'fh
Timur to death. he
plot failed and six thousand of the plot_ters \g?rehpﬁl:dtze(:;a;ea
But the Sikhs were so aggressive that 'I‘1mu-rkh 1aven S
to teach them a lesson. He heard jtha;t the;gS1 Ts? eur B
Dera Ismail Khan and Dera Ghazi I\.hafl. ; tou;lonquer e
not keep quiet any longer. He determine At -
from’ the Sikhs. The Yusufzai, Dt}rram, Qazi e

3 ; rpose numbere ;

troops that were gathered for this purp SRR
Zangi Khan Durrani waslal.)pointii SO:\I:;l}’ialz.h ::’— A
Shah told him to travel 1 sSuc 2 5
movements could reach the Slk};‘;:?{iﬁﬂ;?ls ai?i;nfdszziduby
ARSI ]gcfeﬂtt:l]\?:lil‘ers were ;ot allowed to proceed,
i advance should reach the Sifkhs.

i for the night at a distance of 8 _kos .rclam
ﬁ?: géi}fihii:tnlﬁltegven before daybreak he' mald.e a-ed;spg;ltic})g
St Mughals' ali\c'iert;leong atzlibiigés ‘\He himself
i ndahar Durranis we ! o
;.‘claiht;h;cillevﬁzuard_ At daybregk he fellT.upon ;:;h Sli:,?;
They were under the impression that flmﬁ:i'les oﬁ, i
his army, was in Peshawar, hundreds of 1 ;

he first incident of note that
was the rebellion of

forced marches.
lest the news of the Afghan

18E1phinstone Kal;;ul, 1I, Appendix, p. 303; Husain Shahi, 22A.
19Hyusain Shahi, 22. f

5
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mighty streams separating him from them. ‘Their false
sense of security had kept them inactive and absolutely
unprepared. But the Sikhs, who were essentially a fighting
race, could mnot be so easily overcome by a surprise
attack. For several hours a terrible fight went on. Many
were slain and many fled. It is said that about 2,000 were
drowned in the attempt to cross and 3,000 (not 30,000) are said
to have been slain.** ‘The number has been undoubtedly
exaggerated. Timur Shah himself wrote that the Sikhs who
were killed, did not number more than seven hundred.** Thus
the town was taken by a surprise assault. Very soon Timur
Shah himself joined his army. Now the siege of the fort began.
After terrible privations, the Sikhs in the fort capitulated and
Timur Shah conferred the Subahdarship of Multan on Shuja
Khan Suddozai.

The successful Multan expedition was undertaken in 1780.
Timur Shah also attacked the Bahawalpur chief, who had stop-
ped payment of revenue to the Kabul monarchy. On hearing
of Timur’s approach Bahawal Khan retired to a distant fort in
the midst of a deserted sandy tract. The city of Bahawalpur
was taken after a fight and there was some incendiarism and
loot. Madat Khan with 2,000 troops and three days’ provi-
sions was sent against the Bahawalpur chief in his sandy re-
treat. By an accident, one of the cannon balls reached the
magazine through an opening for sunlight. ‘T‘here was a great
explosion. The whole fort was shaken to its base and a wall
fell down. Bahawal Khan was arrested or, as others say, he
marched by another route, reached Timur Shah and secured
his pardon. It is no doubt significant that in the treaty that
was signed between them, there was a clause that in case of a
war between the Afghan king and the Sikhs of Lahore, the
Bahawalpur chief would supply troops to his overlord.??

Timur Shah also reduced the Talpur Amirs of Sind to sub-
mission. They agreed to pay him a subsidy. Sardar Madat
Khan had to be sent against them and Fateh Ali Khan was
appointed Afghan viceroy in Sind. Kashmir also received
his attention. After the death of Hagzj Karim Dad Xhan,

*Husain Shahi, 24; Tarikh<-Ahmad Shah, 21.

*"Hakikat Bina, 40, :
*Husain Shahi, 25: Tarikh-i-Ahmad, 21,
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Ahmad Shah’s governor in Kashmir, his, son, Ajad Khan, be-
came the Subahdar in his father’s place. He meditated rebel-
lion, increased his army and what is undoubtedly of some
significance, took in his service a band of Sikh soldiers. He
then stopped payment of the tribute. Army after army had
to be sent against him. In the frequent encounters between
the Kabul army and the Kashmir army the Sikhs fought very
bravely against the Afghans. Ultimately, however, Ajad Khan
was overwhelmed and betrayed but he preferred suicide to
falling in the hands of the Kabul commander. Kashmir was
thus reconquered. The Khyber region was in the hands of
Arslam Khan Mohmand. He had rebelled but was induced
by a promise of safety to come to Timur Shah and was then
put to death. Fateh Khan Yusufzai, a zamindar of Muzaffara-
bad, was creating trouble. He was arrested and put to death.**

Timur Shah’s campaigns on the Indian borderland, in
Kashmir, the Khyber region, Multan, Bahawalpur and Sind
and the details of the conquests have their significance. We
should note that Timur Shah gave his attention to those regions
in which the Moslems predominated and where combined Sikh
aggression was not to be feared. His one great exploit against
the Sikhs was the taking of Multan : otherwise he left them
alone. The genesis of Fyzulla Khan’s rebellion is no doubt to
be sought in the permission accorded by Timur Shah to gather
an army to fight the Sikhs. But beyond this and beyond occa-
sional false alarms that he was coming, there is no basis for the
suggestion that he really wanted to reconquer the Punjab. If
we search diligently through the British and the Maratha re-
cords we shall have ample evidence of false alarms,** but these
can well be ascribed to the Durrani tradition of frequent plun-
dering raids, a tradition which Ahmad Shah Abdali’s career
had impressed on the Indian mind. No Indian could possibly
believe that Timur Shah would go against this time-honoured
tradition and be really pacifically inclined. Moreover, they
heard only too often that I'imur was fighting now in Multan,
now in Sind, now in Bahawalpur, now in the Khyber border-
land and now in Kashmir. They listened with great anxiety to

*Husain Shahi, 29, 30, 31.

#Secret Proceedings, 17th January, 1786. No. 19; Delhi Yethil
Raj Karnen, II, Letter No. 70.
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the distant rumbling pof the thunder and feared that the storm
might burst upon them at any moment. But Timur did not
come and for the best of reasons. The Sikhs, who had so
sorely liarassed his all-conquering father, would not certainly
spare him. They might quarrel among themselyes, but the
presence of a foreign enemy would possibly reunite them.
Timur therefore attempted to consolidate his sway in the re-
gions not dominated by the Sikhs and this was certainly very
wise. It has, however, been suggested that Mahadji Sindhia’s
career in Northern India and the well-organised and well-dis-
ciplined Maratha army in possession of Delhi, Agra and other
regions towards the east and the west, might have been largely
responsible for the Durrani disinclination to advance beyond
the borderland. Keene writes, ‘“Madhava Rag’s victory at
Patan over Ismail Beg and over his Rathor allies at Mirtha had
its repercussions elsewhere. . . . The echo of this Dblow re-
sounded far and wide. Timur Shah heard of it in the Khyber
and held back his barbarian hordes longing for the loot of
India.”’** But between 1786 and 1788, Timur Shah could have
taken advantage of the temporary eclipse of Mahadji’s power
as a result of the defeats his army had suffered in the hands
of the Rajputs and of Ismail Beg. ‘Timur was, during these
years, recovering his power in Sind, Bahawalpur and Kashmir
but he made no attempt to take advantage of the defeats suffered
by the Maratha army. Moreover, Mahadji Sindhia, even in the

*Keene, Hindustan under Free Lances, 51.
1789
Report from the Bikaner Raja—
f Tumir Shah has marched from IKabul against the Daudputra coun-
Ty. lgzhawal Khan Daudputra rebelling had expelled the Shah’s men.
i 19th D.ecr. 1790—The envoy of Timur Shah had andience of the
mperor in the Dewan-i-Khas, amidst the full diplomatic €orps.
After 4 days he had his second interview.
e 4th Jily 1791—Ordered a big tent—All his Sardars were to assemble
en:;;?}f Se :vould put on the robe sent to him by Timur Shah.
Shah Wa-?lp }1(1‘_791LHe gave conge to Asadullah the elchi of ‘Timur
sents, 1 Jlflu hlfl Kllﬂ}'l and Tahmas Khan with costly robes and pre-
\Va-iilsds?_ or 't € courtiers of Timur Shah and costly presents for Timut.
131' din was ordered to make arrangements for other presents in
Delbi and go to Kabul. They went away ‘

(Persian Records of Maratha history)
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plenitude of his power, would never have attempted to prevent
him from reconquering the trans-Sutlej Punjab. The only
legitimate conclusion is that he was- disinclined to fight that
vexatious and almost invisible adversary, the Sikh Khalsa.

But what he did mnot attemﬁ: himself, his son, in the
exuberance of his zeal, tried and thus failed in his dual role as
an Afghan ruler as also an Indian conqueror. Timur Shah
died on the 20th May, 1793. His son Zaman Shah was selected
as king. He was at that time only 23 years old. In his resolu-
tion to invade India, he was induced by Mirza Ahsan Bakht, a
Delhi prince who had fled to Kabul during the reign of Timur.*®
In December; 1793, Zaman Shah marched to Peshawar with a
view to invading India but he considered it more prudent to
return to his Kabul dominion as his rule was not yet well-
established. He most probably expected that by following a
spirited foreign policy, he would be able to appeal to the mar-
tial instinct of the Afghan race and succeed in consolidating his
authority in Afghanistan.

In the remaining months of 1793 and 1794, he reduced
Kashmir, which had rebelled after the death of Timur. The
Amirs of Sind were also compelled to pay tribute. Then after
settling the affairs at home, Zaman Shah started from Kabul,
crossed near, the ford of Attock, reached Hasan Abdal and made
Rohtas his headquarters. After some days’ rest, Ahmad Khan
Shahanchi and Bahadur Khan Muhammadzai were sent with
7,000 soldiers, to conquer the Doab between the Jhelum and
the Chenab. Humayun Shah, the eldest brother of Zaman
Shah who was a fugitive, dogged by ill-luck, reached Kasba-i-
Iciah. Md. Khan Suddozai, the governor of that region, im-
prisoned him. He was blinded by the order of Zaman Shah
and then sent to Kabul. Urgent letters came from Qandahar
and Herat that Sultan Mahmud, a half-brother of Zaman Shah,

* Foreign Department, Secret and Political Consultation, No. 10,
6th September. Translation of a paper of intelligence from Kabul.

Delhi Yethil Raj Karnen, Vol. II, No. 102.

Turber, An Indian Governor-Generalship, XXVII, No. 14.: The
Sikh chiefs were at this stage too much divided among themselves
to form any well-concerted plan for opposing the invasion of their
country by Zaman Shah. But as Sir John Shore wrote, ‘‘unless he
could obtain the co-operation off the Sikhs and hostages for the continu-
ance of it,”’ his success was beyond the realm of possibility.
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was creating trouble and wanted revenge for the treatment
meted out to Humayun, and that the people of Herat had
joined him.?? '

- Zaman Shah had to postpone his Punjab exploits and
start for Khorasan. “The army of 7,000 sowar and some piyadah
fouj that had been sent with Ahmad Khan and Bahadur Khan
to the Jech Doab, had, in the mean time, started from the
badshahi camp, crossed the Jhelum and met the Sikhs on the
other side of the river. Though the Sikhs began their trick
fights, so usual with them, ultimately some of their Sardars
massed their troops, and at a place named Dulah, on the
borders of Gujrat, there was a severe fight between the com-
batants. Ahmad Khan showed great prowess but he saw that
there was no union among the Durrani sardars, and the Durrani
soldiers were not very much inclined to fight. He abandoned
all hope of victory,*® retreated with great skill and re-crossed
the Jhelum. This is, of course, a Moslem version of a Sikh-
Afghan encounter. But even this shows that the Sikhs had
the better of it.

Zaman Shah’s next Indian invasion is dated 1796-97.
Mirza Ghulam Muhammad Khan came with a letter from Shah
Alam II, in which his own difficulties were enumerated and the
help of an Ahmad Shah in the making was sought. Zaman
Shah referred to the fact that it was the summer season and
that the Durranis could not bear the heat of Northern India.
He would think of advancing to India after the season was
over. 'The real reason.for this delay was the commotion created
by Sgltan Mahmud. Soon after Sultan Mahmud’s submission
Zaman Shah marched to Hindustan. From Kabul he advanced
zzriﬁshz}g\;ar, w}?ere he halted and organized his expeditionar.y

appointed Hafiz Sher Md. Khan as sipahsalar. His
route was—Hasan Abdal, Rawalpindi, Rohtas Gujrat ' Shah
Dula, Gujranwala, Aminabad ang Lahore.?® ’ A

o : T :
f this expedition in 1796-97, the British records supply us
27 3 H .‘
! izzig;nSh:m,EiW : Elphinslone, Account of Kabul, 11, 310, 311,
i Hagaf ;bd phinstone the Precipitate retreat, after a week’s
o al, was cansed by the news of the invasion of
es“ Hhorasan by the king of Persia Ty
usain Shahi, 37; Tarikh.ianoe,
* Husain Shahi, 40, e
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with a mass of information. From the Moslem chroniclers we
learn that Sher Md. Khan had 20,000 soldiers with him, all
Durranis.”® The Sikhs, on hearing the news of Zaman Shah’s
approach, followed their usual tactics against the Durranis, re-
treating to the hills and jungles and the Doab Jalandhar. ‘I‘he
Kabul Chief entered Lahore (Ist Rajab). ‘There he repaired
the fort, “‘ordered Sher Md. Khan to gather the armours of the -
army and bid them imake with speed 500 new wall-pieces as
well as artillery for the field.””** Letters were also sent to the
Subahdar of Multan, asking him to come with 10,000 horsemen
and 2,000 camels and his treasury. The Daudputra chief and
the Sindhi Amirs were also ordered to march on to Lahore.??
The three conjoint Sikh rulers fled away on the approach of
the Shah. Immediately after entry an order was issued in the
name of the Shah that the people should illuminate. Iater he
was informed that some of the Hindu residents had not illu-
minated their houses and it seemed as if these were in mourn-
ing. ‘They were, thereupon, fined. It was, as the chronicler
says, ‘‘a self-inflicted oppression. If some such order of Nadir
Shah had been disobeyed, all the people would have been put
to death.””® 'The people of Lahore presented to himm a nazrana
amounting to a lakh of rupees.**

Though the Sikhs had, consistently with their tradition of
fighting, fled away, their fort in Amritsar held out.*® ‘Near
6,000 or 7,000 Seick Koshusspah horsemen (each man riding
one horse belonging to himself) and 1,000 Akaul Boongeeah
foot (a sort of devotee soldiers and very warlike) remain all day
armed and on the watch in a fort near Amritsar.’”’®® Zaman
Shah on his way to Lahore left garrisons at Gujrat as well as
at Ramnagar in order to keep under control the zamindars in
the regions between the Jhelum and the Chenab. But imme-
diately after his departure, the Sikh sardars of the region

* Ibid.

31 Arzee from the news-writers at Jeypoor, 22nd Rajab, 1211 A.H.;
Foreign Department, Political Consultation, 20th February, Nos. 29A-31.

* Foreign Department, Political Consultation, 20th Feb., Nos. 29A-31.

* Husain Shahi, 41; Tarikh-i-Ahmad, 35.

“ Foreign Dept., Political Consultation, 20th Feb., No. 29; Enclosure
from the Resident with the Sindhia, dated 27th January, 1797,

as Ibrd. [ ]
¢ Ibid. Arzee from Syud Reja Khan, written 23rd Rajab.
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azssembled together and drove off the people of these Thanas.”
S:t;znail;aht wlould every day send flying columns against the

e a the same tm'1e he encouraged the Sikh chiefs to
51t1 ’:1[1‘11}1 to 131:111. Several Sikh chiefs actually attended his court
at Lahore. We, however, hear that the Shah sent the van
of his army to Amritsar but ‘“on the road coming to an
ex}gagement with the Sicks and two or three hundre%l being
killed and wounded on either side and they considering flut:
:\[&:e}:e fe:xlrg and the occasion was unfavourable, retur:ed li}o
5 ;gizji.n II_F ::ln()l case, the S.hah had made a very prudent
g tie i :-1 id not allow‘hls troops to use much violénce
R b]:)re and the pohc.y of conciliation, if adhered to,
I Dl Igah 1}1:11(_:]1 fruit. _It was, however, already
S iy ; a \\.ould find it difficult, if not impossible,
e ' s at t‘hgr game. The Subah of Lahore could

y be settled by driving out the Sikhs but they could not

be dri i
: ven out. As Roy Singh wrote to the British govern-

L 1 .

ment‘,N hé‘.ze t?;khs were bent upon repelling this disturbance.”
everywhere ljai'lzle WE] Of‘thc“comiug of Zaman Shah spread
Kasur and ‘other( M 1mt11, I\illzamudd]‘n Khan, the chicf of
Shah was thinki (TOS e Zam‘{ldal‘s waited upon him.'’ Zaman
L v ing of mar_chmg on towards Delhi, As-the
Ny tentnu;nt was informed, ‘‘Zaman Shah, having
s oL e Saboulr or ﬁ\i‘e kos further onwards on the side
Shah had the' ;nt rff ey lntend.s marching thither.'* Zaman
drive the Maratlf ion of marching on to Shahjahanabad and
i as“ out. But this was not to be. As the
e r,hmsfd it was not god’s desire that the people of
tentment, 42 Tl; spend their days in happiness and con-
Mahmud was onczre i oo otionSAliny sRbul: Shah
ST e at?am- creating trouble. “He had assembled
saun, with whicl }; lo'u sand men, mostly Persians of Khoras-

ch he would probably have attacked Candahart,

* Foreign De
pt., Pou,
S BT 1. Consultn., 20th Feb.,» 1797, No. 52.

e Eéphinstonlﬁ, Account of Kabul, Vol. II, 315
N » ol. Consultation, 20th Feb., No., 52, 24th Rajabs
" Husain Shahi, 41,

! Foreign De
PSS PHI A
“ Hvsate) Shabil als dn o ooty 20th Feb, No. 80.
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had he not been prevented by the King’s speedy return.”’*
Before he started from Lahore he had sent Muktar-ud-Dowlah
Hafiz Sher Md. Khan to Shaikhupura, 15 kos to the west of
of Lahore. About 2/3,000 Sikhs were sheltered in that fort.
With the topkhana and some troops Muktar-ud-Dowlah had
gone there. ‘The place was besieged but the siege had to be

The army of Zaman Shah retreated via

raised not long after.
1344

Rohtas, Rawalpindi, Hasan Abdal, Attock and Peshawar.
But this Agamemnon was determined to take Troy. After

gaining a victory over Shah Mahmud and putting him to
turned towards India. In the

flight, Zaman Shah immediately
mean time the Sikhs had returned from their retreats and the
again. At the time

whole of the Punjab had been lost once
of his retreat to Kabul in 1797, 7Zaman Shah had left behind

him Ahmad Khan Shahanchi in tlfe western Punjab. Hasan
Khan Qazill‘mshi with 4,000 soldiers was placed under him
in the Jalandhar Doab region.*® But during his absence Ahmad
Khan Shahanchi was killed. This incident, so damaging to
the prestige of the Afghan monarch, is best described in the
language of a contemporary despatch. Bibi Sahib Kour (sister
of Sahib Singh of Patiala) wrote to her brother from Ramnagar
“that the Sics had cut off and brought away Ahmad Khan
Shahanchi’s ~head. That near 2,000 Dooranis had been slain
and many wounded, that the Sics were pursuing the fugitives,
plundering as they went. That now every fort would give
way to them and they would recover all the country that had
been wrested from them.’’*® Zaman Shah set off from
Peshawar in October, 1798, and rapidly marched towards
India. A grandson of Ali Muhammad Khan Rohilla, who
tad earlier gone to Kabul to quicken the zeal of the Kabul
ruler, was Zaman Shah’s guide in this expedition. The Rohilla
Zaman Shah would settle the affairs
of the Punjab as rapidly as possible and reach Shahjahanabad.
Zaman Shah re-occupied Lahore. The Sikh rulers of the city
fled on his approach. Nizamuddin of Kasur “offered to restore

fugitive’s desire was that

3 Iilphinstone, Kabul, II, 316.

4 Husain Shahi, 42A.

eSiphid)

16 Poreign Depariment, Political Consultation; 9th June, 1797, No.
70; Bstract of Intelligence from Puttiala.
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order in the Punjab in one year, if Abdali lent him men and
money. The men he undertook to return, after raising his
own levies: as to the money, he promised to send to Kabul
annually five lakhs of rupees as tribute.”*” ‘T'he offer was not
accepted. But very soon Zaman Shah received the unwelcome
news that his half-brother Shah Mahmud had induced the
king of Persia to invade Afghanistan. He retreated precipi-
tately from the Punjab and though the Persian king no doubt
withdrew, Mahmud ultimately got the upper hand. Zaman
Shah was defeated and blinded. Thus his reign came to an
inglorious end in 1799.

Zaman Shah should have tried first of all to secure the
internal quiet of Afghanistan. He ought then to have turned
his attention in the direction of Persia, which was threatening
his power on the western frontier. ’T‘he security of his western
frontier was a necessity, if his eastern expeditions were to
succeed. His ambition to be the arbiter of the fate of India,
to restore the Mughal power, to crush the Sikhs and the
Marathas, to revive the glory of the days of Ahmad Shah,
seems, when all the factors are taken into consideration, to
have been a mere dream. ‘Haji Baha-ud-Din, agent of the
Delhi heir-apparent Mirza Akbar Shah, who went to Kabul
with presents from Ris master, wrote to his master that it was
Zaman Shah’s determination to prosecute his expedition into
Hindustan and that his plan was, after he should have settled
in the Punjab, to sit down some time at Lahore and detach a
part of his army towards Sirhind and Delhi, that when he
should have made himself master of the whole of the country
to the Chambal, he would divide it, taking for himself as far
as Karnal and bestowing the remainder on Shah Alam. It
was further his design to leave a sardar on his part to manage
the government of the latter in Hindustan.””*®* ‘There was
now no longer any treasure in Delhi to reward his marches,
nor could the Punjab be conquered by sporadic incursions. He
could not even retain g sufficiently strong lorce in India, to
overawe the Sikhs. If he had been able to remain longer in
the Punjab, he might have taken advantage of the dissensions

4 Islamic Culture, July,

1029, An Afgh )
PR, |G VT ssAL X BEeSColpiy Yat| Oasn

° which was regarded as
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and discords that prevailed among the Sikh chiefs, no longer
so united as in the days of Ahmad Shah Abdali.. But before
he had consolidated his sway in Afghanistan, it was shet?r
madness on his part to attempt to reconquer the land of the
Sikhs, an attempt that had failed even in the d.ays of Ahm;ad
Shah Abdali, who had a consolidated I%fghamsta.n and t1e
terror of his mame to overawe his enemies. As it ’\,\ras, his
“ill-directed and ill-timed attempts at Indian conquest” proved
% 131{10(10‘21?5 ‘Indian powers at a distance, the incompetence of
Zaman Shah was not revealed. To them he seemed 1‘@ 1bemzt
capable general and a powerful king and some such. l;la.a
madan coalition as had crushed the Marathas at Panq]);\ ES}T
sought to be organised against the supremacy of the Eng ,
¢the source of evil to al.l God’s
creatures,’”*® Tt can only be said in the wor.ds of E.',lphmst:f]en:
“Had he been allowed to pursue his plan without mter'rf:) Jcs) g
its original defect would have been only the more conspfmzam:.m
As Jassa Singh wrote to the British, th‘e‘ designs (})lemes e
Shah  could only be characterised as empty sc

ambition,’’°

49 Asiatic Annual Register, 1799, No. 30, From Tipoo to Zaman

Shah, .
50 Foreign Department, Poli
No. 38, p. 2.

tical oConsultation, 4th September, 1707,




CHAPTER VI

THE CIS-SUTLE] SIKHS

The region between the Sutlej and the Jumna saw the
establishment of four misls—Phulkia in all its branches,
Karora Singhia, Shahid and Nihang, Nishanwala. The most
important Phulkia states were Patiala, Nabha, Jind, Malod
and Bhadour. The Kythal family also had the same origin.
The Karora Singhia misl had its headquarters at Chiloundhi.
One of its branches, the Kalsia house, was almost a minor
confederacy. The possessions of this Kalsia family lay between
the Jumna and the Makanda river, with Buria, in the south.
The Shahid and Nihang misl was a confederacy composed of
the followers of the Mahant of Damdama, Khari and Jaroli.
The Nishanwala misl took possession of Ambala, Shahbad and
other places. The Sikhs of Lidhram were also members of
this confederacy. Besides these confederacies we must also
take into account the chiefships of Buria, ‘Thanesar, etc. The
Moslem rulers of Maler Kotla and Raikot also played an
important part in Cis-Sutlej Sikh history. ¢« Many of the
Trans-Sutlej chiefs had also strips of territory in modern
Ludhiana and Ferozepore districts.

Without concerning ourselves with the jealousies and
rivalries amongst these chieftains, we should devote our atten-
tion to those aspects of Cis-Sutlej Sikh history that have more
than mere local interest. It is quite natural to expect that
some power would arise in the Cis-Sutlej region, strons
enough to weld together the entire region under one unified
control, and this was just the welding which, in the Trans
Sut%ej region, the Bhangis attempted and the Sukerchakias
achieved. Tt appeared at one time that the house of Patiala
\;Zzglicinﬁf)rs:ilil)i entire Cis-Sutlej region 'h?lder its sway. f'l;il:

ik Succeedez (ln account of a weakling having un g b
Foialie o k0 the' lea(_ierslnp of the house. Iﬂs A
AR L e e ve find that Chtumd Liey
gh were succeeded by the great Ranjit Sing

In the history of the Patiala house, we find that Ale Sif€"
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and Amar Singh were succeeded by the we:llkling and imbecile
Sahib Singh. Amar Singh’s death in 1781, in the very prime
of his life was the greatest misfortune that could befall the
Patiala house. Just as with the Bhangis, the misl that had
begun its career in a blaze of glory, began rapidly to decay
after the death in quick succession of Hari Singh, .Jhanda
Singh and Ganda Singh, so also was the case w1th.the
Patiala house. It was a misfortune for Patiala that Amar S1ngh
““died before he had consolidated his conquest, leaving to his
child successor the dangerous- legacy of his wvictories and
fame.’’ Even when grown up, Sahib Singh proved. to be a
man of -weak character, always in need of protection #om
some other power. No wonder that the decline of Patiala
was henceforth very rapid. .

There are two aspects of Cis-Sutlej Sikh history that may
be of interest to students of Indian history. The Sﬂ.:hs
were both on the offensive and on the defensive. They carried
their almost annual depredations into the tracts of the cou.ntry.
ruled by Najib-ud-Daulah and his successors, and the .‘/lu,tawcdz
or the Ganges-Jumna Doab received much attention flto_m
them. But they were also sometimes pinned on th? defensx.\-e.
An aspiring Délhi minister would at ti_mest turn his atte_nhlclun
to this region, Mahadji Sindhia and his lieutenants n:%tura y
regarded it, in view of its chaotic state, as a fit region for
plunder. Adventurers like George ‘Thomas ‘‘arose to dls:traci’f
the attention of the Sikhs from the offensive to.the' defensive.

If we survey the history of the Cis-Sutlej Sikhs Clll‘O{lO-
logically, we find them betweeg 1764 and 17:70, wortying
Najib-ud-Daulah who was the dlctator‘ of ]?elln, during t].m
absence of Emperor Shah Alam II. The S1kh.s succeeded in
dealing effective blows to his power. and emb1tjcered the last
days (;f his life, just as the Marathas had don.fa 1n.the-case of
Alivardi Khan during the years 1742-51. ..l\‘Iﬂ]lb died in 1770.
Emperor Shah Alam II returned to Delhi in 1772 anfl strove
{o regain his lost power with Maratha help. But in 1773,
troubie in the Deccan led to the recall of the Maratha army
from the north and the Cis-Sutlej Sikhs had to deal only w.lth
the decadent Mughal power as represented by its leading

: !
Lepel Griffin, Punjab Rajas, 54.
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Amirs like Najaf Khan, Majd-ud-Daula, Abdul Ahad XKhan,
Shafi Khan and Afrasiab Khan. This is the second phase
of Cis-Sutlej Sikh history. From 1781, Mahadji Sindhia
“hestrides the plains of Northern India like a Colossus.”” Until
his death in 1794, and even after this, Maratha ascendancy
in Delhi continued until the Maratha power in North India
was shattered by the victorious campaigns of Lord Lake.
With 1784, we therefore enter upon the third phase of Cis-
Sutlej Sikh history which continues up to 1803, when Lord
Iake entered Delhi and British ascendancy was established.
The Sikhs assembled at Amritsar in November, 1763,
marched upon Sirhind, and defeated and killed its Abdali
governor Zain Khan. Flushed with victory, they crossed the
Jumna, took Saharanpur '(1764) and plundered the Barha
Sadat settlements, ‘‘for a long time, the homes of respectable
men and of old Sayyid families, members of which had been
wmra in former times. ‘They took booty beyond count in coins,
pure gold and jewels, burnt all the country and took away
captives.”” ‘This was the territory of Najib-ud-Daulah, who was
naturally very much disconcerted by this news. He had only
recently succeeded in killing his most formidable rival, the Jat
Chief Suraj Mal, in a skirmish and was perhaps chuckling over
it. Now all of a sudden, a new enemy appeared. The Sikh
menace to his power was quite formidable, in spite of the fact
that the Sikh opposition he had to face was quite different from
that which was proving the undoing of Ahmad Shah Abdali.
Here the Sikhs were excited not by patriotism but by the lust
for plunder. These predatory incursions were in no sense
national ventures. There was no general union of the Sikhs
with an exalted patriotic purpose as was the case with those
who combined against Abdali. But the movement gained the
sympathy of all.* The Budha Dal from the Jalandhar Doab
'fmd the Cis-Sutlej chiefs would send their predatory hordes, but
if they were hard pressed by an enemy pursuing them beyond
the”]umna, the Manjha Sikhs wotld come-to their aid. ‘Thus
Najib was faced with the prospect of seeing his life’s work
undone by these enemies, whom he could not certainly crush

2 ; i 1
They went of their own free awill to Hindustan to loot. There¢
was 10 pressure put on anybody.—Hakikat,

‘to the Barha Sadat settlements, along the Ganges.

.advantage of this to plunder with alacrity.

'siege operations. _
-skirmish better than any other troops but for the tedious opera-
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even if he defeated them. From the Maratha records we learn
that he bought off these new enemies by the payment of 11
lakhs of rupees.’ This is corroborated by Bakht Mal, who
writes that at the instance of Jowahir Singh, son and succ.essor
of Suraj Mal, ‘‘Khushal Singh, Sahib Singh, Bagll:ail Singh,
Bhag Singh crossed the Doab and began plu?derlng the_re.
They looted, killed and imprisoned people. Najib, on hearing
this, postponed his Jat campaign and came tf) an undta.rstat.ld-
ing with the Sikhs.””* This was a foolish policy as Najib him-
self must have known. Like Alivardi’s payment of Chouth to
the Marathas, this would only whet the appetite of t.:he Sikhs.
Najib was probably driven to this step by an impending attac}c
from the entire Jat nation, maddened by the death of their
great leader Suraj Mal. o .
Towards the close of the year 1764, Jowahir Sm.gh with
Maratha help besieged Najib in Delhi. In the mean time, ‘“‘at
the end of November or the beginning of December, a fierce
horde swept over the Upper Doab from its extreme north away
The visi-
mong the most terrible that ever befell the
«Phe Ranghurs and Gujars took
Most probably the
leaders of the®raid were Jassa Singh Kalal and Thoka Singh

Barhee.”’®
FEarly in January, 1765, Jowahir Singh successfully con-

tation is regarded a
Muhammadan settlers.”

cluded an alliance with the Sikhs. It was settled that they

would help him in the siege of Delhi, from trenches in the
north of the city and scour the country from the west so as

‘to cut off provisions entirely.® But the Sikhs had no skill in

They were excellent foragers. They might

tions of a siege or a blockade, they were unfit both by tem-
perament and by tradition. ‘‘Every day the Sikh troopers

used to ride out and enter the old houses which lay desolate

_ and wished to come towards the city walls. Najib, leav-
3 Peshwa Daftar, XXIX, 55.

4+ Khalsanama, 34B.

s @G, R. C. Williams, The Sikhsin the Upper Doab.

 Nuruddin, 83A.
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ing his men at different places in the trenches near the rivers,
himself with a force of horse and foot . . . mounted on elephants
came out by the Lahori gate, posted his men, each under the
cover of some ruined house or lame. . . .' The Rohillas en-
gaged the Sikhs with their matchlocks. The musketry fight
continued briskly till two gharis after nightfall. . . In this
manner, fighting with the Sikhs went on for nearly one month.”’
It is a well-known fact that the lukewarmness of Imad-ul-Mulk
and Malhar Rao Holkar, two other prominent allies of Jowahir
Singh, practically thwarted him. Very soon news came that
Ahmad Shah Abdali was coming to relieve his hard-pressed
lieutenant and the Sikh allies of Jowahir left abruptly, without
asking for leave, when they heard that Abdali had entered
Lahore. Of course, Jowahir Singh had no other course left
than to conclude peace with Najib.

In 1765-66, Najib had to fight two Sikh bands of marauders.
One band spread through the pargana of Saharanpur. At
Samli, a severe fight took place. It very -well illustrates the
characteristics of the Sikh method of fighting as also the
stubbornness and the skill of the veteran Afghan warrior :

“There were many sugarcane plantations near by. The
Sikhs took cover in them : band after band came out, emptied
their matchlocks and then went off. They fought in this
manner till one pahar of the night. ‘They then retired. Najib
encamped there at night and in the morning again rode out
and attacked the Sikhs. He tried to keep his troops in a com-
pact band and not to let them get out of hand. ‘This fighting
went on from morning till noon. The Sikhs, who were loaded
with plunder, wanted to keep Najib’s army engaged and take
advantage of this to carry off their belongings. Najib knew
this and his one objective was to push on and on, keeping his
soldiers as a compact body. But Zabita Khan’s division was
very hard pressed and, in the impetuosity of attack, it became
ser‘)arated from the rest and with great difficulty saved from
b§1ng overwhelmed. The Jumna was almast reached and the
Sikhs 'Oll%Y wanted a respite from the frontal attack in order tO
send their belongings across the stream. ‘They fell upon the
rear where there was a great uproar. The Rohillas, in their
pride, felt it improper not to give the Sikhs a fight. ‘The Sikhs
thus succeeded in ruining Najib’s plan of battle. They
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maintained the ground until darkness and then under the cover of
the night succeeded in removing everything across the Jumna.”’

Another Sikh band was responsible for depredations
pargana Dawana Kharkhand, 20 miles east of Rohtak, one day’s
march from Delhi.,”’ DBut the men were on the alert and the
Sikhs made a raid on Rewari, which they plundered. The
villages of Najib in the Mian Doab were also ravaged not long
after.® It is interesting to mote that the Sikhs caused such inse-
curity even in the neighbourhood of Delhi that Najib’s Delhi
agent had to proclaim at one time that none should leave the
city of Delhi to make a pilgrimage to Kalika Devi® (near the
Kutb Minar). .

In 1766, we again hear of the old Afghan chief fighting the
Sikhs with the vigour of a youth. The Sikhs were retreating
after having acquired much booty in their fight with Malhar
Rao, on behalf of Jowahir Singh. For once at least those swift
horsemen were taken completely by surprise and a vast amount
of booty fell into the hands of Najib, including camels, horses
Many Sikhs were slain and the rest driven across

in

and ponies.
the Jumna.'
Ahmad Shah Abdali invaded India for the last time in 1767.
He encamped on the Beas, and Najib wag there in attendance.
The irrepressitle Sikh bands availed themselves of this oppor-
tunity and attacked Najib’s territory in Meerut and the sur-
rounding regions. Najib’s son Zabita with 5,000 Rohilla troops
and Sardar Jahan Khan with 8,000 Afghan troops made a lightn-
ing raid, marching 120 kos in three days. But the Sikhs had
got scent of it beforehand and most of them went away across
the Jumna. Baghail Singh was wounded in this encounter.
While Najib was marrying his son Kalu Khan at Aonla and
festivities were going on, the Sikhs spread in the parganas of

* Nuruddin, 106.

5 Ibid., 107.

*D. C., 17th April, 1766 : «he Sikhs marching from Okhla ghat,
looted the rice and niolasses in Sahibganj and encamped at Masuri.
Some of the Sikh troops came to the foot of Shaikh Md. and carried
off some camels and bullocks.”’—17th April.

«News came that the Sikh had raided Kutanah, Jhunjhana and
Budhana and that Najib having come up had slain and wounded many
of these horsemen and captured much of the booty.”—22nd” April.

10 Nyruddin, 109. -
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Panipat and Karnal.' In spite of his failing health Najib had
to exert himself- much in order to expel them. Of this Sikh
expedition it has been said that the Sikhs permanently establish-
ed their claim on Nanoutah.'® Soon after this Najib practically
abdicated and he died in 1770. -
We can best sum up Najib’s relations with the Sikhs in the
language of the royal historiogtapher of Kabul: ‘“I'he Budha
Dal Sikhs used to go towards Delhi and so long as Najib Khan
was living, he would fight with them almost every year and was
always victorious but the country suffered. In every pargana
Kacha Killahs had to be built and every village had a mud
fort.””** But it has been estimated that the revenue of Najib's
fief, which was calculated at 100 Lakhs of Rupees, was reduced
by these Sikh depredations to seventy, in three years.!* ‘The
damage done to his fief was permanent. It was only the absence
(_)f artillery that prevented the Sikhs from permanently subjugat-
ing the country but they would always invade at the time when
the crops were cut and would levy their contribution, whether
we term it Rakhee or Kamblee. Najib-ud-Daula practically
acknowledged himself beaten. It was this Sikh menace that
was responsible for his eager desire just before his death to come
to an understanding with the Marathas. He could perhaps feel
before his death that his successors would be crushed between
the upper and nether millstones of Maratha and Sikh power.
Thus the Sikhs made this greatest Indian lieutenant of
Abdali feel that he was beaten. Just as in the case of Ahmad
Shz{1-1 Abdali, the Sikhs refused to fight pitched battles with
Najib, but even if they were surprised and defeated, they
refused to be beaten. Najib, the adventurer, was not a little
responsible for the success of the Ahdalj inroads, the atrocities
ar_1d agonies, the oppression and extortion, the massacre and
dlshonom: that must always remain associated with those dark
days. Directly and indirectly responsible for so much woe and
so much slhame, his career would have been a great shock to our
sense of divine justice, had it mellowed into an ‘exquisite evening.
But in his old age, when he was looking forward to a period of
1 Ibid., 114.
* Williams, T'he Sikhs

13 Hakikat, 37.
" Forster, I, 130.

in the Upper Doab.
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repose, the Sikh power arose, and when he had been almost in-
capacitated by illness, the consciousness of ultimate failure
embittered the last years of the dying man.

Now began the second phase of Cis-Sutlej Sikh history.
Shah Alam II, who was passing his days in exile in Allahabad,
re-entered Delhi on the 6th January, 1772. This restoration to
the capital of his ancestors, he owed to the Marathas. It is
interesting to note that the Sikhs had made him a similar offer
but Shah Alam had declined ‘‘to take that action unless the
whole body of Sikh sardars formed a binding confederacy to
escort him and sent a written pledge.”*® Very soon, however,
the Emperor and his new allies fell out with each other. But
with the death of Peshwa Madhava Rao, a period of confusion
began in Maratha history. ‘“The plains of Panipat were not
more fatal to the Maratha empire than the early end of this
excellent prince.”’*® His successor Narayan Rao recalled the
Maratha army from the north. Then began a civil war in
Maharashtra, which ultimately merged in the last Anglo-
Maratha war. It was not until 1784 that Maratha ascgndency
was re-established in Delhi. In the intervening period between
the retirement and death of Najib-ud-Daula and the retreat of
the Marathas southwards, we hear of the Sikhs as the possible
allies of Mir Qasim in his projects of restoration.”™ We also
hear of them as trying to fish in the troubled waters of the Jat
war of succession.'®

From 1773 to 1783, we have a connected history of the ebb
and flow of the Sikh tide of invasion from the Cis-Sutlej region
castward. It was only their hopeless disunion that prevented
them from wresting power from the hands of the factious
nobility and establishing their ascendency in the court of the
roi fainéant Shah Alam. A consistent imperial policy pre-
supposes a strong central government or the ascendency of a
single mighty intellect. The almost anarchic constitution of the
Sikhs made it impossible either to evolve or to pursue such a

well laid out policy.

LR P G RIR849:

10 Grant-Duff, History of the Marathas, Vol. TII.

17 Select Committee Proceedings, 16th Feb., 1770, 55.
1., P. C., III, March 16, 1770; March 18, 1770.
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; From 1773, the most live issue in the Delhi court was the
rl.valry between Najaf Khan and Abdul Ahad Khan. The
Sikhs knew of this rivalry and aviled themselves of it. We
hea'):' of their entering in 1773, into a friendly alliance with
Najib’s successor Zabita Khan and overrunning the Upper
Doab.*® From the Delhi Chronicle we learn that they looted
Shahdera till midnight and carried off fifty boys.*" ; |
.We hear of Shah Alam II inviting the Sikhs to enter his
service with 10,000 horse and even promising to give Shahbazpur
fgr support. He also sent khilats for the Sikh chiefs.?* ‘The
Sl%chs carried on their depredations with impunity. Najaf Khan
raised an army of 800,000 troops, proposed to punish the Sikhs
and bring the country as far as Lahore under royal control.
Abdul Al.lad wanted to steal a march over his rival. He secured
t}'le :appomtment of Prince Farkhunda Bakht as the foujdar of
S1r‘]1111d. Samru, the notorious freelance, was selected as his
naib. .He was sent towards Sirhind and some parganas in the
possession of the Sikhs were given Him for his support. But
Samru :Vfas defeated by the Sikhs: he did not get his pay and
so he résigned. Abdul Ahad, however, parleyed with the Sikhs
and they even made their appearance in the neighbourhood of

Delhi.*®
In 1775, Zabita, restored to his jagir through the good
ofﬁces of Najaf Khan, found himself almost at the mercy o; the
Sikhs. A large Sikh army headed by Rai Singh, Tara Singh
and Baghail Singh crossed into the territory 6f’Zabita. who
g;gle):ifsg tf) Ghousegar]-a. They ransacked Gungo, Nanutah and
A oﬁ, ];:v:ic;ted Zabita Khan in Ghousegarh, who had to buy
S ) t0u;iupalylmznf: of Rs. .50,000, money down. ‘They
SOUthwardsp o cerut and recrossing the river at Sonepat went
e Szlir]as Delhi. ‘““Boorea was now irrevocably
T s 1ahranpur a\-nd Zabita Khan’s jurisdiction
R Es ae average s1.ze of a modern Collectorate.
i andycm ctiurt to which he had never owed much at
e e ! np.etely at the mercy of the Sikhs, he formed
nce with his truculent neighbours and reasserted his

Y G. R. C. Williams Th i 1
) § e Sikhs in th
": D. .C., 18th January, 1774. SOEREARRE
C PR CEITV NG, 1026, May "i8, 1774,

22 PR I
C., IV, No. 1184, July 27, 1774; No. 1362, Nov. 1, 1774.

THE CIS-SUTLE] SIKHS 85

independence of Emperor Shah Alam.”** Towards the close of
the year we hear of a proposal to buy Sikh support with 50,000
rupees which they wanted through Abdul Qasim Khan. But
as no reliance could be placed on their promise, the proposal
was dropped.** y
In 1776, a combined Sikh and Rohilla army numbering
30,000 to 40,000 men proposed to advance upon Delhi. Najaf
Khan with his army was engaged in besieging Dig. Foujdar
Kasim Ali Khan was sent against them but he was defeated and
killed. Fortunately for the imperialists Dig was taken by Najaf
Khan and he was free to turn his attention to the defence of
Delhi. The Sikhs carried on their depredations up to Aligarh.
Meerut, Secundra, Khurja were all plundered. There is a
tradition that, in order to ingratiate himself with the Sikhs,
Zabita Khan renounced his Muhammadanism, became a Sikh
and changed his name to Dharm Singh. There is a saying
current in Saharanpur district: “Ek.Guru ka Do Chele, Adha
Sikh, Adha Raheleh.”’*> 'This is corroborated by the Siyar-ul-
Mutakkharin: “He even concluded a treaty with them, by
which he subscribed to such articles and entered into such close
connections with those people, that a report spread everywhere,
as if he had forsaken Mussalmanism and made himself a mem-
ber of their community.”’®® It is interesting to note that when
Zabita Khan was advancing towards Delhi, after having com-
pletely defeated, with Sikh help, the royal army under Qasim
Khan, ambassadors approached the Sikh chiefs on behalf of
the Nawab Wazir Asaf-ud-Daula. In the course of these
negotiations, the Nawab Wazir freely made use of the name of
his British allies. .He wanted to expel Zabita Khan from the
Doab and establish his own government there. Ray Singh and
other Sikh ' chiefs at first declined the proposal, as they had
earlier declined a similar proposal of Majd-ud-Daula. A
second time the proposal was made and the name of the British
as guarantors of-the compact was freely used. On behalf of the
Nawab Wazir, the Sikhs were offered ten lakhs, one half to
be paid on the conclusion of the alliance, one half on the defeat

23 3. R. C. Williams, The Sikhs in the Upper Doab.
e P, C., IV, No. 2033, November, 1775.

% G, R. C. Williams, The Sikhs in the Upper Doab.
2 Siyar, IV, 109-10.
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of Zabita Khan. The Nawab Wazir also offered to pay them
half the annual revenues of the Doab. Because of the advan-
tages of friendship with the English ““who were so true to their
eu_gage.ments,” the Sikh chiefs ultimately entertained the offer
Nox’\f, it was the Wazir’s turn to withdraw from the compact.
leaving the Sikhs in the lurch.*” r
Najaf Khan began his campaign with great energy. A
Eloody bflttle was fought between Ameernagar and Ghou:efr-arh
It was mfiecisive. Desperate fighting and incessant skim;shec..s
marke.d ‘thxs campaign. Walter Reinhardt (Samru) joined the
Imperialists. Ultimately, however, Zabita Khan and his allies
were defeated after an engagement for a whole day.?® ““On 11th
Shzfvan, 14th September, 1777, there was a sex;ere battle in
which the Rohillas and their confederates the Sikhs were t(;tally
id{efefited. F}hulam Qadir, Afzal Khan, Sultan Khan and other
ohilla qch1efs surrendered. Zabita fled for life across the
Jumr.la.”"” He was ultimately granted pardon, betrothed one
of his daughters to Najaf Quli Khan, Najaf ,Khan’s adopted
son, persuaded Najaf Khan himself to accept a sisier ofphis
and thus got back the foujdari of Saharanpur Buria.*® Now, of
coui';e, he had to reckon with the enmity of the Sikhs \:\fho
((;leertizzf excuse what they regarded as amour{ting almost to
‘Early in 1779, the Sikhs, who had been raiding the Doab
gxrnc?d their predatory incursions up to Najibz;bad. “Thé
crrcl)i;sélﬂixrmy that was st.ationed near the Daranagar ghat,
S er er‘:;;ar anc‘l went in pursuit of the miscreants but was
A nAe::dlt was comparatiyely small in number.”’” In
A fo,rm dul Ahad Khan, the Delhi minister, rival of
- I, pr:)bam e ha plan of launching an attack on the Sikhs.
weAkened kel ey dofpe{? that the Sikhs had been considerably
e it lte]eat they had suffered from Najaf Khan
o ult he would be easily successful. Moreover,
1gh time that he should show some glorious achieve-

# ‘. 20t1
3 P.C,V, 1 Septem 7
2% Siyar, I\}J 111. Ptpmlies, 1710,

20
C. P. G, V. 27th October, No, 1777.

% Siya
Zulﬁquai-uré-Drih“(; .I:.Ie‘ts came that on 20th September, Nawab
ajaf Khan) handed over the mahals of Saharan-

pur, etc., to Nawab Zabita Khan.
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ments to his credit as, Najaf, his rival, was fast outshining him.
At first Abdul Ahad wanted Prince Jewan Bakht to go as
sipahsalar. Jewan Bakht feigned illness.”* Then Shahzada
Farkhunda Bakht was selected. Many Sikh chiefs joined Abdul
Ahad, the most prominent among them being Baghail Singh,
Karora Singh and Deso Singh of Kythal. Gajpat Singh of Jind
had to promise to pay two lakhs. ‘T'hus strengthened, the
Mughal army reached Patiala. It was defended by Amar
Singh, who was expecting reinforcements from the Trans-Sutlej
region. If these did not arrive, he hoped to seduce Abdul Ahad
by means of gold. He began negotiations for peace. The
Mughal invaders were lulled into a sense of security. Very
soon, reinforcements arrived from the other side under Jai Singh
Kanheya, Jassa Singh Ahluwalia, Jassa Singh Ramgarhia,
Fateh Singh, Jodh Singh and Hakikat Singh. Amar Singh now
sallied forth. The ipvading army found itself attacked on
all sides. The whole army would have been annihilated if
the Mughal artillery had not checked the Sikhs. Some of the
Sikhs, who had previously joined Abdul Ahad, separated from
him, some deserted to their co-religionists and some began to
plunder his belongings. In utter discredit, he was forced to
make a disgraceful and disorderly retreat to Panipat.®® Abdul
Ahad was now, of course, completely crestfallen.

It is no wonder that after this there was no restraining the
Sikhs. But now Mirza Najaf Khan, who had acquired an ascend-
ancy in the Imperial Council, thought it absolutely incumbent
on him to check the Sikhs effectively. In November, 1780,
Mirza Shafi Khan was sent against them with 12,000 soldiers
and a suitable train of artillery.®® According to another estimate
he had about 20/25 thousand troops with him.** He crossed
oht to find out the Sikh army. A desultory

the Jumna and sou
In the mean time, a band of

warfare continued for some time.

ST hartsiile 83
32 Khalsanama, 37;

86; C. P. C,, 1779, Aug. and Oct.
«“News came that Prince Jewan Bakht and Nawab Majd-ud-Daula

(Abdul Ahad) had, on 14th Oct., retreated from Patiala without fighting
and that the Sikhs were pursuing them.””—D. C., Oct. 16, 1779.

33 Tirancklin, Shah Alam, 92. o

3t Delhi Yethil, I, No. 20.

Ibratnama, I1I, 8-16; Francklin, Shah Alam, 85,
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};lilllgllﬂl:aatsikl‘is had marched. almost unopposed up to Meerut.
Meerut 'I?lje ?l\{geieral action took place under the walls of
eﬁ’ectiv;ﬂ t-.L I..Ig al fdrtlllery was mainly responsible for
men werz li'ﬂﬁll~1 cllﬂg (t}l(? Slkl‘].s' It is said that more than 5,000
had to pay 3 likil ;ajpat Sm-gh of Jind was taken prisoner and
not followed ‘u : Odei.ffmt .]1;15 release.  But this advantage was
Punjab as mi lp and it did not lead to an invasion of the
.glt naturally be expected.®® Naj ¢ K £
the 6th April, 1782 a.p. dja han died on
Ahaf ElfanK 1111;111 Jyas an able man. The disgrace of Abdul
court of Delhi zlr;t301111(\%r t-lm,e left him almost supreme in the
B o B 1-\’ er a]laf s death, dissensions began bet-
ival Mughal Amirs, Afrasiab Rihn o Mivsa Shaf

Khan, culminating i
g in the murder of t <
. he 1 i
was not certainly a man who could Ko e

Sikhs. They sent ‘¢ cope wih the irrepressible

every three or four Tszllllt? few C;OTua'rs acyoss the river regularly
: ) ths and collected taxes :
pective c : T : axes from their res-
s norlt;cles; ]\1}5t like the imperial land revenue. The whole
F ot Meerut may be considered as Sikh Yertitory i
inroads is i?er f uld confusion which prevailed as a result of Sikh
‘Sikhs f1:0m 5’Irlllu;s trated from an entry in the Delhi Chronicle :
S A 2Ol encamp at Barari, set fire to Malkaganj and
on cit;r £ ,ini](:i}ﬂag the men of Mughalpura. , The men of
ne fort in terror.”’?? ¥

led by Bachail < : We hear of a Sikh hand
Gangeys : 2’11%]1]12111 (“l“a.mgh penetrating to the verv brink of the
ey did not cross it,. as Nawab Wazir etk

penetrated L opposite side. Sikh bands
and exactegvfegilsotligi Sl\-‘:lahk ranges, made the Doon tributary

. ; sand rupees : ;

Garhwal. Forster i mrlh:%sz} year from the Maharaja of
ougl icques have an unrestrained
nd?1 Fhe southern hills, which are
nt tiarmg 10 opposition from Zabita
0 the lower districts.””s8 ‘I‘he Sikhs
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took advantage of the supineness of Afrasiab Khan and their
depredatory incursions very soon extended up to Rohilkhand,
Chandausi, Hasanpur and other places. The big traders and
merchants who. lived there, were plundered by them.*® Of
course, the Nawab Wazir had English troops to protect him from
these incursions but he was sufficiently alarmed. The Gover-
nor-Ceneral Warren Hastings had also his apprehensions and it
has even been suggested that he deputed Major Browne to Delhi
with fhe object of organising a confederacy against the Sikhs.

But with the murder of Afrasiab Khan, and the ascendancy
acquired by Mahadji Sindhia in the court of Delhi, Cis-Sutlej
Sikh politics took a new turn. Slowly but steadily Mahadji
Sindhia got the upper hand.

Mahadji Sindhia entrusted- Ambaji with the task of the
management of his affairs in the capital.*® His policy was to
divert the energy of the Sikhs and put a stop to their incursions
by taking some of their chiefs into Maratha service. He,
however, met with very little success. There was, for some
time, a talk of the Sikhs and the Marathas uniting together to
attack the country of Nawab Wazir Asaf-ud-Daula,** a protégé
of the British. The Sikhs actually crossed the Ganges and
penetrated as far as Chandausi in Rohill;hand. The leaders of
this expedition were Rai Singh Bhangi, his nephew Sher Singh,
Jodh Singh Chuchrowlee and Sahib Singh of Ladwa. Zabita

‘Khan was unable to check them and remained within the walls

of his fort at Ghousegarrh. He died shortly after.

Mahadji Sindhia actually concluded a treaty with the Sikhs
in the name of the roi fainéant Mughal Emperor. From the
British records we learn that “‘the chiefs of the Khalsa with a
force of 5,000 horse, being united in connection with the Sarkar
with the victorious army, shall receive allowance and a jagir
of 10 lacs of rupees, 7% lacs in the neighbourhood of Karnal
and 2% lacs from the country of the Sarkar.”’*? ‘The Maratha
records corroborate those of the British. The plundering raids

9 Thrat, II, 281, 1198 A.H.
w0, C. “Ambaji was given the foujdari of 28 mahals of Sonpat,

ete., and the Karori of Sairs.” Also see Select Proceedings, 9th April,
1785. °

41 Gecret Proceedings, 7th Jure, 1785

42 [bid.
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?Z t_he Sikhs and th.eir realisation of Rakhi were to stop in the
thiﬁn' b?'ond Panipat: the four mahals that were ceded to
Gotia = II:}L: of the paryment of 2% lakhs of rupees were . . .
ho\\?exl;.;: stilzllré{hOda' Kopram and Maham.** ‘The treaty was,
S ;Jnocm and not long after its conclusion we find the
T ‘In theel f;‘qﬂm ranged i opposition to the great
o I:E 1{11t1ve treaty Sindhia introduced changes to
Singh was def:aia 21 ?SSﬂdor Dulcha Singh did not agree. Dulcha
othzr e mrdal:: '111 the 1\_-Iaratha camp until the signatures of
was galling to hi]'l\l\ er‘;;btamed, The tone of superiority assumed
And:rson Resid t ‘e, the_refore, sent a Vakil to Lieutenant
RS lie]ile t“’lﬂll Sindhia, to ascertain whether the
Anderson advised ti O Ve e o crmectiondywith sthey Dicde
Lucknow. The tr Eem to mnegotiate with the Resident at
responsible for tllf:e?;f[m-ep-:C meted out to Dulecha Singh was
Mahadji. It was B fit(?lsmn 9{' the Sikh chiefs to break with
Sikhs and the Mar t? 5 I?Oh‘:y to prevent the union of the
ments. Sir John Ci i “f'lthom making any definite commit-
inl Ougdhs 'played) ¢ ponas commanding the Company’s troops
already broken \vitlhss'gam? very ably. The Sikh chiefs had
he might have the ];, ..}nd]na but. they were apprehensive that
removed this ap rehnh?h to befriend him. Sir John Cumming
attitude of the Iéi]‘i S tl}e Sikh chiefs. ‘I'he unfriendly
then engaged in Vit,ls caused Sindhia some concern. IHe was
Sikh inLc U:Sions ancc,loreously prosecuting the siege of Aligarh but
in the capital neroachment required Maratha vigilance

Early in 1786, the N
of interfering in’ g:lihl\ [:rﬁa;tih-ns got a very welcome opportunity
gg:.rr a Rao, \‘ias stationed inlst.heOFl’fl 'Of i -Maratha ol
: an of Patiala, hard pressed b A BNeIo: Nannu Mal,
for help and promised to pa. : OY rebel chiefs, approached him
a1'1d all the expenses.** Thcy 000 rupees a day, 3 lacs in cash
his army enabled Nanny M:]resence of the Maratha chicf with
he took the carliest opportunit rto re'eﬁtablish his position and
{md persuading him to With;-s ?f paying off.the Maratha chief
into the Upper Doab continuel(?“ﬁ -But Sikh predatory inroads

“ Delhi Yethil, 14th June 178; ::“ levy of blackmail eXteﬂd'

g , 135

4 Secret Proceed;
: edings, 2
& Dethi Vethil, fo0 | T Sugusts 1785,
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ing up to Meerut.*® Mahadji was at this stage apprehensive
lest they would join Ghulam Qadir, son of Zabita Khan, ‘“The
only independent Mussalman chief that remains in this quarter,
though his resources are small.”” But the Sikh practice of
indiscriminate plunder and annoyance most probably prevented

some such close understanding.

vaded the Sikh country, with a
view to subduing it, if possible. He was joined by Baghail Singh
with 1,000 troops. He also wanted to take other chiefs like
Karm Singh and Gurdit Singh into his service. He promised
six annas a day per sowar. They demanded a large jagir, as
had been given to Baghail Singh.*” These negotiations proved
abortive. About Baghail Singh it should be noted that he was
the unfailing ally of all the invaders of the Cis-Sutlej region
and of all prospective st
a very unenviable part in Cis-Sutlej Sikh history. Dulcha Singh
was another Sikh chief who joined the Marathas. Ambaji also
succeeded in persuading Chulam Qadir to join him, and
very near to Patiala. ‘This invasion of Ambaji was
hen Sindhia was very hard pressed and
ble him to overwhelm the Rajputs
adan chiefs. ‘The Sikhs weakened
him to detach some of his troops
Ambaji’s expedition, however,
failed. Ghulam Qadir suddenly retired. ‘A douceur of 20,000
rupees from Nannu Mal was what chiefly induced him to quit
so abruptly.”*® Ambaji still talked of advancing further into
the Sikh country. But he knew that there was a Jaipur agent,
well provided with money, who was attempting to seduce his
Sikh allies. ““He had no reason to rely on their homour or
moderation. He was accompanied in his return journey by
Baghail Singh and other Sikh sardars who had joined him at
Panipat, except Rai Singh who had gone away with Ghulam
Qadir. In such circumstances, the retreating army would
almost invariably have been plundered.” But in this case
¢« Phe Sikhs contented themselves with carrying off two hundred

In 1787, Ambaji himself in

advanced
undertaken at a time w
needed all his resources to ena
and the discontented Muhamim
him to someuextent by obliging
to prevent their incursions.

s Delhi Vethil, I, 168.
a7 Ibid, 237.

s Ibid., 6th July, 1787, No. 1.

bjugators of his countrymen and played .
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heads of cattle and wi
S wit i : :
night,*’4? with sometimes robbing his camp in the
Now, Gh .
“‘darkened theu:jrli]:rh?adlr began that insensate career which
. AU w]f‘ ; star of the august Timurian family, and
 Imperial autllorityl’r’ﬁleOIS-Ofd I(?es,struction, the stately vessel of
him to 1 mdhia’s defeat at Jaipu ed
e Ma;:zgect troops and rush to Delhi, Glfulzlunr S?Ji?‘ugiive
e Cloa dgar‘nsc')n .from Delhi, joined Ismail ‘Be the
i R- 1;<lomen chief, and defeated an ar f \%’1 dji
ane my of Maha
Sikhs stood Si::lii;lei: gAch‘;l Dot here an inczrsion ;lf thJe
their pred : Y stead. ‘The Sikt 1
e afso (;;E:Z mcursions 1into the territory oflsgi;:;uaéafi(r
gan to plunder the region around Delhi. Ghulam

Qadir hasti

enabled ;{;lge't%?:j E ot ;epd Sl
3 0 rout i

Qadir came to the capital bli;lnaﬂ Beg. Soon after, Ghulam

plundered the Imperial dea.i the Emperor, deposed him,
royal family, but on athpalace, dishonoured and degraded the
5 + the approach :

army, he of the r tha
i e ;:;lt};;zw from Delhi. While Ghulsgfg:gi wl\aj[aasmstill
Nannu Mal to j i mat_ie by Sindhia to Baghail Singh and
to win them oic:rn h;n With troops. Ghulam Qadir ﬁli trie
motives, these chi('efs tézzrilly, always acting from mercenay

they w D . o strike a bargai .
mog th’sul]-(ll 1thln \\ihmhever side would pagaln, Surglgestmg th::;
P aInmtclql'3 in diﬁclrent places Ghulxreg'gad'ffz:teied
the Stkhs, beggin mfean time Ghulam Qadir’s mothelr wrote t0
S oy ug 1or help on behalf of her son and offering
sual monetary inducement,5? Ginl i Qadir

. ulam

* Delhi Vethi :

i { hil, 6th Ty

g Fraanlln, Shah A]Ieufll S %

i Delhi Yethil, 1, 317 i
D. C., 6th Novye ;

* Delhi Yethil, 35 mber, 178g,
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Ganges-Jumna Doab as also their frequent plundering raids
carried up to the very walls of Delhi. “The Maratha leaders
Rane Khan and Ali Bahadur crossed into the Sikh country and
advanced very near to Patiala. Dewan Nannu, shabbily treated
by the Patiala Durbar, went over to the Marathas. Rani
Rajinder, a daughter of Bhumiya Singh, a son of Ala Singh,

was the most prominent person in the court of Patiala. She
offered to accompany the army and go to the Patel to settle terms.
She actually went to Mathura, where the Patel received her
with great honour, and a nazrana of one lac was promised and
paid.** Not long after this both Nannu Mal and Rani Rajinder

died.

Though the Sikhs were checked, their predatory activity

Gid moticease Il WeNAndisnthe Maratha records that Deoji
Goure, Bapuji Malhar, Gopal Rao Raghunath, Madho Rao
Phadke and others were employed by the Maratha chief to stop
the plundering raids of the Sikhs.* We can form some idea of
the activities of the Sikhs betweer 1790 and 1794 from some of
the entries in Delhi Yethil against different dates :

“4th September 1790.—Last year, the Sikhs carried away
Mr. Stuart from Anupshahr and he remained imprisoned till
released on payment of 60,000 rupees by Begam Samru.”’

«Octoben, 1791.—Deoji Goure and Bapujl Malhar all at
once fell upon the Sikhs. 40/50 of them were Kkilled or wounded
and 100 horses were taken. Other Sikhs fled away towards

Patiala.”’
“26th February,

motion on the borders
Bairo Pant approached,

Panipat.”’
«3rd November,

Bhanga Singh, Karm Singh an
Ghousegarh, Meerut and the Antarvedi were looted by them.

In 1794, Nana Rao was sent across the Jumna to subdue
the Sikh country and to secure nazrana. ‘The chiefs of Jind
and Kythal sent presents. But Sahib Kour, sister of the Raja

1790.—The Sikhs created a great com-
of Antarvedi. As Rarhoji Sindhia and
they crossed the Jumna and went towards

1790.—7/8 thousand Sikhs, headed by

d others, crossed the Jumna.
1156

54 Khalsanama, 64A; Delhi Yethil, T, 379, 381, II, 14.

55 Delhi Yethil, IT, 35, 47, 68/
s Thid., 28, 35, 68; Supplement, 9.
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of Pati :

Willint;l;va,a;-tz cthrect'ed the affairs of the state there, would not
secuﬁng the aid ocf) l?lllzh N te-lme submission. She succeeded in
and other Phulkia chi ;] ga Singh and Mehtab Singh of Thanesat
x o de ? Tara Singh Gheba also sent a detach-
fought at Mardan G 5’0.00 sowars with her. A battle was

(T R ;21;-}3 It contmued_ up to sunset. It was the
AT ey agivrr:ry of Rani Sahib Kour that prevented
fusion prevailed. Alan?l?' In the Maratha camp utmost con-
Sikhs were coming in S\::lfmzm;:ours 1_lea'::th et
retired . e ross the S ;
attack(:ledto’;\;::;lsof atrl?: lbm:h gy of 12?81(;; f;?ﬁlelasiiz
army migl anks of the Ghaggar. T ance
i Rg; ;t “Elilztalzrerel.)efen overwhelmed but for tlll;C aﬁ?ﬁil of
SR I;i;;cggt;ti Tlu:ly could now compel the
until bot : : nued even
tinued tlileil;ar}ifje‘?ere exhausted. "The SiI«:Ersl ﬂ}isxiz?rld c?);i
army retreated t Mg anﬂ harassing tﬂCtics,, T \’I, tha

o Panipat,® 1e  Mara
“The insecuri ; :
sions, their claiiltllrsltfo C1>f his frontier, the Sikh predatory inctif-
Mahadji Sindhia to evy blackmail in the Doab—all these led
ment of the more rzi‘) ntemplate an expedition for the chastise-
designs in 170458 éﬂfécory chiefs, when death frustrated his

Rao, Count De Bhins .11a Ecrl Mahad_ji Sindhia’s suctessor Daulat

affairs in the Delhj nd after him Perron, managed Maratha
: region.  Their regularly trained, well”
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- George Thomas took the
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“I'reaty of Surji Anjengaon, are J’hinjahana\ yielding a revenue
.of 36,554, and lands not specified with an income of Rs. 57,968
appropriated to the use of Gurdit Singh and Bhag Singh.
Although Perron had resumed most of the Sikh jagirs and in a
the excesses of the sardars, he had utterly
f paying minor instalments of

3159

great measure checked

failed to abolish the custom o
blackmail. In familiar language, he winked at the practice.

“This was the actual state of Maratha-Sikh relationship in the
Doab before the advent of the British power.

But in the region between the Sutlej and the Jumna, the
Sikhs were, towards the close of the 18th century, suddenly plac-
ed on the defensive, not by the Marathas but by a new pOWer.
George ‘Thomas, “the Jehaz—Firinghec,” was one of the many
freelances, whose carcer gives a charm to the history of th.e 18th
century, When in Maratha service he had made a reputatm.n for
himself in fighting against the Sikhs. About 1797, he estaphsh'ed
himself in the Hansi-Hissar region as an independent chieftain.
Now began his tussle with the Sikhs. He first ma'de friendly over-
tures to the Sikh chiefs, Sahib Singh, Bhag Singh and others.
They regarded the unscrupulous adventurer 1-'..:'1.th s&splc.:lon and
were not willing to further his schemes of ambition. His aggre-
ssive career, however, synchronised with the r.eff\ppearance of the
Durrani meflace and this placed him in a p051t101‘1 .Of advantage.
While the Sikh chiefs were preoccupied with dev15mg means jfor
thwarting Zaman Shah, George Thomas attacked J’md,' wln?h
was so n:ar to Hansi. An attempt to storm the pl.ace having fail-
ed, he began a blockade. Bibi Sahib Kour of Pa.tlala approached
Jind with a big allied army- Thomas had to raise the bloc‘.Radc,
and a fight took place at Narawind, 20 kos north of Hansi. He
completely defeated the Sikhs, got mu.ch booty but could not get
possession of their artillery. After this a _tre'aty was c.oncluded,

according to which each side was to remain .m posse%mon. of the
d before the siege of Jind. Sahib Singh of
Patiala refused to sign the treaty and in spite of his protests Bibi
Sahib Kour put her signature. Thus begar% a quarre.l between the
brother and the sister which developed into enmity, of which

fullest advantage. Not long after we

&, R. C. Williams, The Gikhs in the Upper Doab.

60 Thalsanama.
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find Thomas again i i : - :
partisans of Bib&iT Sahilﬂf;l Iﬁl'.)(?fllra_ln? territory co-operating with the
o IonIrf t\.vas n}o{t possible for George Thomas to remain quiet for
T, me. He must pay his troops and this he could do only by
Lgvtznderr‘mg his weaker neighbours like Jind and Kythal. More-
Whg’\ve?e 1;/’[1:12‘;’“1“15 enmity subéisted between his own troops,
s a ;
to fight the Siki mg]? R they were very eager
to have headed t; léorg.e Thom?S may, to some extent, be said
Cis-Sutlej region ;-I E'Sclllm reaction against Sikh triumph in the
in the affairs of ';h eC'I o5 TS any ‘opportunity of interfering
e e ; 1s-Sutlej Sikhs. When Ray Ilias, the boy
claitmed'a religio vas hard pressed by Bedi Sahib Singh, who pro-
STk aidgwus war .wlth a view to dispossessing him, George
consideration 'j["zlzS SRR an(.i, in return for very valuable
possessions i—Ie gmas- e his aid and restored him to his
words : “T.hus T ;s;l’lbes his last expedition in the following
was more successful tha campaign of seven months, in which I
i iy an T coul.d have possibly expected. When
of cannon, I lostl' I?' force consisting of 5,000 men and 36 pieces
third of m;r force 1 r;)uéliled and wounded and disabled nearly one-
tions. T realized é e 0016 enemy lost 5,000 persons of all descrip-
e l’eceiv(; ,000 Tupees exclusive of the pay of my arny
were delivered up & adimonal !’00'000 for the hestages which
ing to the Sikhg' »« - = was dictator in all countries belong-
55 i b th;t s}?uth of the Sutlej.”’®* A et part
IR T A he was the dictator of the Cis-Sutle]
4 Dpage out of ythre Oiomontade_ Thomas had only taken
did in the Karnal PaniOOk o .Sikh history. What they
Thomas was now doing nli(a):; Delhi region and in the Doab;
.Not that he was uniformly vi Et:fectwely in their own country:
'L an engagement with the I(J:;'co:;-llousf He was actually defeated
But as Lepel Griffig g “Tr}ll CI.nef
3 e Sikhs had most to lose. Their
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of doubtful wisdom.” A treaty was concluded, by which
Thomas got the districts of Badsikri, Jamalpur and ‘I'ohana
from Patiala, Kanhori from Kythal and Sufaydo from Jind.
The Maharaja of Patiala agreed to treat his sister well. The
treaty was made at the end of March, 1800 and she died svon
after.® .

After the retirement of George Thomas to Hansi in 1801,
the Cis-Sutlej chiefs, who had by this time enough of the Irish
adventurer, sent a deputation to wait upon General Perron.
Rani Sahib Kour was already dead. Had she been living,
nobler counsels might have prevailed ‘in Patiala. Perron sent
the third brigade of Daulat Rao Sindhia under Louis Bourquin
to operate in concert with the Sikhs against Thomas. Patiala
did not give any considerable aid. ‘Thomas had to surrender
1, 1802. He abandoned all his conquests and
retired into British territory. The arrangement made between
the Cis-Sutlej states and General Perron is worth careful scrutiny,
as the British Government later took its stand on this in its
the Sikh monarchy under Ranjit Singh and
a rights in the Cis-Sutlej area.
According to one versiom, the Sikh chiefs agreed to assist Perron
with 5 1:1(;5 of rupees and 10,000 cavalry. According to Collins,
Resident with Sindhia, they were to pay Perron Rs. 50,000 for
six months certain. ‘The pact with Patiala developed into a
treaty of friendship, by which the friends and enemies of one
party were to become the friends and enemies of the other.®*
The- confederates claimed a share of the territory of George
Thomas. Jind and Kythal were casily satisfied. But the
claims of the Raja of Patiala over some portion of the territory
of George Thomas were not settled for a very considerable time.
According to the terms of the treaty between Perron and the
Cis-Sutlej states, «Patiala, Jind and Kythal may take over the
possessions which were with them during the time of Najaf
Kuli Khan and M aharaja Ali Jah Bahadur.” Patiala, therefore,
under this treaty, ~laimed reinstatement to the position at the
end of the reign of Amar Singh.

The Dewan of Patiala was later given a Khilat by Perron.
la presented a nazrana of 100 gold mohurs to

on January

claimed to succeed to Marath

A wakil of Patia
o Tepel Griffin, Punjab Rajas, 87; I. H. R. C., XVIII, 344.
ed T, H, R. C., XVIII, 347.

7
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Daulat Rao. Bourq_uin was sent to the Cis-Sutlej country to
collect money due from the states under the pact. Very 5—0011,
however, Perron and Bourquin quarrelled. The 'I‘rr;atY of
_Bassein was concluded by Peshwa Baji Rao II, and a series of
evénts began that put an end to the ambitious desiens of
Perron.®* : o

40 The state of Indian politics at this period was such that it
1s impossible to say what constituted a sound title. 'This
practically ““‘depended solely on power and convenience and he
was the ruler who possessed means of active interference.” As
in the Schleswig-Holstein question, theoretical claims were Of
little use except in taxing the ingenuity of the jurists. ‘The
best claim in such circumstances was that of the sword. i

ﬁ.'iS e
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CHAPTER VII

SikH CONFEDERATE FEUDALISM AND BRITISH
IarPERIALISM LATE IN THE 18rH CENTURY

We know much of Anglo-Sikh relations in the nineteenth
century—the steady friendship between the British Government
and the Sikh monarchy, the ultimate clash of arms and the
collapse of Sikh militarism on the fields of Sobraon and Gujrat.
But the relations between these two growing powers in the
18th century must have contained some germs out of which
their mutual relations sprouted into full bloom in the 19th. The
Sikhs established their hold in the Punjab, dammed the tide
of Durrani invasion and parcelled out the province among
themselves. During the period of their struggle for independence
they presented more or less a united front against the Afghans.
But the centrifugal tendency soon asserted itself and in the
cighties of the century we find the individual chiefs, who were
heads of the wmisls, following a policy of self-aggrandisement.
Their weak confederation naturally left them in a position in
which they wére able to negotiate with the neighbouring powers
in their own interest. ‘I‘here is another factor which must not
be overlooked. ‘I'he T'rans-Sutlej Sikh misls had not much to
do with the powers of Hindustan. Anglo-Sikh relations between
1780 and 1800 concerned mainly the Cis-Sutlej states. In this
connection we can quote an extract from the British records
that gives us an estimate of the Trans-Sutlej and the Cis-Sutlej
SQikhs: ‘“I'he Sikhs in Lahore and Multan form altogether a
very respectable power. . . . They are prevented by necessity
of watching the motives of each other from attempting to extend
their conquests. . . . The Sikh chiefs immediately to the north-
ward of Delhi are totally unconnected with these and are in fact
nothing more than a number of petty plunderers.’’

In his Minute, dated the 4th December, 1784, Warren
Hastings recorded his opinion on the rising Sikh power. He
regarded the Sikh power extending ‘“‘from the most western

()

1 fixtract from Secret Consultation, 24th Nov., 1786, No. 6.
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bra‘nch of Attock to the walls of Delhi,”’* as a new object worth
se.rl.ous contemplation. The Sikhs, so eminently suited to the
m1l}tary'profession, could not become very powerfill because of
their spirit of independence and frequent internal u-‘arf:3.ré but
they were prompt to rally together at the call of common danger.

‘ren H'lSti]l“ S "‘ 18 b2 i ( [ a o 1S
GL arre o 25 visualisec C! a i i Y i
= - 10¢@ gl 11 -he (e -
= 1n tll(.]l‘ Dollt ’., tll(_
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N g gt uB_ .‘:I.l‘ll)ll‘e and‘naturally wanted to prevent
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Ko el HCTL‘ to_‘pernnt the - people to grow into
e 3;01; 1(111t ‘mtcnuptmn.”“ It was not until 1809 that
Hast.ino.s b,sf ‘ ook the turu‘ that was contemplated by Warrent
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they exist solely for the reason of the personal interest of the
princes and that as soon as their projects of fortune or ambition
are satisfied, they become equally indifferent to the French or
the Lnglish. . . . The Sikhs pass for very brave men and it is
the general opinion among the Mughals that none but the Sikhs
and the Marathas can turn the English out of Bengal, the former
by attacking the country on the left bank of the Ganges and the
Marathas that on the right bank. It is not believed that the

34

Sikhs have any alliance with the English. _

Mahadji Sindhia, ‘‘the nominal slave but the rigid master

of Shah Alam II, Emperor of Delhi,”’ was from 1784 to 1789

the practical ruler of the region from the Sutlej to Agra. He
suffered a temporary eclipse in 1786-88, but very soon regained
his authority. From the very nature of the circumstances, he
played a very important part in Anglo-Sikh relations of the
period. ‘The Sikhs were making incursions into the Ganges-
]uinna Doab. Attempts were made to take them into his service
but to no purpose. In May, 1785, Colonel Cumming was infor-
med by two Sikh chieftains, Gurdit Singh and Man Singh, that
Mahadji was negotiating with them to unite together against the
English and the Nawab Woazir. The Sikh chiefs, however,
informed Colonel Cumming that “‘this stranger having become
strong in our own country will injure the whole world; if you,
gentlemen, should be desirous of friendship, the chiefs of the
K halsa will not be separated from you.”’”® ‘‘Bung Singh Baha-
dree, Gudat Singh, Buksh Singh and Jodh Singh”® also wrote
to Colonel Cumming that there was negotiation afoot between
Sindhia and the Sikh chiefs with a view to bringing about com-
motions on the other side of the Ganges. They suspected that
Sindhia’s desire of friendship with them was due to his eagerness
to get their help in the reduction of Aligarh but Sindhia is said
hat the removal of the English was upper-

to have assured them t
most in his mind because “‘they were both his and our enemies
the remedying of that

and would one day make war . . . .

4 Modern Review, 1925, A. Singara{'elu, “Disunited India as seen by
a Foreign Eye.”
s Gecret Proceedings, 7th June, 1785, pp.

John Cumming’s Letter No. 1.,
¢ Ibid., Enclosure No. 7o

1684-86—FEnclosure in Sir
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beforehand is 1 N7
L e i;ﬂgﬂ;fatli)le. Those Sikh chiefs informed the
RS ad o 1at they were “inclined to friendship with
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friendship with ever e.CHStOm of the English is to .n.mintain
it i e le person anq especially with the powers of
proper that this s ,-.‘tmm HHendship is p articularly desired. It is
s pro()j% soimr shoul(jl be supported between us b'ut this
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A treaty” was ntry of the Nawab Wazir,”s

: y was actually concluded b
of the roi fainéant Delhi Emperor 3
May, 1785). iy
is anti-British.

tween Sindhia, on behalf
In the treaty it ,» and the Sikh chiefs (16th
pRa ]} itself we do not find any clause that
a force of 5,000 horse b]'( ed thf}t “the chiefs of the Khalsa with

it he Beot il eing united in connecti i
¢ victorious army shall receive ion with the Sarka”

ten lakhs of rupees. allowances and a jagir of

the English compan am in friendship with the chiefs in
e T y and with the Nawab Wazir. Iet there
Lk s Onemlfury to t.heir country.’’? BrO\‘vn‘ Ie K : r
B e o the articles of the Treat ne, howevel

s: “‘Besides the royal la s e

b9 eithCl [ S i ’
bart E;nldh.a 01 1
1 J ( D[lsellt C

either side of
the Jumn: :
thorent a, from Hindus o 3 .
to the \;hil ,belong to the Khalsagee ¥ Mu?;lalmansj o
Z1eTES CR i H
known, was acopljn};c‘r 3{"’1" The Wazir’s countlrls gty Pomlfis
; ritish prot ry, as it is well
i‘l}?ted that in the clau‘seqI seRIte.
e Briti T}
BaTko ;;c;sh_records, ther
nsive com . of su Fensi
Treaty that chang Dla ct. This change in the & it offensivi
James Anderso ged 1its spirit, wa e wording of the
® Anderson, British ) Was due to British pressure-

Mahadji Resi E i
Tahadji on the 13th Apri plaeneliwith Sindhia, waited of

1 and
7 Ibi demand ¢
Tbid. ed “‘some satisfactory

8 Secret Proceeditlgs, 7th June

o f
Ibid., pp. 1689-90—Written 16t11'785, Enclosure No, 3

1 Ma
aty ey, 1785,

BIO\VHC, Itldla IIQCLS 29 5 . 1 85-
C. COI]S., Sld Adedyy
) 016318‘[] Se n 1a /

1ds whatever shall be acquired :
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late negotiations with the Sikhs.”
alienate the English and gave out
the chiefs of Jaipur and Marwar.
d the Sikhs had no effect on the
t ever observed by the

explanations in regard to his
Mahadji could not afford to
as the objects of his treaty
The treaty between Sindhia an
practical politics of the day nor was i
contracting parties.

In 1787, William Palmer, Resident with Mahadji Sindhia,
was asked whether the British Government and the Nawab
Wazir would approve of Mahadji Sindhia’s attempt to reduce
the Sikhs. The actual proposal was this— ‘If Sindhia should
commence hostilities against the Sikhs with the view of prevent-
ing their incursions and overthrowing their power entirely and
settling their country under his authority, what would the
English Governor-General or the Nawab Wazir say in regard
to the propricty of his operation . . . would they think them
necessary, proper or in short approve of them.”’?* Sindhia’s
ascendancy had at that time suffered an eclipse. His defeat in
Rajputana and Ghulam Qadir’s advance upon Delhi seemed
almost to shatter his authority in Hindustan. Naturally, such
an ill-timed proposal for reducing the Sikhs, was regarded by
Palmer with some suspicion. He disapproved and wrote that
there was a design, “4n case your lordship’s approbation of it
should be obtained to excite the Sikhs to ravage the Vizier’s
in the hope that such an outrage would draw our
in which Sindhia is at present engaged ; or
ng him which alone mighti

3312

dominions,
army to the scenes
at least in the appearance of supporti

be productive of material advantage to his cause.
o of Lord Cornwallis to India as

Soon after the coming
Governor-General and Commander-in-chief, there was a proposal
of either Maratha or Sikh cavalry to fight in

for raising a body
the Carnatic in the event of a war, and there was some loose talk
about the superiority of the Maratha or Sikh cavalry over the

Mughal. Also in a paper handed over to Colonel Ross, it was
suggested that though the Sikh cavalry could move more rapidly
than the Mughal, “it was doubtful whether a sufficient number
could be levied and if levied, their obedience and fidelity could
be relied omn. These irregular troops and specially the Sikhs

8th Nev., 1787, No. 4.
1787, No. 3.

1 Gecret Proceedings, 2
12 Gecret Proceedings, 28th Nov.,
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are very littl ;
commanders (;rt;ﬂ;l er1-"_'he control of their commanders and their
S fai.t]; S 1tt.1e rc.istramed by the principles of honour
horseman pursule; x\;ﬁ]i;fll):}:gl th: 0;) Rl indiviCEg
R [ > e steadi : I
plundering 1 3 ness, he will acquire it by
Sl ;)olilﬁ of\T\ 1L country and the property of his ]friunds i)f
this hcad; thcb%OikTr.gT? e JrHonstance that will .be 111:1(1;011
e iu\hi al af dar will remark with unaffected gravity
TR e ij 1.)0‘.\.61' t'o alter the nature of his fOHO\\::rS 1113
Widesp.reacl tha\t tlh mgt-iestmg o it shows that the belief .was
the successful milifﬂ;‘i :_lefwas ncapable of discipline. Not until
dispelled, and ¥ orms of Ranjit Singh was this myth
i the Anglo-Sikh campaigns of the nine PSR
ok cly established the fact that ¢ Ilfueteeuth o
mently a disciplined soldier at the Sikh was pre-

Towards t}
1e end of the 18th century, Zaman Shah. the king

of Kabul, talked
) of following j
and getting ri .. owing 1 the footsteps of hi er
Sikhs, whg r‘i(i of his nternal difficulties by a calili grandfa:c;‘lhe
once leap into rperogn'a e .thc North-Western froﬁlf;llsc-lll at
power of Northerp IES?HC,CI’-‘IIH the records of the Dred(;mi“f‘nﬂ
1 ia i
stir thl’()u .ho y . 11S new Chﬂlnpion Of I d a
wrote a lgettc\i-t fél dLa-; efsenTthc broher of the N;\I\a;; f)ljfeall)tzccﬂ
between the Cj T here was a brisk
e Cis-Sule: o i risk co nce
S thles CS;;IEJ Sikh chiefs and the Britisﬁrgzgﬁlr;ietz in
Mahadji. Ray Singh pa OSfiIE ﬂulla‘t Rao Sindhia, the successor of
informed the TReInaly wikh chief of the Cis-S . iy T us
o TR quar(t'ell-thh fmthoritics; “The disturgzlr? reflon’ Egns
» Meamng Zaman Shakh’s invasion Cs hz:t rl;aecin
, cann

known to % :
to places of t you. The chiefs of the Khalsa repaifed

of them is b
at case with regard to thejr

3 Copv of
< a4 paper wr; .
LDI‘(} Cor““'élllis 4 dellltltten n Pursuance ¢ i by
* Lord Valentia’s Thered to Colonel R oL a desire expressed D}
?ﬂloted by Whitellem"] inmv'elg’ LOndml, 18\]DISS, pagy ZUE
ol. IIT. S his Cﬁtillogf_e of C,- Vol. 1L, :\.1)])011(“-‘5 i
oins in T,ahore Muset™

.and take possession of the Punjab in t
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devoted body (meaning the Ahdallis) from this country and over-

whelmed them and He will now do the same.’”*?

Jassa Singh, another Sikh chief, most probably of the
Ramgarhia misl, wrote to the British Resident at Lucknow in
the same strain and both pleaded in favour of a system of mutual
co-operation, Against the common enemy beyond the Attock
gorge Wellesley proposed a league with the Rajputs, the
Marathas and the Sikhs. An alliance with the Sikhs was, how-
ever, regarded by Major Ceneral Craig as impractiable from the
point of view of sound strategy. If Zaman Shah had succeeded
in advancing further into India, Anglo-Sikh relations might have

taken a new turn. The precipitate retreat of the Kabul ruler pre-

vented the growth of a cordial anderstanding between the Sikh

.confederation and the British Government.

George 'Thomas, an Irishman, loyal British subject, and
soldier of fortune, established himself as the Raja of Hariana
about 1797. In 1802, he was worsted and driven out by an army
sent by Perron to help the Cis-Sutlej states. The career of this
bold adventurer is very significant. He had offered to advance
he name of his sovereign.
Indulging in the extravagant language so characteristic of him,
he is said to have remarked that he “‘aspired to the honmour of
planting the British standard on the banks of the Attock,”’*® and
‘that he was “‘the dictator of all countries belonging to the Sikhs
south of the Sutledge.””*” But with the Marathas still threatening
danger, the project of Thomas seems to have been a very wild
ble only with an adventurer, who cared for nothing
bt conquering raids and for whom the consolidation of the con-
.quered lands had no significance. Not until 1809, did the
British bring the land between the Sutlej and the Jumna under
their control and the expectation of George Thomas was in
part realized. If Ranjit Singh could have begun his Cis-Sutlej
career several years earlier, he might have taken full advantage
of the Anglo-Maratha war and of the subsequent non-interven-

one, possi

1779, No. 63. Gourmitter, i.e.,

15 Foreign Political Consultation,
bly according to Sillah Gowvind or

Gurwmat, or resolutions of the assem

+he rules of the 10th Guru.
10 Prancklin, Military Memcirs of George Thomas, 247.

11 Francklin, Military Memoirs of George Thomas, 215.
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tion phase of Briti i
ish foreign polj i
o 1 foreign policy and might have fores 3
just as the Tlat region. We must not alsoboverlool Z;CSt’? oy
B % ) . : . < 1€ 1ac ¢
ersian nnDirI; Thousand, in their advance and retreat%'t thldt
P E , served as the vanguard of the army 1“2] tlle
7 led by

Alexander a :
e Iltcll I’(-ICO.H{lOltI‘C‘d the ground for him 1i

; 1¢ British in the region 1 » so did George
1e Jumna. > between the Sutlej and

CHAPTER VIII

Poriry, EcoNonmy AND MILITARY ORGANISATION OF
; THE SIKHS UNDER THE Misls

An analysis of the polity and economy of the Sikhs during
the misl period, must be prefaced by a short account of the
transformation of Sikhism that is associated with the name of
Guru Gobind Singh. The Sikh brotherhood was an established
fact. It was the work of the sticcessors of Guru Nanak. Nanak had
rotherhood of men, but this principle of fraternity,
kind, is one of.the weakest in practice, as
the French Revolution and many other movements, political and
religious, teach us. By precept and by example the successors
of Guru Nanak sought to inculeate the supreme duty of service
to the Sikhs in general and the sacrifice of the individual in the-
general body of the commonwealth. ‘The visible external sym-
bols of Sikh brotherhood, as also the habitual deference of the
Gurus to the will of their disciples, made the brotherhood a
power until a Sikh could write thus—‘‘Where there is one Sikh,
there is one Sikh; where there are two Sikhs, there is a company
of saints; where there are five Sikhs, there is God.”*

There were now two incompatibles in Sikh life—the
supreme Guru and the almost equally supreme brotherhood.
The two were of course in harmony, but sovereignty must
ultimately be monistic, and the incompatibility, if persisted in,
would certainly have led to a suicidal conflict. Guru Gobind
Singh, that great awakener of consciousness, first removed the
prevalent abuses within the Sikh church and gave it unity and
cohesion. He gave the Sikhs a new name, new dress, new equip-
ments and new ceremonies. He also required all the Sikhs to-
carry arms, and impressed them with the idea that they were
born to conquer. He told his followers to regard the sword as the
principal stay in the world. A new form of initiation was intro-
duced in which water was churned with a dagger. ‘Humility
and Prayer’” was replaced by self-assertion and extirpation of

1 Macauliffe, Sikh Religion, Vol.
the Sikh religion. ¥

preached the b
as applied to all man

IV—Bhai Gur Das’s analysis of
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the Turk . ¥
everyﬂlllirll;j.el?:ruHQoF)md Singh exalted military life above
Khalsa wl?o cozrllbat -e- ¥ lfeported to have said: ‘““He is of the
is ever waging batts;em the van, who mounts the war horse, who
it was decTared that ‘:ﬂnd “I ey C.Olltinuany armed.””  Finally
the Khalsa.”’ \'oL:v N I-Xhalm,: is the Guru and the Guru i;
taught to reve;e, c]ourl);acl?ecaiytis?}cidtl:)at jo e beet
Already devoti satisfied by serving the Khalsa.
the Gu};u :itdloﬁo‘ior (1307(1 had become merged in the devotion to
Guru and, love for Wi Of God, obedience and service to the
TR thzné another—all would consist in the service
p ommonwealth

In this transformed system, we ﬁ.n
alo_ng with a strong sense of IJr:otherh
religious-minded w

d an element of theocracy,
arlike fraterni 100d. The Sikhs were now a
The Central Governmentu‘i“uttlf’ ér_llt‘;nSElY e el
; ot the Sikhs during t i :
f:,?;md of a tumult.uous diet, the “‘Sarbat Kh;lsil?’ 71”;% rl)enod
T (—:ah};:zr alt Almrxtsar during the Baisakhee ané th:z ;;cl ;Hle_t
a lead er by a Ina.or.t cwatt.
him ¢t et WA J_ ity of votes, but barel
eleVati}cl)i nd1g'11‘1}11ty of primus inter pares d‘:lriuo- his t}(;;llOWEd
. 2 g ora
e calleg ]CJOI;fiéiler?cy was called Khalsaji and thepgra;g
: al Khalsaji. In civil 1
social : : il life there was com
Khafzmeqllﬂhty amongst the Sikhs. In the meetings of the Sfrlbe::
o b; eqvt:;y‘on: cm;ld freely express his opinion. The decisions
/i3 ajority of votes The eSOt o
: tions passed in t
sence of the holy Granth were Gurumatia Thf gr:fdlrclliﬂ;e pl:—
° et made

decisio ; i
ns about the important expeditions to be undertaken and

matters of
el eg;lltzril] ?oncern. The amount of contributions levied
proportion t 1¢ assembly and divided among
summoned l()) tl-f; Ebelotithein it oops! .
gathering, eviry 1fn Ty Wl.mn the Sikhs met in such a
assembly was summEllu forgot his personal quarrels. The first
e me. i ; i)ned 'bY the Tenth Guru himself th y
1e Sikh point of view, this grand diet,of :hleascto;n

federation deliber v
‘ ated and r
5 v resolved under the inspiration of an

. .TO the superficial observer, the
aristocracy, because thie sardars or the
played such an important part; but

the chiefs in
The assembly was

SI]'{}I constitution was an
chiefs of the confederacies
as Forster notes, popular

* Browne, India Tracts, Introduction
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power branched through many of its parts. ‘The distinction

accorded to the chiefs was a militar, necessity, a “‘self-preservin
Y g

regard, nothing more.””?

During the interval between these meetings of the Sarbat
K halsa, the Sikhs concerned in a particular transaction would all

mbly, discuss it and then finally decide. These

meet in an asse
orts of

local gatherings were not always very orderly. The rep
such meetings held to decide very important questions of foreign
policy are here quoted from two contemporary records :

If any messenger from any other power went to them for
negotiation, the sardars had mnot the power to negotiate inde-
t first they spread mattresses in a particular place.
heir sardars sat there—one was asked to

He stood up, announced the coming of
ar Amir to make peace with K halsaji. It
solution. ‘Those who had
would declare in
ng peace ; another

pendently. A
All the Sikhs with t
make Ardasa (prayer).
the envoy of a particul
was for the Khalsa to announce its re
assembled would give their opinion—one
favour of fighting, he was opposed to maki
would perhaps say that he would go away in another direction
next day; some would begin to abuse. But what the sardars
they spoke secretly into the ears of the ambassador.
his own position. Even if he had
would not bow down to

wanted,
“Tiveryone is independent in
two horses ‘and one village he

anybody.””* :
¢«Jowahir Singh went to interview the Sikhs at Barari Ghat.

They hindered the rider of the clephant, ridden by Jowahir
‘h. from coming to the assembly of interview. More than
a hundred sardars, as arranged, came and interviewed him.
The sitting of the conference took place in this manmner :

For their information after saying the Ardasa the chanter
criéd out ‘Jowahir Siugh,.thé son of Suraj Mal, has com¢ within
the shelter of Khalsa Jiu and become a Sikh of Nanak. He is
demanding redress for his father’s blood.” This behaviour was
disliked by Jowahir Singh. ‘They also drove out the hugga-
bearer of Jowahir’ Singh with insult and abuse. DBut he was

in the utmost need and bore all this.’”

Singh,

s Forster, Lravels, T, 285.
* Hakikat, 38, 39
s Nuruddin, 83A.
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s t;;\ged;?;zsﬁ;ddﬁllé Sikh constitution apparently exposed to
e deta ‘1re_ct democracy. For all practical purposes,
Lo Iécal Gathx; 1—1111 (:l.m Sarbat f{fmlsa, for national concerns or
sardars reallyadeciderzlbb of the Khalsa for local affairs, the few
e rrmattcrs: But the ordinary Sikh horseman
R p;“'e;n‘?o s_ensatlon tFlat in public matters he had
R 'mt~ervene in a debate and push forward
L e N;tu :;{ 1\1\ ays there, His freedom of speech was
estimation and‘ a real y:le & ‘3 O}ﬂd b
-con-stitution. In its actualm‘:zlrz;-:ti:gﬂement was there in the
in 11"5 spirit it was undoubtedly a de

T'he central government ‘of the
tche case generally with this form of
In spite of its theocratic character
Ponent parts of the confederatim;
mntents and purposes, independent .
nated in a very natural way. .

it was an aristocrcay, but
mocracy.

Sikh confederation, as iS
government, was very weak,

Every misl was, to all
.Tl}cse misls possibly  origi-
Nt The 111‘.(]1\?5(1[1815-‘, joined the ranks
: 1ey considered deserving of leader-
; valour, ‘e?\'pefience, wealth and birth.
group of horsemen of1 y 1310{)ort1011 to.the contribution of each
Gl X course the chief’s portion being first
individuals COIIlposilmas again further sub-division among the
absolute independ‘en(:.ne ea’;‘lll group. - Hach held his portion in
i Y ty 1ere was no obligation except fof

s. Slolely.and stfaadily, however, the powers of
forts were built, their ﬁn]le{r territories were extended, strong
they emerged as twelveb\::ng strength increased and ultimately

A ik Ty powerful feudal chiefs of misls.

the Sikhs was very (1-ﬂsfght of the fact that the feudalism of
uierent not only from the feudalism of

mediaeval Eur
urope bu
Ly Rajpuht also :from the feudalism obtaining neatrel
equals. A 8 ttana. The misls were t1 jes of

. A Sikh disdained to g ¢ the confederacies ©

The sardar was no doubt obeyglm?“’ledge any earthly superiof-
» but there “4yq ioati
s no obligatiol

to obey beyond w
ek }i’en élﬁt\\cl)llfl‘clc they might consider to be for their oW1
Al i or thcl well-being of the mi ;?f t:%el,r vas
ate of things in the beginni o T by "
g, here Werss

ship on the grounds o

how
lowever, at no stage of Sikh feudakt: i

The wmisls were the com-.
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chiefs were divided into distinct grades, which showed a highly
artificial state. Mediaeval feudal Europe also presents the
picture of a graded society. Then again in Rajputana there was
a patriarchal element, the greater number of vassal chiefs
claiming affinity in blood to the sovereign. ‘There was no such
patriarchal element in Sikh feudalism, nor do we hear of an
elaborate list of feudal obligations as in mediaeval Europe.
of course, the obligation of military service. The
feudal system of Furope has been described by Gibbon as the
offspring of chance and barbarism. ‘The Punjab system was
certainly not feudal in the European sense. The all-pervading
rotherhood and a super-added theocratic outlook would
allow distinctions of rank.

"The Sikh system thus differed in essentials from the others
it had a superficial likeness, and its distinctive
characteristics were all its own. These misls remind us of the
Ayudhajibin Sanghas of the Hindu period, mentioned by Panini
and confirmed by Kautilya, as also by Greek writers. The
writer of the Arthasastra, however, describes them as ‘‘Sastropaji-
bins.”” The Malavas and the Kshudrakas are mentioned by the
Greek writers in this connection and the Indian writers mention

the names of the following® : —
1. The Vrika.
2. The Damani and others.
3. The Trigartta—Six Trigarttas :
(a) The Kaundoparatta.
(b) The Dandaki.
(¢) The Kaushtaki ?
(d) The Jalamani.
(e) The Brahmagupta.
(f)y The TJanaki.
4. The Vaudheya and others.
5. The Parsva and others.

There was,

sense of b
not, at least in theory,

to which

These communities «considered military art as the wvital
principle of their constitution.”  These military republics were
in the “Vahika country,” interpreted by K. P. Jayaswal as
“‘the country of the rivers, comprising the Sind valley and the
Punjab.”’ 'i‘hus, we find that the misls or the military confede-
racies of the Sikhs had their prototypes even in the early Hindu

0
¢ Jayaswal, Hindu Polity, 324
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period. T uliar -

S0 many nlli]r(iillt)?:lt'lr]zzluieogmp]‘ly oF t.h-e Punjab, intersected by
T TR =5 a”fl 1ts position as a frontier territor
:zilfit]:r 1ave combined to bring repeatelly into existence tl1cs};
ary as g in : g e
the: ea;’ly S;f:gsoizl';gddhl]OSt all periods of Indian history, in
SER no less than in the Muhammadan or
period. :

It is not possi Cus t

condition of tlllss;:lllc '1;[-)0 : 11.‘-,' % 1.111dcrstand fully ithe economic
rule, unless we take ?nt i thc- Ql'qh.t centh century under Sikh
misery caused by the Per?- consideration the desolation and the
and 1767. ’l‘h;arc is a ”Iﬂlly-an.d A-Eg]mﬂ tyasions hetweentiEg
“What we eat and Lirillks?jllllQ‘.Stlll familiar . in the Punjab :
It well illustrates how muchﬁ 1'?1?:15;11:9* ST e
caused to the country. They did »tCO:)’GDGate_d I)ll'lllflcring m{qs
sorely harassed province, by iltll’)'u’t'il" 'a i

arimg  to .

restless and inconstant character its population 2

To induce
S : mduce such a people to
S t\d:] 1:3] ]?cea]ceful avocations was the greatest :iudIl most
ask that the Sikh chieftaj .
S e icftains had to face. But on the
- Sikhydc:f ;hsnnu_c-,stcd foreigners, we are entitled to say that
possibly ¢is acquitted themselves much better than \\-'e could
tor”i.cs Lfl'ce}\p_zct of them. Francklin notes: ‘“The Sikh terri-
Sal i - . - i i
RiTh N (i;o lcouiam prodigious quantities of cattle horses,
] ' 5 H i :
L '} ;(;ep : a.ncl grain of various kinds is produced
wmnd: : precious metals ‘sean i
e S : S are very scarce e1r
?(}l?hi;)or :ha{t 101:15011 chiefly carried on by barter :Sand o
ugh tond of plunder, i} i :
» 1e Sikhs i interi s
of ‘the country preserve good Jorder w fam i 0 i

: e an :
and the cultivation of their lands Shsenlar governmgh

assiduity. Their rever : is attended with much
27 : ucs are collected at tw ]
Sl i wo stated periods of
Browne is :
e Comlct: 15.0(1uaily enthusiastic in' his praise. H e
LI s . ; se. e writes:
I believe is byccauseulhtc_(;bc ' a state of high cultivation, which
ik S -Y carry into it all ¢
which come i 7 all the cattle fi illage
TR llﬁ?d ttl;eir Dossession by plunder colltecff ratllxlreTY
" . . Y
FES 1at mostly in kind and during any internal
. SOliery never molest the huv,-b :1’ y:slo
; _ sbandman.
Punjab Gazetteer, Gujrat District A

® Francklin, Shah
, Shah Alj
Ylbid., 716 SR

10 > 1
Browne, India Tracts, Introductlion
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“In the collection of revenue in the Punjab it is stated to
be a general rule that the chiefs, to whom the territory belongs,
should receive one-half of the produce and the farmer, the other.
But the chief never levies the whole of his share ; and in no
country, perhaps, is the ryot or cultivator treated with more

indulgence.’’*?

Of some Sikh sardars, who were reputed fighters, we may
have an impression that they knew nothing of the arts of peace.
But many of them, like Sardar Gujar Singh and Sardar Sahib
Singh, were ideal chiefs in this respect. ‘“I'he names of Sardars
Gujar Singh and Sahib Singh are often in the mouths of the
people, who look back to their rule without the smallest
hitterness. They seem indeed to have followed an enlightened

liberal policy, sparing no effort to induce the people harassed

by twenty years of constant spoliation to settle down to peaceful

occupation.””*®
T'he revival of agriculture was less difficult than the revival

of trade and commerce. The great semse of insecurity which
prevailed, was responsible for the fact that the merchants and
traders had deserted the main Punjab route. They did some
business, however, by the mountain route, and Jammu as the
¢«‘Dar-ul-Aman”’ or the “Abode of Peace’’ profited at the expense
of the lower region. DMoreover, even after the establishment
of some sort of order, the presence of so many chiefs, each with
a right to levy a toll on merchandise, was not certainly conducive
to the revival of trade and commerce. “The Sikh chiefs,
however, discovered the injury which their interests have
suffered from this cause, and have endeavoured and not without
to restore confidence to the merchant ; and a great
de now flows through the cities of Lahore,
»13  “Phose foreign merchants

success,
part of the shawl tra

Amritsar, Patiala to Hindustan.
who settled in the Punjab were accorded protection but foreign

1 Malcolm, Sketch, 126.

12 punjab Gazetteer, Gujrat District.
Siyar, IV, 8. “But then they are mno more those barbarians we

have heard of. Sensible of the advantages of good government they
have put themselves upon the footing of using the, husbandman and
the farmer with the utmost regard and tenderness; so that those coun-

tries are nmow in the highest.degree of culture and population.”
13 Malcolm, Sketch, 126.

8
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traders on their wa
plundered, 14

: The exports and im
the misls are given below : —

Exports.

Countries west of Attock :

Sugar, IiCC v.he t, w .fe
» i at, h 8
; : ClOul.

Nearly the same

Hill regions ;
Matchlocks and horses

Deccan :
Horlses, camels, sugar, rice
whit i : :
: s(al cloth, matchlocks,
_ swords, bows, arrows.
Bikanir : Do
Jodhpur :

Salt from the Sambar Iake

There was no fixed
the nature of the chiefs
lay.
fr01.n Amritsar by way
region via Hansi ;
via Kythal, Jind,
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y to other countries were pretty often

ports of the Punjab under the rule of

Imports.

Swords, horses, fruit, lead, spices.
Shawls, variety of cloths, saffron,
fruit,

Irm.l_alld other inferior commo-
dities.

Sulphur, indigo, salt, lead, irom,
coarse broadcloth, spices.

Coarse and fine rice, sugar, opint
and indigo.

route but everything depended upo?

in wlt itori ;
“The most i l0s¢ territories the trade routes
important trade route

s generally converged

s Ef Machchhiwara ; in the Cis-Sutlei

o e ;

K ,.,c\.,' ur, Oricha into west Rajputana, and
arnal into Rajputana.’’s

In the Punij
mjab there were four kinds of land tenure :—

: (1) Pattidari_
the sardar whe eq
could not be sold
mutual protection and
sardar and the pattiday

@) M isldari—referra

free reward for CO-0Operati
1

: | on,
selves with their Possessio

" Forster, I, -293

Omichand was a Si

and Bihar. kh merchant,

s Militar i
¥ Memoirs of George Tho \

ref i
clerred to the holding of every associate of

uipped and moy ;
nted 1 ire
but could he et himself. ‘The tent

gaged} reciprocal aid fof

d
efence was the only tiethat bound the

d
to the allotment to outsiders as the

n They were free 4o transfer them-
S to another misl.

Th
€re were many such in Bengal

¢

mas, Appendix I.
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(3) Tabadari—referred to a retainer, a tenant-at-will.

(4) Jagir—referred to the allotments made by the sardar
out of his own portion to his relatives and dependants. They
were entirely under the personal control of the sardar.*

Further, we should note that the Dal Khalsa in its incursions
levied a blackmail which was called Rakhi and which resembled -
the Maratha Chauth. It ensured jmmunity from plunder, and
according to Browne it was one-fifth of the annual rent.’’

The judicial system of the Sikhs was very crude. The
Panchayet decided most cases. The practice of Gaha or self-
redress also prevailed.

The armed strength of the Sikhs varies according to differ-
ent estimates. Francklin in one place puts it as high as 248,000.
Curiously enough the same author elsewhere estimates their
fighting strength at 50/60 thousand cavalry. George Thomas
thought that the Sikhs could field about 60,000 horse and 5,000
foot. Browne gives them a total of 73,000 horse and 25,000

foot. ‘I'imur Shah Abdali thought that they could field 50,000

good sowars, well-mounted, well-dressed and a large army of

foot soldiers.
It must be remembe

if not almost entirely of cavalry. The
estimation. » Before the military reforms of Ranjit Singh, the

Sikhs did not understand the use of artillery. The Punjab
excellent breed of horses, and the Sikh horsemen
were very well-mounted. George Thomas, who had to fight
with the Sikhs more than once, gives the following description

ns and their method of fighting : —
ed with a spear, a match-lock and a

hey engage in continuous skirmish.
They advance and retreat until man and horse become tired.
‘T'hey then retreat to some distance where they lealve their horses
to graze, take a very frugal meal and begin skirmishing once -
again. They have no tents, their cakes of flour serve as dishes
and plates. Each horsemail has two blankets, one for himself

red that the Sikh army consisted largely
infantry was held in low

provided an

of their arn
They were usually arm
sabre. ““With the enemy t

e Sikh Power, 34, 35.

Vol. I, 254 : ““The Sikhs were realizing
. “They were realizing Ghasdana
“Their Rakhi in the Antarvedi at

18 prinsep, Origin of th

17 Delhi Yethil Raj Karnen,
a fourth of the annual revenues.’’ 278
to the extent of 25 per cent.’t 237 :

the rate of As. 8.
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and another for his horse, kept beneath the saddle. These with
a grainbag and a heelrope comprise the baggage of a Sikh. . . -
The rapidity of their marching is incredible,’’!® Some of the
Sikhs also used bows and arrows, The inlaying of fire-arms
was their only luxury., Colonel Polier, writing twenty years
before George Thomas, gives an almost identical description.
He says that “their horses were so well trained that they would
stop from a fu]1 career.”

It is apparent that th
enemy, to draw him into
to overwhelm him. In 4
adversary, it was not possi

e Sikh tactics was to wear out the
the snare by trick flights and then.
pitched battle against a determined
ble for them to succeed. Moreover,

System, though unsuited to close
attacks, placed them at a great
use their swift cavalry could Cor
The extensive forests and the hill
etreat, and as they were not a race

ult for them to provide themselves
with their coarse fare even in Hhijlls and forests, ‘Thus they
could not he overwhelmed, they could not be starved out, and
though they coulq not gain any spectacular victory they could
certainly wear the enemy out

advantage strategically, beca
mand the communications,

tracts provided safe lines of
of epicures, it was not diffic

complex was not of course :11
languid body. Byt the presence of an external foe alone coul
keep such a loose confederation in working order, awing its

b

! into unanimity. After 1767, that danger was
DPractically non-existent,

; The link of 4 common enemy Was
gone, and this became th

€ signal for disorders within. These

disorders, of course, never

FEiE Tose to such a terrific height as the
.U S of the clang of Mewar, Nevertheless the history of the
strifes and quarrels raging amonggt the Bha;lgis the Kanheyas,
the Ramgarhias, and the jealousy between the I,.\/_[anjha and the
Malwa .Slkhs only showeq how much distuption was at work,
enervating and distracting the nation at 5 formative period of
its history. Fven when a general assembly was called, the
attendance was Poor ang absentees would not abide by the

€ Thomas, Tl

did not disappear altogether.

ceased to be operative. 9

: int w
can well illustrate our point
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tment and
tesolutions of the general assembly. Peysonal resen

-1 ant factors. Con-
personal aggrandisement became the all-import

: central govern-
cord became conspicuous by its absence. The

d to function. The sense of brother_l}ood
Other institutions were there to

it i litical sense it
remind the Sikhs of their fraternity ; but in a po

ment practically cease

X i venties, and it was
A struggle for supremacy began in the seve )
(=1=

|f-sacrificing fighters
i enerated from se :
b seeking freebooting barons. We
ith the help of science._ If l;‘ve
n a coil and electrize the .le’ thet;::nma;t
But when the electricity is gone, Lyt
ith it. The impulse given by1 Gdur;iven o~
: i ger ha
f the foreign dang 1a :
i e DI litical sense O
2122: '1a1111(11uzh-n<§;ded electric current a;llde I:hfhfs Py
| : -netic. h .
e had become magne 2 A il
Elr:: illizfci;?sddisappeared and the Sikhs kfeilf:r) e
theilselves Feudalism everywhere make

. tual struggle for
; eption.” In the mu :
and Sikh history 1s 10 exc:pnlu'sl prevailed, but the separatist

St ukerchaki 1 ith the help of a
g S(jis.Sutlej Sikhs triumphed Wltll? m cave place
Eendency Ofﬁthe «Theocratic confederate feudalism g

oreign power.

»n -
S e tions an element of decay is always
iti -anisation
In all political org

: d in this
: ore power, an

3 jork. Power brings an Jopes f(z}r ?Corfiption' ety
= b { Just for power lies the seed © tiffens into oligarchy,
et LU to tyranny, aristocracy S ssible to reform or
: - 1 ; 0
degenetatesl ds to anarchy. It was 1liﬂpS been described as
S A .omplex organism that ha already a decayed
T c i /as
1ev1tahze. o nfederate feudalism.” IF 4 ??rom day to day.
L co in
i ﬂft?to Ctr' azcin 1768 and it went on decaying
institutio

= i i t}le
]: cn i 8.9 84 S]lre\-bd Obbel vers COiﬂd V lsuallse

& 11 I ]

; 11

3 (43
sule coming. Forster Wrote1 111; Icrfl?;;:ls and
prospect of one man bitious chief led on b_Y . d?s lav From
we may see Somebfm:r the power of his aSSOCIatefS : o-nirchy.”“
P R abf@r olll'rl't?nonwealth, the Standari';ti?n so framed,
g}e ruin;{oﬁt;:il;‘::mte in 1784 i Aioonsy
Varren Ha =

inevitable. . -
for the national cause into se

place an iron bar 1

becomes magnetic.
netism also goes W

19 Tagrster, Vol. L.



118 RISE OF THE SIKH POWER

: ‘hile it has no
may subsist unchanged for a length of time, wlulle it hnﬁned
powerful neighbours to invade it and while it remains co

. 4 i . : g ims at
within the limits of its native territory. But when it ai
Permanent conquest and carri

tion 'into new establishments
variation from w
territory or the

es the principles of its own Constru.CI;
» it becomes liable to almost C_ertal f
hatever rules they adopt for the distribution Ost
appropriation of revenue, because b.Oth_ :1!'1qu
introduce a new species of Property and add to the mdmdu;f
power which becomes possessed of it. In such a c]]&llge"t
polity, should it so happen that one man of superior Capamng
and enterprise should acquire but a few degrees of power ]_’Cxo.v e
his nearest competitors, it wil]l he easy to trace in the pr1m1t1by
defects of such g government the gradual and easy ‘“fa‘ms b
which the whole might he enveloped within his oY
supremacy.’’2¢ ,

Sikh theocratic confe
forces at one time.
to its credit. Byt ci
quite in the fitness
military monarchy.,
Sutlej misls or made
his rise that gave th
political life ynti] the
this does not mean eith
bad all through or th
ultimately 1eaq to

derate feudalism had released ll‘rluti
It had its triumphs and grand achieve_mer:as
rcumstanceé were now changed, and it “ug
of things that it now gave place to a strons-
Ranjit Singh absorbed most of the '-I‘mvas
them depéndent on himself, and it Y 51
e Sikhs half a century more of glOI'llC;ut
collapse of thejr power at S¢braon. i
er that the wmis] constitution was 1101)C1€bscy
at in India al] experiments in democ:rﬂlal
monarchy. All that these constitutiol of
changes teach us can best he expressed in the 12111:‘9"-13?e .
Keyserling - “There is ng such thing as a better or a “OII y
form of government., ‘T'here is only a form which is bac .
adapted or ope which is better adapted to conditions as thei{‘azcs

We must not come
the Sikhs of the 18

.anqirg an
<ed for that reason. ‘I‘he corsairs

- to
; e

* chartereq by William of Orangeé
brey upon Spanish Shipping

g arl-
» laid the foundations of Dutch m
20 Forrest, Vol. 3.
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. een Elizabeth—
time power. The buccaneers of tlh‘? ;mglzigf t%: foundations of
: Raleigh,
rake, Frobisher, Hawkins, 3 : f plunder, they
Drlal.\e, ]E“ro1 ver, and in spite of their career of p e S
. na‘iﬂ 11\)0(; b’ack upon as national heroes: Mg
7 e : ie
z,u.—e bno)c\erts ozf the period of md?pende’?‘c@: (;::lu E(Imlsa and its
flje '(:10 th(; history of Sikh militan;m. SEm U
role 1 % r from u
; t receive a snee ; ere largely
e bh;mﬂi‘]?:y also fought most effectively 'miljv:;ions =
. ; : ani -
Dluudc:i‘;)clc for stemming th‘e tide of ']3:;11' g i e
LS dge them according to an i ntury. No respect
Hig 110: Jul ?‘d that prevailed in the 18th ce
by the standa

G t
¢ n that turbulen
: ossibly develop 1 Lo
forfipronenyiins Couii I;overnment that could govern
as

; ight to
period when there W had naturally the righ

rer
when anybody who had the pow

: nce of the
subvert others-l red by the Sikhs in the disappeara
The part play

i1 Sindhia was
minimised. Mahadji Smh e
Durrani menace must i:iolztbﬁeven in his dreams, };ilc?tltlllu:u:‘zar
accustomed to dedaEethe Afghan pursuer’s horse Alam wrote :
the lobbing paces 1 The blind Sy g will come to
of his broken wind .1re Timur Shah, my kmsm:n"n pages, the
g e been shown in the fort?bo1 regr ! d:ﬁnitdy
my aid.”” But, as haiis in North-West.ern India, ;y‘ “A few
prospects of the Dlgil?hs Keene puts it very :i:,l())r : lthe famous
shattered by the ; Suc;cessful than its predeczfe a,dam against
incursions, each 1615 down, like a wall of Conchh,'lt was almost
Khalsa was to settle f the northern flood. er of the Sikhs
the encroachments Ee establishment of the pclawimmigration of
equally important, t n end to the peacef‘{I had furnished
in the Punjab, put fi‘a and Turkestan, whic 1’t'ful princesses,
adventurers from er fll'ts; oreat philosophers, beauti
the Mughal empir o

I!ra‘ e BB
itici Statesmen.
]. aﬂd able pOIlthianS and
' gellera S
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n'{ade victories of defeats. But a Sikh point of view of Sikh
history, it is absolutely necessary to have. I have procceded
very cautiously and only accepted such traditions as are sup-
ported by contemporary records and are not incompatible with
other known facts. In other words, I have attached only a very

_slight corroborative value to this source. Ratan Singh’s Prahcin

Panth Prakash, a comparatively earlier work, printed in 1914,

1s more flependable though it gives a much less detailed account
~of the history of the Sikhs,
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even when COY'- Aturally numismatic evidence is very useful

plous documentary evidence is available. Even if

whi i
ascended the thr Ch- We are concerned, where sovereigh®
one without power ang sank into the grave®
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is undoubtedly of great use to us in tracing the rise of the Sikh
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relations with Jahan Khan, 23
alliance with the Sikhs, 23
invites the Marathas, 24
political conduct, 24

relations with Marathas, 24-26
27

27, 28

the

governor of I,ahore,
death, consequences,
part played, 49, 59
Afrasiab Khan, Mughal
Amir, 78, 88, 89
Afzal Khan, 86
Agra,
under Mahadji Sindhia, I
Ahluwalias, 64
Ahmad Shah Ahbdali,
independent ruler o
8, 10

3

01

f Afghanistad,

Ahmad Shah Abdali—Contd.
strikes coins, conquers Qandahar,
Kabul, Peshawar, 10
motives, 10
first invasion, 11
victory over Shahnawaz, 11
at Manupur, 12
skirmish with Chharat Singh, I3
second invasion, 14, 15
back to Kabul, 14
third invasion, 16, 17
his ability, 17
fourth invasion, 21-22
fifth invasion, 28-31
sixth, march towards India, 34-37
seventh invasion, 41
eighth invasion, 41-45
last invasion, 45-48
method of warfare, 48-50
disturbance elsewhere, 51
relations with Ala Singh, 36-38
Ahmad Shah,
Mughal heir-apparent, 11
Mughal Emperor, 17
Ahmed Khan Shahanchi, 69, 70, 73
Ahwal-i-Adina Beg Khan, 121
Ajad Khan,
a subahdar, 67
commits suicide, 67
Ajmal Khan, 29
Akalis, 108
Alkaldas,
Jandiala Thanadar, 34
Ala Singh,
Founder of the house of Patiala,
12
honoured with the title of Raja, 37
estimate, 38, 40, 41, 43, 52
Alamgir II,
daughter married to Timur, 22
murdered by Wazir, 29
Alexander (the great), 8, 38, 106

Alexander Farnesse, 38
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Ali Md. Khan Rohilla,
Sirhind Governox, 11-12
Ali Bahadur,
Maratha leader, 93
Aligarh,
plundered, 85, 90, 101
Alivardi, 77, T9
Ambaji,
appointed by Mahadji Sindhia, 89
invades the Sikh country, 91
returns, 91
Ambala, 61, 76
Amar Singh,
foujdar of Sirhind, 47, 52, 61, 77
against Mughals, 87
Raja-i-Rajgan, 47
Amirs of Sind,
paid tribute to Zaman Shah, 69
Amir Mahammad Khan, l
Governor of Lahore, 29 l
Aminabad, 70 ‘
Amritsar (chak Guru), 4, 22, 33, 38,
42, 46, 517, 1, 72, 78, 108, 113,
114

Antarvedi, .

looted by the Sikhs, 77, 93
Arslam Khan Mohammad, in pos-
session of Khyber region, 67

Asaf-ud-Daulah, 85, 89

Attock, 11, 26, 30, 56, 65, 69, 73, 100,
105, 114

Aurangabad, 13, 14, 17, 46

Aurangzeh, 1

B

Bactrian Greeks,

eomp_ared with Ahmad Shah Ab-
dali and his descendants. 8
Baghail Singh, ,
heétlded. the Karora Singhia mis],
military strength, 62

political relations, 79, 81
e » 81, 84, 87,
Bagpat, 25

Bahadur Khan Muhammadzai,
sent to Jech Doab, 69, 70

Bahawal Khan, Bahawalpur chief,

66

Bahawalpur, 67, 68

Bairo Pant, 93

Bakht Mal, 79, 122

Baluchistan, 5l

Bamba Singh, 61

Banda, 1, 3

Bang Singh, 61

| Bapuji Malhar,

against the Sikhs, 93
Barari, 88, 109
Barha Sadat Settlements, 75 4
Batala, 33, 359
Battles,

Manupur, 12

Harnulgarh, 39

Mardanpur, 94

Narawind, 95

Sobraon and Guijrat, 99
Bayan-i-Wakai, 121 )
Bedi Sahib Singh,

against Raikot, 96
| Begam Samru, 93
| Beloin, 61
| Bhadour, 76 e
Bhag Singh, 95

relations with Thomas, 96, o
Bhai Budh Singh, 41
Bhai Mani Singh, 4
Bhai Tar ingh
a SiLlll ‘;eilglf]iius; leader, 2 maz g
9
i Bhanga Singh, 93, 94
l Bhangis, Lbrianss

compared with Northut
57, 58, 76, 116
Bhao,
Maratha commander, 25
Bharo Singly, 13
Bhumiya Singh, 93
Bhowanighar, 36
Bikanir, 114
Bikhan Khan, 30, 34, 38
Browne, 15, 30, 89, 102,
125

112, 1187

INDEX 129

Browne—contd.

list of Sikh Sardars, 61-63
Budha Dal, 63, 82
Buksh Singh, 101
Bung Singh Bahadur, 101
Boorea (Buria), 61, 76, 84, 104
Bussy,

letter to royal minister, 63, 100

C

Calendar of Persian Correspondence,
124

Chandausi, 89

Channu,

father of Adina Beg, 7

Charles XII compared with Ahmad
Shah, 36

Chenab, 26, 58

Chhaja Singh, AN
founder of the Bhangi misl, 57

Chharat Singh,
skirmish with Ahmad, 13
in the Bari Doab, 15
pursued Ahmad, 28, 30, 33,
42, 58, 60, 64
Alliance with Jai Singh, 60
founder of the misl,. 60
Chiloundhi, Karora Singhia he
quarters, 76
Chiniot, 57
Chouth,
compared with
Chur Samgar, 62
Cis-Sutlej gregion, 34, 36, 47, 61-63,
7698, 99, 104, 117
Coins, 54-56
(Lord) Cornwallis,
Governor-Genera

Count De Boigne, 94
(John) Cumming, 90
Cunningham,
remark on the Sikhs 6
remark on Ahmad, 38
Curram Singh, 61

9 .

40,

ad-

Rakhi, 115

1 of India, 103

D

0

Dadan Khan, honoured with a Su-
bahdari Sanad, 29

Dalewal, 7

Dalewalia misl, 60

| Dalkhalsa, 5, 13, 15, 61, 115, 119

Damala, 61

Daranagar ghat, station for English
army, 86

Dattaji Sindhia, besieged Najib, 28

Daudputras, 57, 71

Daulat Rao, successor of Mahadji,
94, 104

Dawana Khorkhand, 81

Deccan, 114

Delhi, 99, 100

Delhi Chronicle, 40, 84, 88, 121

Demetrios, invasions compared with
Ahmad Shah Abdali’s, 8

Deoband, ransacked by the Sikhs,
84

Dera Ghazi Khan, 14, 65

Dera Ismail Khan, “annexed by
Ahmad Shah, 14, 65

! Deso Singh, joined Abdul Ahad, 87

Dessu Singh, 62

Dewan Singh Lung, 61

Dhara Rao, 90
Dharm Singh, another name of

Zabita Khan, 85

Dig, 85 : ’
Dila Ram, representative of Adina

Beg, 23
Doon, a Sikh tributary, 88
Drake, 119
Dulah, 70
Dulcha Singh, 61, 90
Dunna Singh, 62

E

Elliot and Dowsox, 125

Elphinstone, 10, 75, 125

Deoji Goure, against the Sikhs, 93 .
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F

Fateh Ali Khan, Afghan Viceroy, 66

Fateh Khan Yusufzai, 67

Fatehabad, 62

Fateh Singh, 87

Ferozpore, 76

Forster—remarks, 12,
108, 117, 125

Forrest, 124

Francklin, 112, 115, 125

Farruksiyar, 3

Fyzulla Khan, 67

Fyzullapuria iisl, 59

15, 64, 88,

Gaha, 115

Gujpa.t Singh of Jind, relations
with Abdul Ahad, 87, 88

Ganda Singh, successor of Jhanda
Singh, 38, 64, 77

George Thomas, 77, 96, 105; Raja
of Hariana, 95-08 .

Ghallughara, 35, 37

Ghaziuddin, 17

Ghousegarh, looted by the Sikhs
84, 86, 89, 93 l

Ghulam Qadir, 86, 91, 92, 103

Gilwali i Si
v;; i, headquarters of ITari Singh,

Gohana, 90
Golab Singh (Bhangi), 58
Gopfll Rao Raghunath, 93
Gov3n11 Pant Bundela, 25
Govind Shahi Coins, 56
GRS Williams, 125
Gudat Singh, 101
Gujars, 79
Gujar Singh, 33, 40
j N o3 45, 48,
Gujrat, 13, 14, 17, 4;6 4:9 .‘)’8SBJ 7
3 Ll
b'oundary of the Bhangis, 57-58
gu]ranwala, a Sikh fort, 33 70
‘Gungo, ransacked by the S',~
Gurabaksh Singh, slain, Golkhs’ &
Gurudit Singh, 61, 91, 95 101
Gurry, 62 ’

Guru Govind Singh, 1, 3, 6, 39, 55;
regarding coins, 56, 107, 108, 117

H

I-Iaﬁf Sher Md. Khan Sipahsalar,
70, 73

Ha]i. Atai Khan, 22, 25

Hakx_kat Singh Kanheya, 29, 87

Hakikat Bina, 121

Hamir Singh, 62

Hansi, 21, 95, 97, 114

IHara Singh, 14

Hari Singh Bhangi, 20, 40, 57, 58
61, 64, 77

Hari Singh Dulal, 61

Harmukh Das, 34

Hasan Abdal, 60, 70, 73

Hasan Khan (Qazilbashi), 73

Hasanpur, 89

Hawkins, 119

Hazi Karim Dad Khan, 66

Hayatullah Khan, see Shah Naws?

Herat, 51

Hissar, 17, 95

Hucumat Singh, 62

Humayun Shah, 69

Ibratnama, 121

Imad-@—'\lulk (wazir), unscrupulods
P?hc)', 17, 20; murdered Alam™”
8ir, 28; ally of Jowahir ginglh
80

Imad-us-Sadat, 24, 121

Ismailabad, 47

Ismail Beg, 68, 92

J. Sarkar, 125
J. 4. 8. B, 125
Jagir, land tenure, 115

INDEX 131

Jahan Khan, 22, 23, 26, 28, 40, 42,
46, 47, 49, 52, 54

Jai Singh (Kanheya), 33, 39, 44, 60,
64, 87

Jalal Bhatti, chief of Kasur, 72

Jalandhar Doab, 7, 12, 18; plunder-
ed, 20-23, 28, 38, 39, 42; Sikh
occupation, 358, 61, 62, 63, 73

Jamiluddin, appeal to Adina Beg,
20

Jammu, promised to Mughlani Be-
gum, 22; Raja, 39, Sikh exten-
sion of power, 57; a tributary,
58; Bhangi boundary, 64, abode
of peace, 113

Jandiala, 33

Jankaji, 27

Jaroli, 76

Jaspat Rai, minister of Vahya Khan,
9

Jassa Singh Kalal (Ahluwalia), 2,
12, 14, 28, 29, 31, 39, 41, 46; the
soul of the Sikhs in the war of
liberation, 51, 52, 53; his coin,
54, 55; leader of misl, 58, 59, 61,
63, 87

Jassa Singh Thoka (Ramgarhia), 18,
20, 33, 3, 40; founder of a
misl, 59-60, 61; ousted by Jay
Singh, 60; possessions restored,
87

Javid Khan, 16, 17 “

Jawahir Singh, 43; besieged Najib,
79, 80; alliance with Sikhs, 81,
109

Jayappa Sindhia, 17

Jewan Bakht, 87

Jhanda Singh, 40, 58;
Hari Singh, 64, 77

Jhang, 57

Thelum, 31, 58, 70, 1

Jhinjahana, 95 A

TJind (Jhind), 61, 76, 93, 97

Jodh Singh, 87

Jodhpur, 114

Joseph Bonaparte,
Timur Shah, 49 0

successor of

compared with

K

[r]

Kabul, 10, 14, 30, 38, 40, 72, 73, 74

Kabuli Mal, 38; Governor of Lahore,
40, 45

Kalika Debi, 81

Kalanaur, 33, 59

Kalsia house, 76

Kalu Khan, 81

Kangra, 56

Kanheyas, see Jai Singh

Kapur Singh (Fyzullapuria), 2, 5;
leader of the Sikhs, organiser of
the Dalkhalsa, 50; founder of
the misl, 59

Kapurthala, 58; Ahluwalia head-
quarter, 62

Karora Singh, 13, 61; leader of the
Karora Singhia misl, 76; joined
Abdul Ahad, 87

Karnal, 61, 82, 94, 96, 114

Karam Singh, 14, 91, 93

Karzari-i-Sadasiv Rao, 122

Kasi Pandit, 29

Kasba-i-Leiah, 69

Kasim Ali Khan (Foujdar), 85

Kashmir, 16; conquered, 16; pro-
mised to Mughlani Begum, 30,
31; reconquered by Ahmad, 38,
57, 66-68, 114

Kasur, 12, 39, 58

Khalsa, 108, 109, 110, 116, 119

Khalsanama, 122

Khanderao Dabhade, 1

Khari, 76

Kharkhoda, 90

Khiljis, 51

Khorasan, 51, 70¢

Khurja, plundered, 85

Khushal Singh, 79

Khwaja Abdullah Khan, 20

Khwaja Abid Khan, 23, 30, 33

Khwaja Mirza Khan, 18; against the
Sikhs, 20; imprisonment, 27;
deputy of Adina Beg, 28

Khyber region, 67

Keene, 68, 119 i)

Keyserling, 118

Jay Singh (Eanheya), 33, 60 °
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Kol, 88 ]

Kopram, a mahal, 90

Kot Khawaja Hossain, 58

Koup (manja), 34, 35 °

Koura Mal Khatri, 14; against Shah-
nawaz, 15, 16, 17

Kunjpura, 25

Kurra, 62

Kythal, 61, 93, 96, 97; trade route,
114

K. P. Jayswal, 111

L

Lahna Singh, 45

Lahore, 4, 7, 11, 13, 14, 16, 20, 23,
26, 28, 29, 30, 33, 36, 37, 38, 40,
45, 48, 49, 58, 62, 63, 70, 7L, 72,
73, 80, 84, 99, 113

Lakhpat Rai, minister, 9

Lakshmi Narayan, 39

Latif, 125

Latta Singh, 46

Lahna Singh, 40, 58

Lepel Griffin, 125; quoted, 96

Lidhram, 76

Louis Bourquin, 97

Ludhiana, 76

M

Macchhiwara, trade route, 114
Madat Khan, against Bahawalpur
chief, 66

against Talpur Amirs of Sind,

Madhava Rao, 68
Madhava Rao (Peshwa), 83
Madho Rao, 93, 04
Maham, 90
Mahant of Damdama, 76
Maharaja of Gharwal, 88§
Maha Singh, Sukerchukia
56, 60, 62, 64
death, 76

Cl‘lieftain,

Mahadji Sindhia, 68, 78, 80, 90, 91,
94, 101, 102, 103, 119

Major General Craig, 105

Majd-ud-daula, see Abdul Ahad

Makhowal, 18

Maleolm, 125

Malerkotla, 30, 34, 36, 38, 39, 76

Malkaganj, 88

Malod, important Phulkia State, 76

Malwa Sikhs, 50, 116

Malhar Rao Holkar, 16, 25, 80, 81

Mani Majra, 47, 62

Manjha Sikhs, 50, 78, 116

Marshal de Castries, Royal Minis-
ter, 63

Man Singh, 101

Md. Khan, Suddozai, 69

Meerut, 81, 84, 85, 88, 01, 92, 93

Mehtab Singh, 94

Memoirs of George Thomas, 125

Memoirs of Najib Khan, 122

Menander, 8

Meshed, 51

Milka Singh {Thepuria), 57

Mir Baqi, son of Zakariya Khan, 8

Mir Mumin Khan, Deputy Governor
of Punjab, 19; Subahdar of
Lahore, 20

Mir Qasim, 83

Mir Ahsan Bakht, 69

Mirza Ghulam Md. Khan, 70

Miskin, historian, 19, 122

Misldari land tenure, 114

Mughnlpara, 88

Mughlani Begam, Mir Mannuw’s wifé:
20, 215 in Lahore, 22, 23

Muhammad Amin Khan, 19

Muhammad Shah, 9, Delhi monarch
11, 22

Muin-ul-Mulk (Mir Mannu), Qamar:
uddin’s son, 12, 13, Subahdar of
Lahore, 14, against the Sikh®
14-19, his death, and causes ©
his failure, 19

Mujmil, 122

Mukarrah Khan, 58

Mulla® Aman Khan, 20

INDEX

Multan, 3, 13, 14, 16, 17, 30, 49, 56,
57, 60, 63, 64, 66, 67, 99

Murtaza Khan, 34

Mustafabad, 45

N

Nabha, 61, 62, 76

Nacodar, 62

Nadir Shah, 6, 7, 8 10, 12, 17

Naja Singh, 15

Najaf Khan, 84, 85, 86, 87, ;8;3 -

Najib-ud-daulah,. 28, 30, 36, 45, 47,
77, 82, 83

Najibabad, 86

Nakkai Misl, 60

. Nana Rao, 93 .
. Nanak Shahi coins, 56

Nanak, 56, 107, 109

Nanoutah, 82, 84

Nannu Mal, 90, 91, 92

Napoleon, 49

Narayan Rao, 83

Nasir Khan, 13, 28

Nasir Khan Baluchi, 28, 41,
a4, 45

Nasirullah Mirza, 51

Nawab Wazir, 85, 8%

Niaz Beg, 45

Niranjani Sect, 34

Nishanwalas, 61, 76

Nishapur, 51

'Niz:zml:tddin Khan, 72, 73

Nurmehal, 62

Nuruddin, governer

42, 43,

101-103

of Kashmir, 39

(0]
‘Omichand, 114
‘Oricha, 114
‘Oxus, 51

P

Pail sarai, 61
Pakpattan, 57

8
Panipat, 25, 63, 82, 83,
Panth prakash, 123

7, 91, 9% 96

133

Parasnis, 126

Pasrur, 132 14, 17, 46

Patiala, 12, 36, 37, 40, 45, 61, 76, 87,
113

Pattidari, 114

Pehova, 62

Perron, 94, 95

Persia, 13, 51 )

Peshawar, 10, 11, 69, 70,'_:3

Peshwar Daftar (Sardesai), 126

phulkia Sikhs, 61, 76

Prahlad Niraji, 1 s

Prince Farkahunda Bakht, 84, Fauj-
dar of Sirhind, 87

Prinsep, 125.

Q

dhar Khan, 16, 17 |
%2132:11&&11 Khan, Wazir, 9, 1L,
= Qandahar, 10, 20, 41, 51
Qasim Khan, 19, 34
Qazi Faizullah, 65
Queen Elizabeth, 119

R

Raghunath 1;20, 26

Ezk?;,m?li: of Raikot, eclipsed by
Ala Si]lgll, 35

Rai Singh (Bhangi), 84, 89

Raja Durlab Ralm, 4161

Raja Gudgpat Singh, o

Rajputana, 103, 110, 1

Raja Ram, 1

Rajwade, 126

Rakhee, 82, 90

compared with

115

Raleigh, 119

amnagar, 19
Ilf‘ m Rouni, a fort, restored by
a

Jassa Singh ‘Thoka, 15, 59

51
nade quoted,
gingeghur, trade route, 114

Maratha chouth,
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Rane Khan, Maratha leader, 92, 93

Rani Rajinder, 93 '

Ranjit Deo, 57

Ranjit Singh, 38, 55, 60, 76, 97, 104,
105, 118

Ran -Singh,
misl, 60

Raroji Sindhia, 93

Rawalpindi, 57, 70, 73

Ray Ilias, boy chief of Raikot, 96

Rai Singh, 72, 84, 104

Records in the Imperial Record
Department, 124

Rewari, 81

Rohtas, 48, 49, 58, 69, 70, 73

Rogers (Rodgers), 56, 125

Rohillas, 80

Ross, 103

chief of the Nakkai

Sabaji, 28

Sabzi Mandi, 88

Saadat Khan, 38, 39

Sadat Khan Afridi, 23

Saharanpur, 78, 80, 84, 85

(Raja) Sahib Singh, 62, 71, 95

Sahib Kour, sister of the Raja of
Patiala, 73, 94, 95, 96, 97

Shahid and Nihang misl, 61

Safdar Jang, Delhi wazir, 13, 16, 17

Shahidganj, 9815

Sakartal, 29

Sambhudas, Dewan of Adina Beg, 28

Samli, 80

Samru, the freelance, 84

Sanawar, 36

Sansarchand, 60

Sarafraz Khan, 23

Sarbat Khalsa, 33, 52, 108, 109, 110

Sarbuland Khan, 29, 30

Sardar Jahan Khan, 81

Schleswig-Holstein question, 98

Secundra, 61, 85

Shah Alam 11, 48, 77, 83, 101, 119

Shahabd, 61, 76

Shahdera, 20, 62, 84

Shahjahanabad, 28, 72, 73

y
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Shah Mahmud, 73, 74 i

Shahnawaz Khan (Hyatullah), in-
trigue with Sikhs, reason, break
with Delhi government, fight
and defeat, recalls Adina Begr
slain, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14

Shah Wali Khan, 44, 45, 46, 47

Shafi Khan, 87, 88

Shaikhupura, 73

Shantaji Ghorpade, 1

Sher Singh, 89

Shikarpur, 14

Shuja Khan Suddozai, 66

Sialkot, 14, 17, 46

Siddik Beg Khan, 18, 27

Sind, 17, 22, 30, 31, 67

Sind Amirs, 69

Sindhsagar Doab, 48

Sirhind, 11, 12, 16, 17, 20, 23, 26, 29~
30, 31, 34, 36, 37, 38-40, 47, 49»
52, 61, 78, 84

Sivaji, 1

Siyar, 21, 85, 122

Sobha Singh, 45, 58

Sobraon, 99

Sonde Singh, 61

Stuart, 93

Sufidon, 96 o

Sukerchukia (misl), 60

Sukh Jiwan, Kashmir governor, 16~
38

Sukka Singh, 34

Sultan Khan, 86

Sultan Mahmud, 69

Sultanpur, 7

Suraj Mal, 43, 78, 79, 109

T

Tabadari tenure, 115 ;
_Talleyrand, compared with Adin®
" Beg, 24
Tara Singh Gheba, 39, 40, 60
chief of the Dalewalia misl, 62, 84,
94 '
Tarqx] Singh Caker, 62
Tarikh—i-Ahmad, 123

W ol
i, g

INDEX

“Tarikh-i-Iusain Shahi, 123

“Paru Singh, 34

“Thanesar, 61, 76 i

“Thoka Singh Barhee, 7 Yt

“Pimur Shah, 22, 23, 26, -67, (33, s
50, 54, 56, 64, 65 66, 61, 0o,
115, 119 ) "

Treqtv’of Surji Anjengaon, 95

“I'urkestan, 51

Udgir, 27
Umda Begam, daughter o
Begam, 20 _
Umdat-ut-’l‘awankh,

f Mughlani

123

w

“Walter Reinhardt, 86

17
“Warren Hastings, 89, 100, 1

135
Wellesley, 105
William of Orange, 118
William Palmer, 103
Whitehead, 54, 124
Y
8, 9

Yahya, son of Zakariya Khan,
)

vakub Khan, 29

vaminabad, 33

Z
861
Zabita Khan, 47, 80, 81, 84, 85,
88,
Zain Khan1
Zakariya Khan,
15, 19
7angi Khan, 65 R,
’i;nim Shah, 65, 69, 70-75, 95,

105

20, 30, 34, 38, 39, 49
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